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on the binoculars icon ( ) at the top of the page or press the keyboard equivalent (CTRL-F for 
Windows or COMMAND-F for Mac). A dialog box will appear where you can enter the particular 
word you want to locate. Click “Find” and you will immediately be taken to the first instance of 
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Hyperlink Enabled
One of the best features of the PDF version of the annual report is its ability to contain 
hyperlinks. Hyperlinks allow you to jump to another part of the document or even outside the 
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c o r p o r a t e  p r o f i l e
Simon Property Group, Inc. (NYSE:SPG), headquartered in Indianapolis, Indiana, is a real estate 
investment trust engaged in the ownership and management of income-producing properties, 
primarily regional malls and community shopping centers. Through its subsidiary partnerships, 
as of December 31, 2002, it owned or had an interest in 246 properties containing an aggregate 
of 185 million square feet of gross leasable area in 36 states, as well as eight assets in Europe and 
Canada and ownership interests in other real estate assets. Additional Simon Property Group 
information is available at www.simon.com
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                                                                                                                      Percent
                                                                                                                                   Change
                                                                                                                                  2002 vs.

 2002             2001               2000              1999              1998               1997                  2001

Operating data (in millions)

Total Revenue $ 2, 186    $  2,049    $  2,021    $  1,893    $  1,406    $  1,054          6.7%

Simon’s Share of EBITDA  1,768        1,658        1,628        1,455        1,068           747          6.6%

Funds from Operations (FFO)  944           850           793           715           544           415        11.1%

Per share data

Net Income (Diluted) $ 1.99    $    0.85    $    1.08    $    0.97    $    1.06    $    1.08      134.1%

Funds From Operations (Diluted)  3.79          3.51          3.28          2.98          2.83          2.58          8.0%

Cash Dividends  2.18          2.08          2.02          2.02          2.02          2.01          4.8%

Common Stock Price at December 31  34.07        29.33        24.00        22.94        28.50        32.69        16.2%

Financial Position (in millions)

Total Assets $ 14,905    $13,811    $13,938    $14,223    $13,277    $  7,663

Total Liabilities  10,413        9,625        9,470        9,496        8,513        5,411

Total Shareholders’ Equity  3,468        3,215        3,064        3,254        3,409        1,557

Stock and Partnership Units 
outstanding at Year End (in thousands)

Shares of Common Stock  185,544    173,806    171,946    173,165    166,775    109,643

Operating Partnership Units  63,746      63,930      64,966      65,445      64,182      61,851

Statistical Data, Regional Malls

Comparable Sales per Square Foot $ 391    $     383    $     384    $     377    $     346    $     318

Total Sales per Square Foot  386           378           377           367           343           315

Average Base Rent per Square Foot  30.70        29.28        28.31        27.33        25.70        23.65

Occupancy at December 31  92.7%       91.9%       91.8%       90.6%       90.0%       87.3%

Number of Regional Malls and 

 Mixed-Use Properties  176           178           177           178           161           128

Other Data

Total Number of Properties  246           252           252           259           242           202

U.S. Gross Leasable Area (in thousands) 184,542    187,379    185,614    184,608    165,881    128,773

Total Market Capitalization (in millions)  21,309      19,202      17,511      16,976      16,809      11,815            
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This inclusion is an honor for our 
Company and heightened the aware-
ness of Simon Property Group within 
the investing public. We sold nine 
million shares of common stock in 
connection with our inclusion in the 
S&P at . per share, generating 
 million of net proceeds.
 
Performance: 2002 vs. 2001
  Net income increased % to 
 million from  million. After 
payment of preferred stock dividends, 
net income available to common 
stockholders on a diluted basis rose 
% to  million from  
million or . per share versus . 
per share.
  Diluted funds from operations 
increased % to . per share from 
. per share.
  Year-end occupancy in our mall 
portfolio increased  basis points to 
.% from .%.
  Average base rents for mall and 
freestanding stores in our regional mall 
portfolio increased % to . per 
square foot from . per square foot.

The past year was one of the most 
eventful and productive in our history. 
We successfully completed numerous 
transactions consistent with our strat-
egy to own highly productive, high 
quality retail real estate in the best 
markets and to maintain sufficient 
financial flexibility to profitably grow 
our business.
 We generated record net income 
and funds from operations in a 
challenging economic climate and 
raised our common stock dividend. 
 We acquired nine highly productive 
malls in premier locations and 
disposed of  non-core properties 
for a net gain of  million. We 
took advantage of the low interest 
rate environment by refinancing . 
billion of maturing mortgage debt 
at very favorable interest rates and 
issuing  million of six and ten 
year unsecured notes. We renovated 
and expanded several properties, 
increasing their overall attractiveness 
to our retailers and our shoppers.
 In addition, our company was 
added to the S&P 500 index. 
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  SPG shareholders experienced a 
% total return in , considerably 
higher than the returns provided by 
the broader market indices (S&P 500 
– down %; NASDAQ – down %; 
Dow Jones Industrials – down %).
  We increased the quarterly cash 
dividend to common stockholders by 
over % in the past twelve months; 
to  cents a share last May and then 
to  cents a share in February, .
 Our strong operational and financial 
results for  are a testament to 

the popularity and resiliency of our 
retail real estate and the stability of 
the cash flow stream produced by our 
portfolio.

Focus on Premium Locations
 The core of the Simon strategy is 
to own the best malls in the best mar-
kets. These malls – highly productive 
properties in choice locations – grow 

faster and are more resistant to 
economic downturns than lesser-quality 
assets. 
 Last year we continued our effort 
to acquire highly productive malls 
by purchasing a portfolio of assets 
from Rodamco North America NV 
(Rodamco) for . billion. This ac-
quisition established a strong presence 
in Charlotte, Houston and Oklahoma 
and added to our existing portfolio in 
Boston, Memphis and Minneapolis/
St. Paul (please see pages  to  for 
further details).
 Our focus on quality, growth and 
recycling of capital was the motiva-
tion behind our decision to dispose 
of  non-core properties during 
 (and four additional properties 
in January of ). Gross pro-
ceeds of  million from these 
dispositions were utilized to reduce 
existing indebtedness and finance the 
Rodamco portfolio acquisition.
 We continue to be prudent in the 
selection of new retail development 
projects. Stringent risk-adjusted 
returns must be met before con-
struction begins. We had no new 
openings in , but currently 
have two premium outlet centers, in 
joint ventures with Chelsea Property 
Group, under construction. The 
Company’s anticipated share of total 
cost for these projects is approximately 
 million. 
 Our ongoing redevelopment 
program offers us the ability to 
enhance existing retail real estate 
assets and strengthen their positions 
within their respective markets. Risk-
adjusted returns from redevelopment 

activities often exceed those from new 
development projects, and retailers 
often prefer to add new stores to 
existing, proven projects. We invested 
approximately  million in our 
redevelopment program in .
  
The Forum Shops at Caesars
 On February , , we announced 
the acquisition of the remaining inter-
est in The Forum Shops at Caesars in 
Las Vegas from our limited partner.
 Forum Shops is a world renowned 
retail destination with a tenant 
mix comprised of a “who’s who” in 
retailing – Christian Dior, Emporio 
Armani, Versace, Gucci, Louis Vuitton, 
Dolce & Gabbana, Valentino, Salvatore 
Ferragamo, Escada, Fendi, Max Mara, 
St. John, BOSS Hugo Boss, DKNY, 
Tourneau, Judith Lieber and many 
others. Traffic at this center averages 
, shoppers every day and annual 
tenant sales exceed , per square 
foot.
 A , square foot expansion 
of Forum Shops, which will extend 
the project to Las Vegas Boulevard, 
is currently under construction and 
scheduled to open in the fall of , 
adding multilevel luxury retail, res-
taurant and entertainment venues to 
this already successful project. Both 
the acquisition and expansion are 
expected to increase our earnings.
 
Ten Years of Solid Performance
 As we enter our th year as a public 
company, we have established a strong 
track record. At our IPO in , 
our malls were % occupied and 
produced sales of  per square 

David Simon, Chief Executive Officer



4   S I M O N  P RO P E RT Y  G RO U P,  I N C . 2 0 0 2  A N N U A L  R E P O RT   5  

foot. By year-end , our portfolio 
was .% occupied and generated 
sales of nearly  per square foot.
 Ten years ago, we owned a portfolio 
of primarily middle-market malls; 
today we own nearly % of the 
“best” malls in the United States 
– defined as those malls generating 
over  million in annual sales.
 At our IPO, we had a  billion 
total market capitalization; today our 
investment grade rated company has 
a total market capitalization in excess 
of  billion and is a member of the 
S&P 500 Index. We have grown our 
revenues from  million in  to 

. billion in , and produced a 
total shareholder return, including the 
reinvestment of dividends, of % or 
.% on an annualized basis.

Vision of the Future
 Building on our past success, we 
have found that our properties have ad-
ditional revenue potential through the 
implementation of various branding 
and marketing programs. Our brand-
ing initiatives capitalize on the value 

softness in the economy and sluggish 
retail sales, many of Simon’s key retail 
partners are experiencing enhanced 
margins and positive operating 
results and have maintained stable 
balance sheets that allow them to 
grow through the opening of new 
stores. Many retailers have successfully 
adjusted their business models to 
operate more profitably in a low sales 
growth, low-inflation environment. 
 This resulted in much lower 
bankruptcy fallout in  than in the 
prior year. We lost , square feet 
of leased space in our mall portfolio as 
a result of bankruptcies, as compared 

to more than . million square feet 
lost in . It is too early to gauge 
what our experience will be in , 
but given the mixed holiday season 
results and the weak economy, we are 
prepared for an increase in bankrupt-
cies and related store closings in .
 Our ongoing leasing strategy is to 
replace these weaker tenants with 
more productive operators, adding to 
the excitement of our properties. We 
are encouraged that there continues to 

inherent in the two billion visits that 
more than  million unique shoppers 
make to Simon malls every year.
 Access to this immense, captive, 
consumer audience has significant 
revenue potential. We have already 
experienced early success by providing 
promotional access to brands that 
want to interact with our shoppers 
such as The Coca Cola Company 
and Visa U.S.A. We are continually 
adding national consumer brands 
that choose to extend their marketing 
message through our malls. Our 
goal is to make the mall a widely 
recognized marketing medium.

Revisiting Retailing
 We are frequently asked about the 
impact of the challenging economy on 
our retailers and the ultimate effect it 
will have on our results. Our position 
as the largest landlord to mall-based 
tenants affords us the opportunity to 
create unparalleled relationships with 
our tenants. Many specialty retailers 
generate a meaningful amount of their 
top-line sales and profitability from 
locations in Simon malls. Despite the 

P RO G R E S S  R E P O RT

Mall of America in 

Minneapolis and 

The Forum Shops at 

Caesars in Las Vegas 

are two of the most 

well known retail 

venues in the U.S. 

and celebrated their 

10th anniversaries in 

2002.
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executives, directors, and securities 
analysts who rated companies within 
each industry using eight criteria 
– social responsibility, innovation, 
long-term investment value, use of 
corporate assets, employee talent, 
financial soundness, quality of 
products/services and quality of 
management. We are very pleased and 
honored to receive this recognition.
  was one of the most active 
years in the history of our company. 
I am very proud of our accomplish-
ments and of our colleagues who 
made it happen. I would also like to 
thank our retailers, shoppers, partners, 

lenders, bondholders, shareholders, 
and our Board of Directors who all 
contributed to our strong results. 
Ours is a business built on long-term, 
lasting relationships and we are 
grateful for your continued support.

David Simon
Chief Executive Officer
Indianapolis, March ,  

knowledgeable Board of Directors and 
a financially astute Audit Committee.
 When we completed our IPO in 
, we sought to provide investors 
the opportunity to invest in a quality 
real estate company that was actively 
managed for the benefit of all share-
holders. That has been and will always 
be our philosophy. 

Conclusion
 Our focus for  is to improve 
our operating margins through 
increases in rental rates on new lease 
executions, increases in portfolio 
occupancy and a continued focus on 

utilizing our economies of scale to 
drive down operating costs. We will 
continue our strategy of recycling 
capital to invest in our core properties 
– highly productive, high quality retail 
real estate. 
 In February of , our company 
was recognized as the top-ranked 
real estate company in Fortune’s 
 List of America’s Most Admired 
Companies. These rankings were 
based upon surveys of , 

be an emergence of new, vibrant retail 
concepts that want access to our high 
quality properties. 

Corporate Governance
 Over the past year, there has been 
significant discussion in the public 
markets regarding the integrity of 
periodic reporting processes and the 
involvement of senior executives in 
those processes. It has always been 
“normal course of business” at Simon 
for all material items and transac-
tions to be discussed at length among 
all members of senior management 
and reviewed with, and approved by, 

our Board of Directors. One of the 
hallmarks of our business practices is 
the ongoing involvement in the finan-
cial reporting processes and detailed 
review of results by the chief account-
ing officer, chief financial officer, chief 
operating officer and myself.
 Our company may have its roots in 
an entrepreneurial real estate environ-
ment, but I assure you that we operate 
as a public company, not a private 
one. We have a very engaged and 

During 2002, many inves-

tors turned to value-based 

stocks that pay dividends. 

The market price of Simon 

Property Group, Inc.’s 

common stock advanced 

26% to a peak of $36.84 

per share and finished the 

year with a solid 16% gain 

at $34.07 per share. In 

contrast, the S&P 500 con-

tinued its decline, closing 

down 23% for the year.
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Comparative performance
(January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2002) 
 Simon stock price—rose 16%

 S&P 500—declined 23%
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2 0 0 2  —  A n  O v e r v i e w

The Rodamco Acquisition 
 On May , , we completed a 
high profile transaction that added 
nine malls to our portfolio. This 
transaction is described in detail on 
pages - of this report.

Asset Dispositions
 We disposed of interests in  non-
core assets in  – five regional 
malls; four community centers; our 
% interest in Orlando Premium 
Outlets (a premium manufacturers’ 
outlet shopping center); and our 
interests in five Mills projects (value-
oriented regional malls). All of these 
dispositions are consistent with our 
strategy of recycling capital to invest 
in our core business. 
 These dispositions produced a 

A landmark acquisition, sale of non-core assets, timely debt refinancings, 
property expansions, aggressive leasing and record earnings were the 
highlights of 2002. The principal objective of all of our activities was 
the continued execution of our long-term strategy – to own the best 
malls in the best markets.

Indiana; Glen Burnie in Glen Burnie, 
Maryland; Wichita in Wichita, 
Kansas; and Wood Plaza in Fort 
Dodge, Iowa.
 The net effect of last year’s asset ac-
quisition and disposition activity was 
a three million square foot reduction 
in gross leasable area, but the overall 
impact was an improvement in our 
portfolio quality as the assets acquired 
generate higher sales per square foot, 
higher rents per square foot and higher 
occupancy rates than the assets sold. 
 Our disposition activities have 
continued in  with the January 
sale of a portfolio of assets – Memorial 
Mall in Sheboygan, Wisconsin; 
Mounds Mall and Cinema in 
Anderson, Indiana; and Richmond 
Square in Richmond, Indiana.
 

O w n i n g  t h e  b e s t  M a l l s  i n  t h e  b e s t  m a r k e t s

net gain of  million and gross 
proceeds of approximately  
million. Much of the cash was used 
to finance the Rodamco acquisition 
with the remainder utilized to repay 
existing debt.
 Regional mall disposals included 
Amigoland Mall in Brownsville, 
Texas; Machesney Park Mall in 
Rockford, Illinois; North Towne 
Square in Toledo, Ohio; Randall 
Park Mall in Randall (Cleveland), 
Ohio; and Windsor Park Mall in San 
Antonio, Texas. These assets averaged 
less than  per square foot in sales, 
substantially less than our portfolio 
average, and were not effectively 
competing in their respective trade areas.
 Community centers disposed 
of were Eastgate in Indianapolis, 
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The Forum Shops at Caesars is 
undeniably the most productive 
and sought after retail real 
estate in Las Vegas and a perfect 
example of Simon’s long-term 
strategy to own the best malls in 
the best markets.

2 0 0 2  A N N U A L  R E P O RT   7  
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Capital Activities
 The Simon capital strategy is three-
fold:
  to provide the capital necessary to 
fund growth; 
  to maintain sufficient financial 
flexibility to access capital in many 
forms including secured debt, 
unsecured debt, common stock, 
private equity investment at the asset 
level, perpetual preferred stock and 
convertible preferred stock; and
  to manage the Company’s overall 
financial structure in a fashion that 
preserves our investment grade ratings.

 We took advantage of our invest-
ment grade credit ratings, the lower 
interest rates available in  and 
the markets’ favorable view toward 
SPG to ) refinance . billion of 
maturing mortgage debt at a weighted 
average interest rate of .%; ) issue 
nine million shares of common stock 
at . per share; and ) complete 

the sale of  million of unsecured 
notes. The note issuance consisted of 
two tranches –  million of .% 
notes due  and  million of 
.% notes due .
 Moody’s Investors Service lowered 
our senior unsecured debt rating from 
Baa1 to Baa2 in November of  
as a result of our ongoing strategy to 
aggressively acquire highly productive 
malls and their own cautious outlook 
on the macro-economic environment. 
While we were disappointed at this 
downgrade, it has not negatively 
impacted our access to capital. We still 

have the highest ratings within the 
regional mall industry. 
 The downgrade is not a reflection 
of concerns by Moody’s about our 
strategy or portfolio. As Moody’s 
noted in its press release, “The 
Baa2 senior unsecured debt rating 
continues to reflect Simon’s leading 
position as an owner and operator of 

F i n a n c i a l  F l e x i b i l i t y

the largest and most diverse portfolio 
of retail malls in the USA, as well as 
its strong tenant relationships and 
excellent franchise value. Simon’s 
ability to access cost-efficient capital 
from varied sources also differentiates 
the REIT.” 
 We own long term assets and 
believe that they should be primarily 
financed with long term, fixed rate 
debt. Unhedged, floating rate debt 
at December ,  represented 
only % of our share of total 
indebtedness, or % of our total 
enterprise value. We believe that 

our conservative strategy is the most 
appropriate for the long-term health, 
stability and success of our company 
through all cycles of economic activity 
and capital availability.
 
Development Activities 
 In the late ’s, we opted to slow 
the pace of new development activities 

Regional Mall 
Comparable Sales
per square foot

•

•
• •

•

$346

$377

$384 $383

$391

Regional Mall Average 
Base Rents
per square foot

•
•

•

•

$25.70

$27.33

$28.31

$29.28

$30.70

•

Continued 

improvement in 

our operating  

fundamentals is 

a validation of 

the resiliency 

of the regional 

mall.

Regional Mall 
Occupancy at 12/31
as a percent of GLA

•
•

• •
•

90.0%

90.6%

91.8% 91.9%

92.7%
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because we believed the risk-adjusted 
returns did not merit the investment. 
As a result, we had no new project 
openings in , although we did 
begin construction on two new 
developments in joint ventures with 
Chelsea Property Group. We continue 
to be prudent in the selection of new 
development projects. Stringent risk-
adjusted returns must be met before a 
project is approved. The two projects 
currently under construction are 
expected to provide stabilized rates of 
return of % or higher.
 The two projects currently under 

construction are Las Vegas Premium 
Outlets and Chicago Premium Outlets.
  Las Vegas Premium Outlets 
is a , square foot premium 
manufacturers’ outlet shopping 
center. The center is located on a 
-acre parcel near downtown Las 
Vegas, located at Interstate  and US 
Route  ⁄ at Charleston Boulevard. 

The site is one of the most visible 
locations in Las Vegas, approximately 
 minutes from the Las Vegas Strip. 
The center will offer shoppers the 
area’s largest collection of quality 
outlet stores. The center is scheduled 
to open this summer. Projected total 
cost is  million and the Company’s 
share of projected cost is  million. 
  Chicago Premium Outlets is a 
, square foot premium manu-
facturers’ outlet shopping center. The 
center is under construction on a site 
located  miles west of downtown 
Chicago on Interstate , also known 

as the East/West tollway, in Aurora, 
Illinois. The center is scheduled to open 
in the spring of . Projected total 
cost is  million and the Company’s 
share of projected cost is  million.
 
Redevelopment Activities 
 We believe that asset redevelopment 
provides the opportunity to enhance 

Top: Approximately 

two billion shopping 

visits are made to 

Simon malls each year 

generating $40 billion 

of retail sales.

Bottom: Construction 

is well underway 

on the 435,000 

square foot Las Vegas 

Premium Outlets, 

opening in the 

summer of 2003.

Gross Leasable Area
in millions of square feet

•

• • • •
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185 186
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FFO Per Share – Diluted

• •
•

•
•

$2.83

$2.98

$3.28

$3.51

$3.79

Consolidated Revenues
$—Millions

•

•
• •

•

$1,406

$1,893

$2,021
$2,049

$2,186
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Cheesecake Factory and Maggiano’s, 
three new parking decks and the 
renovation of the mall as well as the 
expansion and renovation of Hecht’s 
and Belk’s. Completion is expected 
in the spring of . Total projected 
cost is approximately  million.
 Several other redevelopment 
projects are underway with  
scheduled completion dates including:
  Barton Creek Square in Austin, 
Texas – addition of Nordstrom and 
, square feet of small shop 
space (in a former Montgomery Ward 
location) with a mall renovation;
  Bay Park Square in Green Bay, 
Wisconsin – addition of Younkers 
and , square feet of small shop 
space (in a former Montgomery Ward 
location);
  Dadeland Mall in Miami, Florida 
– expansion of Lord & Taylor, 
remodel of Saks Fifth Avenue and 
Burdines and a mall renovation; and
  Menlo Park Mall in Edison, 
New Jersey – addition of Barnes & 
Noble, Benihana and The Cheesecake 
Factory.

Supplemental Revenues
 Our supplemental revenues are 
primarily derived from two initiatives: 
Simon Brand Ventures (SBV) and 
Simon Business Network (SBN).
 SBV capitalizes on the 
approximately two billion visits by 
shoppers to our malls each year. 
SBV provides access to this audience 
to consumer products companies 
for advertising and product sales in 
Simon’s malls across the country. 

E n h a n c i n g  P r o p e r t y  V a l u e s

The Galleria is home to  retail 
stores including Saks Fifth Avenue, 
Neiman Marcus, Lord & Taylor and 
Macy’s. 
 The redevelopment of The Galleria 
will entail an entire mall renovation 
plus an expansion that will add  
stores, including Houston’s first 
Nordstrom and Foley’s new flagship 
store. The projected total cost of the 

redevelopment is approximately  
million. The Company’s share of this 
projected cost is  million. The 
renovation was completed in  
and the expansion is expected to open 
in the spring of .
 SouthPark Mall is the most 
productive mall in the Charlotte 
metropolitan area with sales per 
square foot of approximately . 
Construction began in  on a 
multi-phased expansion of the mall 
which will include the addition 
of Nordstrom, small shops, The 

an existing mall and strengthen 
its market position. In October 
we completed the renovation and 
expansion of The Florida Mall in 
Orlando. This was a multi-phase 
redevelopment completed over a four-
year period. In , we expanded 
Dillard’s and JCPenney and renovated 
the food court. In , we added 
Burdines, renovated the mall and 

expanded the small shops. In , 
we added Nordstrom, restaurants 
and small shops, and Lord & Taylor 
replaced Parisian in a new and 
expanded store. 
 In , we acquired two significant 
redevelopment projects in the 
Rodamco portfolio –The Galleria 
in Houston and SouthPark Mall in 
Charlotte, North Carolina.
 The Galleria is undoubtedly one of 
the best-known and most productive 
malls in the United States with sales 
per square foot of approximately . 
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Opposite page: Atrium 

Mall, located in the 

Boston suburb of 

Chestnut Hill, is home 

to Tiffany & Co., 

Restoration Hardware, 

Pottery Barn and The 

Cheesecake Factory. 

Right: South Shore 

Plaza in Braintree, 

Massachusetts is a 

highly productive 

regional mall located 

nine miles from Boston. 

The center is 96% 

occupied, generates sales 

of $625 per square foot 

and hosts 11 million 

shopper visits annually. 

related to the disposition of assets. 
While property sales do occur in 
the ordinary course of our business, 
they have not previously been of 
the magnitude realized last year and 
shareholders should not expect this 
situation to repeat in future years.
 Funds from operations (FFO) is a 
widely used measure of the operating 
performance of real estate companies, 
however, it does not represent cash 
flow from operations, should not be 
considered as an alternative to net 
income as a measure of operating 
performance, and is not an alternative 
to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. 
 Diluted FFO for  was  
million, up % from  million 
in . On a per share basis, the 
increase was %, to . per share in 
 from . in . 

 During , SBN announced 
several new vendor alliances including:
  Airborne Express – resulting in 
substantial discounts over posted rates 
for the Company and its participating 
tenants; 
  PNC Bank – for ATM services in 
Simon malls nationwide; and
  KONE Inc. – for the maintenance 
of all elevators and escalators 
throughout the portfolio.

Earnings 
 Net income available to our 
common shareholders was  
million in , up % from  
million in , or . per share on 
a diluted basis in  compared with 
. per share in .
 Net income was unusually high in 
 because it included net gains 

 For the past several years, the Visa 
credit card has been designated as 
the “preferred method of payment” 
in all Simon malls and its logo has 
been featured prominently on mall 
signage. In , after a yearlong 
pilot program at four of our malls, we 
launched the new Simon gift card at 
 additional Simon malls. This is a 
prepaid gift card, good at any Simon 
mall, but also accepted anywhere 
Visa is accepted. The Simon gift card 
is already the largest Visa prepaid 
consumer program in the country. 
This is an exciting new tool to drive 
traffic to the Simon mall portfolio. 
 Other programs include Coca-Cola, 
Microsoft, Cingular, Ford, Hasbro, 
and Reebok. These alliances and the 
revenue they produce are expected to 
grow in importance in future years.

The primary function of SBN is 
to secure, manage and capitalize 
on vendor relationships to meet 
the facility management needs of 
our properties, as well as those of 
retail tenants, other developers, and 
even businesses outside of the mall 
environment.
 SBN, through various vendor 
relationships, contracts with large 
national and smaller regional compa-
nies to provide a platform of products 
and services at prices substantially 
below what could be negotiated on 
an individual basis. Products and 
services offered include utilities, eleva-
tor maintenance, parking services and 
construction services.  
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t h e  r o d a m c o  a c q u i s i t i o n

 Our share of the total purchase 

price of . billion was approximately 

. billion (including  million 

of property-level debt and preferred 

units). The portfolio contributed to 

our profitability in .

of  per square foot and % 

occupied. The acquisition gave us a 

strong presence in Charlotte, Houston 

and Oklahoma and complemented 

our existing presence in Boston, 

Memphis and Minneapolis/St. Paul.

In a unique and unprecedented partnership, Simon, The Rouse Company and Westfield 
America Trust jointly acquired the real estate assets of Rodamco North America, N.V. 
The assets acquired by Simon included interests in nine malls new to the Simon portfolio 
as well as increased ownership in four existing joint ventures. Simon’s share of the 
purchase price was $1.6 billion. The nine new assets generate annual sales per square foot 
in excess of $500.  

L a n d m a r k  A c q u i s i t i o n

This acquisition was a further 

execution of our strategy to own 

the best malls in the best markets. 

The assets added to our portfolio are 

all high quality properties in prime 

locations, generating sales in excess 
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Opposite page and 

above: The Galleria 

in Houston, Texas.

This page top and left: 

The Mall at Chestnut 

Hill in Boston, 

Massachusetts.

Additional Transactions

 Simultaneous with the transaction 

closing, we sold % interests in three 

of the Rodamco assets: The Florida 

Mall in Orlando, Florida; Miami 

International Mall in Miami, Florida; 

and West Town Mall in Knoxville, 

Tennessee. Teachers Insurance and 

Annuity Association purchased these 

interests for  million in cash plus 

the assumption of their pro-rata share 

of mortgage debt on the assets. 

 During the initial closing with 

Rodamco, we acquired a one-third 

interest in Copley Place, a . million 

square foot, mixed-use property in the 

heart of Boston. Two months later, we 

purchased the remaining two-thirds 

interest from an institutional investor 

for  million plus the assumption 

of their pro rata share of property-

level debt.

Assets New to the Portfolio

 Acquiring ownership of Boston’s 

prestigious Copley Place was a 

strategic complement to our existing 

properties in the greater Boston 

area. Copley, featuring Neiman 

Marcus, is frequently named as one 

of the top  retail properties in the 

nation, delivering tenant sales of 

approximately  per square foot.

 Through the Rodamco transaction, 

we entered the Houston market 

with The Galleria, a . million 

square foot mall that is the prime 
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Located in historic Back Bay, Copley Place is Boston’s most distinctive 

shopping destination offering retailers such as Tiffany & Co., A/X 

Armani Exchange, Gucci, Louis Vuitton, BOSS Hugo Boss, Christian 

Dior and the only Neiman Marcus in New England.

H i g h  Q u a l i t y ,  P r e m i e r  P r o p e r t i e s

retail location in Houston 

and an international retail 

destination. The Galleria 

opened in  and has 

grown to be one of the best 

known and most productive 

malls in the U.S. – visited 

by  million people each 

year. The center is currently 

anchored by Neiman 

Marcus, Saks Fifth Avenue, 

Lord & Taylor and Macy’s. 

The addition of Nordstrom 

and Foley’s in  will 

enhance the center’s 

popularity and market 

penetration.

 We also acquired the 

premier retail asset in 

the fast-growing city of 

Charlotte, North Carolina, 

the . million square foot 

SouthPark Mall. It is an 

enclosed mall presently 

anchored by Belk, Dillard’s, 

Hecht’s and Sears. It is the 

most productive regional 

mall in the Charlotte metropolitan 

area generating sales in excess of  

million and sales per square foot of 

approximately .

 The Mall at Chestnut Hill 

solidifies our position as the owner 

of premier retail assets in the Boston 

metropolitan market. Anchored by 

Filene’s and the only Bloomingdale’s 
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in New England, the center offers 

many upscale retailers including 

Barneys New York, Brooks Brothers, 

Coach, Cole Haan, Eileen Fisher, 

J. Jill, Kenneth Cole, L’Occitane, 

Lucky Brand Dungarees, Oilily and 

Sephora and generates annual retail 

sales of approximately  per square 

foot.

 Maplewood Mall is 

located near I- in 

Maplewood, a suburb of 

Minneapolis/St. Paul. This 

, square foot mall 

offers  specialty stores, 

family friendly features 

and a food court within its 

warm community setting. 

The mall is anchored by 

Marshall Field’s, Mervyn’s, 

Sears and Kohl’s. 

 Penn Square Mall is 

Oklahoma City’s premier 

shopping center due to its 

excellent mix of specialty 

shops, comfortable 

atmosphere and central 

location in the heart of 

Oklahoma City’s popular 

business and tourism 

district. In addition to 

Dillard’s, Foley’s and 

JCPenney, Penn Square 

Mall is the exclusive 

Oklahoma City home to 

many stores such as Ann 

Taylor, Banana Republic, Cache, 

Georgiou, Godiva, Pottery Barn, 

Sharper Image and Williams-Sonoma.

 Pheasant Lane Mall is a two-level 

super regional mall located at Route  

on the Massachusetts/New Hampshire 

border and anchored by Filene’s, 

JCPenney, Macy’s, Sears and Target. 

This one million square foot mall 
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attracts over  million shopper visits 

annually.

 The addition of Wolfchase 

Galleria compliments our existing 

two properties in the Memphis 

market. The center features Dillard’s, 

JCPenney, Sears and Goldsmith’s and 

a collection of  of the most exciting 

stores in the mid-south including: 

Banana Republic, bebe, Brooks 

Brothers, dELiA*s, Guess, Harold’s 

and Pottery Barn. 

 Located in the affluent suburbs of 

Tulsa, Woodland Hills Mall offers 

Rodamco Acquisition

 Name Location Gross Leasable Area Anchor
    (000’s square feet) Tenants

 Copley Place Boston, MA 1,214 Neiman Marcus

 Coral Square (A) Coral Springs 943 Burdines Mens, Children & Home,  
  (Ft. Lauderdale), FL  Burdines Women, Dillard’s,
    JCPenney, Sears

 Florida Mall, The (A, B) Orlando, FL 1,835 Burdines, Dillard’s,
    JCPenney, Lord & Taylor
    Nordstrom, Saks Fifth Avenue, Sears

 Galleria, The Houston, TX 1,756 Lord & Taylor, 
    Macy’s, Neiman Marcus,
    Saks Fifth Avenue (Foley’s and  
    Nordstrom opening 2003)

 Mall at Chestnut Hill, The Newton (Boston), MA 478 Bloomingdale’s, Filene’s

 Maplewood Mall Maplewood 909 Kohl’s, Marshall Field’s,  
  (Minneapolis), MN  Mervyn’s, Sears

 Miami International Mall (A, B) Miami, FL 973 Burdines Mens & Home,   
    Burdines Women & Children,   
    Dillard’s, JCPenney, Sears

 Penn Square Mall Oklahoma City, OK 1,045 Dillard’s Mens, Children & Home,  
    Dillard’s Women, Foley’s, JCPenney

 Pheasant Lane Mall (C) Nashua, NH 989 Filene’s, JCPenney, Macy’s
    Sears, Target

 SouthPark Mall Charlotte, NC 1,110 Belk, Dillard’s Hecht’s, Sears,
    (Nordstrom opening 2004)

 West Town Mall (A, B) Knoxville, TN 1,328 Dillard’s, JCPenney, Parisian, Proffitt’s,  
    Sears 
 Wolfchase Galleria Memphis, TN 1,266 Dillard’s, Goldsmith’s, JCPenney, Sears

 Woodland Hills Mall Tulsa, OK 1,092 Dillard’s, Foley’s, JCPenney, Sears

 (A) Property was in an existing joint venture with Rodamco prior to the portfolio acquisition.
 (B) Simultaneously with the Rodamco closing, 50% ownership interest was acquired by Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association.
 (C) The Company’s ownership interest is represented by a participating mortgage which entitles it to 100% of the property economics.
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over  fine stores including more 

than  stores exclusive to the Tulsa 

market such as Abercrombie & 

Fitch, Ann Taylor, Banana Republic, 

Hollister Co., J. Crew, Sharper Image 

and Talbots. The mall is anchored by 

Dillard’s, Foley’s, JCPenney and Sears.
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Anchored by Saks 
Fifth Avenue, Florida’s 
largest Burdines, Lord 
& Taylor and JCPenney, 
Dadeland Mall is 
known throughout the 
world as one of Miami’s 
premier shopping 
centers with sales of 
$650 per square foot.
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Corporate

Governance

At Simon, corporate governance means much more than accurate 
financial reporting and director independence.  

Board of Directors has set a goal 

of having at least two-thirds of 

its members be independent. In 

furtherance of that goal, the Company 

anticipates that it will have one 

additional independent director in 

.

  Each member of the Board’s 

audit, governance and compensation 

committees is independent. 

  All directors are elected annually.  

  The Company’s stock incentive 

plan prohibits the repricing of 

stock options, and as of January , 

, all stock options are treated 

as compensation expense in the year 

granted. 

  There are no outstanding loans to 

officers.

 Moreover, our long-standing 

corporate governance policy has 

always required that members of 

senior management and the entire 

board of directors be involved in and 

approve all material transactions and 

matters affecting the Company. 

 Many new corporate governance 

initiatives have been proposed or 

enacted and they are continually 

monitored by the Company. Last year 

when the SEC issued its new directive 

requiring that corporate CEOs and 

CFOs personally attest to the accuracy 

of financial statements filed with 

the SEC, it was nothing new for 

Simon. We were already in substantial 

compliance with this directive having 

included in our annual reports since 

 a similar validation entitled 

“Report of Management” which 

attested to the accuracy of our 

financial statements and bore the 

signatures of the Company’s CEO and 

CFO.

When Simon went public in , its 

founders sought to provide investors 

the opportunity to invest in a liquid, 

dividend paying, quality real estate 

portfolio that was actively managed 

for growth and for the benefit of all 

shareholders.

 To achieve this, management 

embraced the concept of public 

ownership. It created a corporate 

charter that gave pivotal governance 

authority to outside directors, 

providing assurances that the 

Company would be operated in the 

best interests of its shareholders, large 

and small.

  The Simon corporate charter 

mandates that the majority of its 

directors be independent. 

  In response to a shareholder 

proposal approved at the Company’s 

 Annual Meeting, the Company’s 

http://www.corporate-ir.net/ireye/ir_site.zhtml?ticker=SPG&script=700
http://www.corporate-ir.net/ireye/ir_site.zhtml?ticker=SPG&script=700
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estate increases and higher rents can 

be obtained.

 While we operate our business 

conservatively, we are acutely aware 

that change is the very nature of 

retailing. Retail is heavily influenced 

by changing tastes, particularly those 

of younger shoppers. We respond 

to these changing preferences 

by constantly updating the 

merchandising mix within our malls. 

We seek out new retail concepts. 

Our goal is to own the malls where 

shoppers want to shop and retailers 

want to locate. 

 We continuously evaluate our 

existing portfolio assets – making day-

to-day decisions on whether to invest 

additional capital in or to market 

non-core assets for sale.

allow us to comply with all applicable 

rules and regulations. 

 

Simon Management Philosophy

 By nature, we are conservative. We 

seek steady operating improvements 

each year. We make investments to 

maintain our properties in excellent 

condition, and we acquire only high 

quality assets as opportunities arise.

 We seek to reduce risk through 

broad diversification, owning and 

operating more than  assets 

across the nation. We further limit 

risk by investing in or building 

shopping malls only in prime 

locations.

 Prime locations are, by definition, 

magnets for shoppers. As shopper 

traffic increases, the value of the real 

1 8   S I M O N  P RO P E RT Y  G RO U P,  I N C .

Stephen E. Sterrett, 47
Executive VP and Chief Financial Officer

d e d i c a t e d  t o  s e r v i n g             s t o c k h o l d e r  i n t e r e s t s

M a n a g e m e n t  p h i l o s o p h y

James M. Barkley, 51
General Counsel

 We have also recently adopted a 

new Code of Business Ethics which 

is designed to guide the business 

conduct of all our employees and 

directors. 

 In addition, we have announced 

our new “whistleblower policy” which 

will give each of our employees an 

anonymous avenue through which to 

air any concerns about our accounting 

practices, without fear of retaliation.

 The review and enhancement 

of our corporate governance is an 

ongoing process. Our shareholders 

can rest assured that we will 

continue to keep abreast of all new 

requirements and take the necessary 

steps to insure we develop policies 

and procedures, with the input and 

assistance of our Board, which will 

 a n  e x p e r i e n c e d  m a n a g e m e n t  T e a m  i s  l e a d i n g  s i m o n  i n t o  t h e  2 1 s t  c e n t u r y .

Richard S. Sokolov, 53, 
President and Chief Operating Officer
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d e d i c a t e d  t o  s e r v i n g             s t o c k h o l d e r  i n t e r e s t s

John Rulli, 46
Executive VP and Chief 
Administrative Officer

 a n  e x p e r i e n c e d  m a n a g e m e n t  T e a m  i s  l e a d i n g  s i m o n  i n t o  t h e  2 1 s t  c e n t u r y .

projects at attractive rates is one of the 

cornerstones to our success. Although 

it is our nature to be deliberate, when 

competitive conditions warrant, we 

can act quickly and decisively as a 

result of our ability to access capital in 

many forms. 

 As a matter of corporate policy, 

we encourage new approaches to old 

problems. In fact, we demand them, 

fully recognizing that not every idea 

will succeed. Innovation is a much-

desired trait at Simon.

 Innovation by management and the 

size and quality of our asset portfolio 

create many opportunities for us. 

 Our management team’s depth, 

talent, experience and ability to 

maintain an entrepreneurial flair is 

critical to our success in the dynamic 

retail real estate business.

 Our board and executive 

management team are also acutely 

aware of the importance of promoting 

younger, yet seasoned officers to 

positions of greater responsibility. 

Youth serves as a complement to 

experience and collective wisdom.

 Our management team has led the 

consolidation of the regional mall 

industry by successfully integrating 

acquisitions, including six portfolios, 

aggregating . billion.

 We have built a company that we 

are very proud of. We have done it 

by focusing each and every day on 

what serves the interests of all our 

shareholders. This will continue to

be our philosophy in  and

beyond.   

 The secret to our success is in the 

execution of our corporate strategy 

and the management of our business 

lease by lease and project by project.

 We keep our debt-to-enterprise value 

ratio modest, with a target of approx-

imately %, which we believe to be 

reasonable given the stability of our 

cash flow. 

 Our conservative approach is more 

than a philosophy – it is a strategy to 

achieve consistent operating results and 

profitable growth. This strategy builds 

confidence among our investors and 

the rating agencies who have responded 

by awarding SPG the highest credit 

rating in the regional mall industry.

 Consequently, we can borrow at 

lower rates than many of our 

competitors. This ability to finance 

Stewart A. Stockdale, 41 
Chief Marketing Officer 
and President of SBV

J. Scott Mumphrey, 51
Executive VP – Property Management
and President of SBN

Gary Lewis, 44
Executive VP – Leasing
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Georgia
Gwinnett Place, Duluth (Atlanta)
Lenox Square, Atlanta
Mall of Georgia, Mill Creek
 (Atlanta)
Northlake Mall, Atlanta
Phipps Plaza, Atlanta
Town Center at Cobb, Kennesaw
 (Atlanta)

Illinois
Alton Square, Alton (St. Louis)
Lincolnwood Town Center,
 Lincolnwood (Chicago)
Northfield Square Mall,
 Bourbonnais
Northwoods Mall, Peoria
O’Hare International Ctr. O,
 Rosemont (Chicago)
Orland Square, Orland Park
 (Chicago)
River Oaks Center, Calumet City
 (Chicago)
Riverway O, Rosemont (Chicago)
SouthPark Mall, Moline
White Oaks Mall, Springfield

Indiana
Castleton Square, Indianapolis
Circle Centre, Indianapolis
Claypool Court M, Indianapolis
College Mall, Bloomington
Eastland Mall, Evansville
Greenwood Park Mall,
 Greenwood (Indianapolis)
Lafayette Square, Indianapolis
Markland Mall, Kokomo
Mounds Mall S, Anderson
Muncie Mall, Muncie
Richmond Square S, Richmond
The Fashion Mall at Keystone,
 Indianapolis
Tippecanoe Mall, Lafayette
University Park Mall, Mishawaka
 (South Bend)
Washington Square, Indianapolis

Iowa
Lindale Mall, Cedar Rapids
NorthPark Mall, Davenport
Southern Hills Mall, Sioux City
SouthRidge Mall, Des Moines

Kansas
Hutchinson Mall, Hutchinson
Towne East Square, Wichita
Towne West Square, Wichita
West Ridge Mall, Topeka

Louisiana
New Orleans Centre, New Orleans
Prien Lake Mall, Lake Charles
South Park Mall, Shreveport

Maine
The Maine Mall M, South Portland

Maryland
Bowie Town Center, Bowie
Forest Village Park Mall,
 Forestville (Washington, D.C.)
St. Charles Towne Center, Waldorf
 (Washington, D.C.)

Massachusetts
Arsenal Mall, Watertown (Boston)
Atrium Mall, Chestnut Hill
 (Boston)
Auburn Mall, Auburn (Boston)
Burlington Mall, Burlington
 (Boston)
Cape Cod Mall, Hyannis
Copley Place, Boston
Emerald Square, North Attleboro
 (Boston)
Greendale Mall, Worcester  
 (Boston)
Liberty Tree Mall, Danvers (Boston)
Northshore Mall, Peabody (Boston)
Solomon Pond Mall,
 Marlborough (Boston)
South Shore Plaza, Braintree
 (Boston)
Square One Mall, Saugus (Boston)
The Mall at Chestnut Hill,  
 Newton (Boston)

Minnesota
Mall of America, Bloomington
 (Minneapolis)
Maplewood Mall, Maplewood
 (Minneapolis)
Miller Hill Mall, Duluth

Missouri
Battlefield Mall, Springfield
Independence Center,
 Independence (Kansas City)

Nebraska
Crossroads Mall, Omaha

Nevada
The Forum Shops at Caesars,
 Las Vegas

New Hampshire
Mall at Rockingham Park,
 Salem (Boston)
Mall of New Hampshire,
 Manchester (Boston)
Pheasant Lane Mall, Nashua

simon properties
regional malls community centers  

Alaska
Anchorage 5th Avenue Mall M,
 Anchorage

Arizona
Metrocenter, Phoenix
Southgate Mall, Yuma

Arkansas
McCain Mall, North Little Rock
University Mall, Little Rock

California
Brea Mall, Brea (Orange County)
Fashion Valley Mall, San Diego
Laguna Hills Mall, Laguna Hills,
 (Orange County)
Santa Rosa Plaza, Santa Rosa
The Shops at Mission Viejo,
 Mission Viejo (Orange County)
Westminster Mall, Westminster
 (Orange County)

Colorado
Aurora Mall, Aurora (Denver)
Mesa Mall, Grand Junction

Connecticut
Crystal Mall, Waterford

Florida
Aventura Mall, Miami Beach
Boynton Beach Mall, Boynton
 Beach (West Palm Beach) 
Coral Square, Coral Springs
 (Ft. Lauderdale)
Cordova Mall, Pensacola
Crystal River Mall, Crystal River
Dadeland Mall, Miami
DeSoto Square, Bradenton
Edison Mall, Fort Myers
Gulf View Square, Port Richey
Indian River Mall, Vero Beach
Lake Square Mall, Leesburg
Melbourne Square, Melbourne
Miami International Mall, Miami
Orange Park Mall, Orange Park
Paddock Mall, Ocala
Palm Beach Mall,
 West Palm Beach
Port Charlotte Town Center,
 Port Charlotte
Seminole Towne Center, Sanford
 (Orlando)
The Avenues, Jacksonville
The Florida Mall, Orlando
The Shops at Sunset Place,
 South Miami
Town Center at Boca Raton,
 Boca Raton
Treasure Coast Square,
 Jensen Beach
Tyrone Square, St. Petersburg
University Mall, Pensacola

New Jersey
Bergen Mall, Paramus (New York)
Brunswick Square, East Brunswick
 (New York)
Livingston Mall, Livingston
 (New York)
Menlo Park Mall, Edison
 (New York)
Newport Centre M, Jersey City
 (New York)
Ocean County Mall, Toms River
Rockaway Townsquare, Rockaway
 (New York)

New Mexico
Cottonwood Mall, Albuquerque

New York
Chautauqua Mall, Lakewood
Eastern Hills Mall, Williamsville
Jefferson Valley Mall,
 Yorktown Heights
Nanuet Mall, Nanuet (New York)
Roosevelt Field, Garden City
 (New York)
Smith Haven Mall, Lake Grove
 (New York)
The Source, Westbury (New York)
The Westchester, White Plains
 (New York)
Walt Whitman Mall,
 Huntington Station (New York)

North Carolina
Biltmore Square, Asheville
SouthPark Mall, Charlotte

Ohio
Great Lakes Mall, Mentor
 (Cleveland)
Lima Mall, Lima
Richmond Town Square,
 Richmond Heights (Cleveland)
Southern Park Mall, Boardman
 (Youngstown)
Summit Mall, Akron
Upper Valley Mall, Springfield
Woodville Mall, Northwood
 (Toledo)

Oklahoma
Eastland Mall, Tulsa
Heritage Park Mall, Midwest City
 (Oklahoma City)
Penn Square Mall, Oklahoma City
Woodland Hills Mall, Tulsa

Pennsylvania
Century III Mall, West Mifflin
 (Pittsburgh)
Cheltenham Square, Philadelphia
Granite Run Mall, Media
 (Philadelphia)
Ross Park Mall, Pittsburgh
South Hills Village, Pittsburgh

key
M—Managed   O—Office
S—Property was sold in January, 2003
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Indiana
Brightwood Plaza, Indianapolis
Eastland Convenience Ctr.,
 Evansville
Greenwood Plus, Greenwood 
Griffi th Park Plaza, Griffi th
Keystone Shoppes, Indianapolis
Markland Plaza, Kokomo
Mounds Mall Cinema S, Anderson
Muncie Plaza, Muncie
New Castle Plaza, New Castle
Northwood Plaza, Fort Wayne
Teal Plaza, Lafayette
Tippecanoe Plaza, Lafayette
University Center, Mishawaka
Village Park Plaza, Carmel
Wabash Village, West Lafayette
Washington Plaza, Indianapolis

Kansas
West Ridge Plaza, Topeka

Kentucky
Park Plaza, Hopkinsville

Maryland
St. Charles Towne Plaza, Waldorf 

Mississippi
Ridgewood Court, Jackson

Missouri
Regency Plaza, St. Charles

New Jersey
Newport Crossing M, Jersey City
Newport Plaza M, Jersey City
Rockaway Convenience Ctr.,
 Rockaway

New York
Cobblestone Court, Victor

Ohio
Boardman Plaza, Youngstown
Great Lakes Plaza, Mentor 
Lima Center, Lima
Northland Plaza, Columbus

Oklahoma
Eastland Plaza, Tulsa

Pennsylvania
Great Northeast Plaza,
 Philadelphia

South Carolina
Charles Towne Square, Charleston

South Dakota
Empire East, Sioux Falls

Tennessee
Knoxville Commons, Knoxville

Texas
Celina Plaza, El Paso
Ingram Plaza, San Antonio
Lakeline Plaza, Austin
Mainland Crossing, Texas City
The Arboretum, Austin
The Shops at North East Mall,
 Hurst

Virginia
Chesapeake Center, Chesapeake
Fairfax Court, Fairfax
Martinsville Plaza, Martinsville

Wisconsin
Memorial Plaza, Sheboygan

simon properties
regional malls community centers  

South Carolina
Anderson Mall, Anderson
Haywood Mall, Greenville

South Dakota
Empire Mall, Sioux Falls
Rushmore Mall, Rapid City

Tennessee
Knoxville Center, Knoxville
Oak Court Mall, Memphis
Raleigh Springs Mall, Memphis
West Town Mall, Knoxville
Wolfchase Galleria, Memphis

Texas
Barton Creek Square, Austin
Broadway Square Mall, Tyler
Cielo Vista Mall, El Paso
Galleria Financial Center, and
 Post Oak Towers, O,M Houston
Golden Triangle Mall M, Denton
 (Dallas)
Highland Mall, Austin
Ingram Park Mall, San Antonio
Irving Mall, Irving (Dallas)
La Plaza Mall, McAllen
Lakeline Mall, Austin
Longview Mall, Longview
Midland Park Mall, Midland
Midway Mall M, Sherman
North East Mall, Hurst
 (Ft. Worth)
Richardson Square, Richardson
 (Dallas)
Rolling Oaks Mall, San Antonio
Sunland Park Mall, El Paso
The Galleria, Houston
Valle Vista Mall, Harlingen

Utah
Trolley Square, Salt Lake City

Virginia
Apple Blossom Mall, Winchester
Charlottesville Fashion Square,  
 Charlottesville
Chesapeake Square, Chesapeake
 (Norfolk)
The Fashion Centre at Pentagon
 City, Arlington (Washington, D.C.)
Lynnhaven Mall M, Virginia Beach
 (Norfolk)
Valley Mall, Harrisonburg
Virginia Center Commons,
 Glen Allen

Washington
Columbia Center, Kennewick
Northgate Mall, Seattle
Tacoma Mall, Tacoma

Wisconsin
Bay Park Square, Green Bay
Forest Mall, Fond Du Lac
Memorial Mall S, Sheboygan
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States where Simon Malls are located

at December 31, 2002

Connecticut
The Plaza at Buckland Hills,
 Manchester

Florida
Gaitway Plaza, Ocala
Highland Lakes Center, Orlando
Indian River Commons,
 Vero Beach
Royal Eagle Plaza, Coral Springs
Terrace @ the Florida Mall, 
 Orlando
The Grove @ Lakeland Square, 
 Lakeland
Waterford Lakes Town Center,
 Orlando
West Town Corners,
 Altamonte Springs
Westland Park Plaza, Orange Park  

Georgia
Mall of Georgia Crossing,
 Mill Creek

Illinois
Bloomingdale Court,
 Bloomingdale
Bridgeview Court, Bridgeview
Countryside Plaza, Countryside
Crystal Court, Crystal Lake
Forest Plaza, Rockford
Fox River Plaza, Elgin
Lake Plaza, Waukegan
Lake View Plaza, Orland Park
Lincoln Crossing, O’Fallon
Matteson Plaza, Matteson
North Ridge Plaza, Joliet
North Riverside Park Plaza,
 North Riverside
The Yards Plaza, Chicago
White Oaks Plaza, Springfi eld
Willow Knolls Court, Peoria
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S e l e c t e d  F i n a n c i a l  D a t a
(in thousands, except per share data)

 The following tables set forth selected combined financial data. The selected combined financial data should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto and with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations. Amounts represent the combined amounts for Simon Property and SPG Realty for all periods as of or for 
the years ended December 31 from September 24, 1998 to December 31, 2002. SPG Realty merged into Simon Property on December 
31, 2002. Other data we believe is important in understanding trends in Simon Property’s business is also included in the tables. 

As of or for the Year Ended December 31, 2002 (1) 2001 2000(1) 1999(1) 1998(1)

Operating Data:         

Total revenue $ 2,185,802  $ 2,048,835  $ 2,020,751  $ 1,892,703  $ 1,405,559

Income before extraordinary items and
 cumulative effect of accounting change  547,348   282,297   347,419   304,100   236,230

Net income available to common shareholders $ 358,387  $ 147,789   $ 186,528  $ 167,314  $ 133,598

          

Basic Earnings Per Share:          

Income before extraordinary items and
 cumulative effect of accounting change $ 1.93  $ 0.87  $ 1.13  $ 1.00  $ 1.02

Extraordinary items  0.06   —   —   (0.03 )  0.04

Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   (0.01 )  (0.05 )  —   —

Net income  $ 1.99  $ 0.86   $ 1.08  $ 0.97  $ 1.06

Weighted average shares outstanding  179,910   172,669   172,895   172,089   126,522

Diluted Earnings Per Share:          

Income before extraordinary items and
 cumulative effect of accounting change $ 1.93  $ 0.86  $ 1.13  $ 1.00  $ 1.02

Extraordinary items  0.06   —   —   (0.03 )  0.04

Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   (0.01 )  (0.05 )  —   —

Net income  $ 1.99  $ 0.85   $ 1.08  $ 0.97  $ 1.06

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding  181,501   173,028    172,994   172,226   126,879

Distributions per share (2) $ 2.175  $ 2.08   $ 2.02  $ 2.02  $ 2.02

          

Balance Sheet Data:          

Cash and cash equivalents $ 397,129  $ 259,760   $ 223,111  $ 157,632  $ 129,195

Total assets  14,904,502   13,810,954   13,937,945   14,223,243   13,277,000

Mortgages and other notes payable  9,546,081   8,841,378   8,728,582   8,768,951   7,973,372

Shareholders’ equity  $ 3,467,733  $ 3,214,691  $ 3,064,471  $ 3,253,658  $ 3,409,209

Other Data:          

Cash flow provided by (used in): (5)          

 Operating activities $ 882,990  $ 859,062   $ 743,519  $ 660,307   $ 538,977

 Investing activities  (785,730 )  (351,310 )  (134,237 )  (661,051 )  (2,131,440 )

 Financing activities $ 40,109  $ (471,103 ) $ (543,803 ) $ 29,181  $ 1,611,959

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
 and Preferred Dividends (3)  1.66x   1.33x   1.37x   1.36x   1.44x

Funds from Operations (FFO) (4) $ 943,760  $ 850,117   $ 793,158  $ 715,223  $ 544,481

FFO allocable to Simon Property $ 696,457  $ 618,020   $ 575,655  $ 520,346  $ 361,326

notes

(1) On May 3, 2002, Simon Property jointly acquired Rodamco North America N.V. In 1999, Simon Property acquired the assets of New England Development Company. 
In 1998, Simon Property merged with Corporate Property Investors, Inc. In the accompanying financial statements, Note 2 describes the basis of presentation and Note 
4 describes acquisitions and disposals.

(2) Represents distributions declared per period. 
(3) In 2002, includes $162.0 million of gains on sales of assets, net, and excluding these gains the ratio would have been 1.45. In 2001, includes a $47,000 impairment charge 

(see Note 4 to the accompanying financial statements). Excluding this charge the ratio would have been 1.39x in 2001. In 1999, includes a $12,000 unusual loss (see Note 
11 to the accompanying financial statements) and a total of $12,290 of asset write-downs. Excluding these items, the ratio would have been 1.39x in 1999.

(4) FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure that we believe provides useful information to investors. Please refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations for a definition and reconciliation of FFO.

(5) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period cash flow information to conform to the current year presentation.
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You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto that are included 
in this Annual Report to Shareholders. Certain statements made in this section or elsewhere in this report may be deemed 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Although we believe the 
expectations reflected in any forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance that our 
expectations will be attained, and it is possible that our actual results may differ materially from those indicated by these forward-
looking statements due to a variety of risks and uncertainties. Those risks and uncertainties incidental to the ownership and 
operation of commercial real estate include, but are not limited to: national, international, regional and local economic climates, 
competitive market forces, changes in market rental rates, trends in the retail industry, the inability to collect rent due to the 
bankruptcy or insolvency of tenants or otherwise, risks associated with acquisitions, the impact of terrorist activities, environmental 
liabilities, maintenance of REIT status, the availability of financing, and changes in market rates of interest. We undertake no duty 
or obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments, 
or otherwise. 

Overview

 Simon Property Group, Inc. (“Simon Property”) is a Delaware corporation that operates as a self-administered and self-
managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”). Simon Property Group, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”) is a majority-owned 
partnership subsidiary of Simon Property that owns all but one of our real estate properties. In this discussion, the terms “we”, “us” 
and “our” refer to Simon Property, the Operating Partnership, and their subsidiaries.

 We are engaged primarily in the ownership, operation, leasing, management, acquisition, expansion and development of real 
estate properties. Our real estate properties consist primarily of regional malls and community shopping centers. As of December 
31, 2002, we owned or held an interest in 246 income-producing properties in the United States, which consisted of 173 regional 
malls, 68 community shopping centers, and five office and mixed-use properties in 36 states (collectively, the “Properties”, and 
individually, a “Property”). Mixed-use properties are properties that include a combination of retail space, office space, and/or 
hotel components. We also own interests in four parcels of land held for future development (together with the Properties, the 
“Portfolio”). In addition, we have ownership interests in other real estate assets and ownership interests in eight retail real estate 
properties operating in Europe and Canada. Leases from retail tenants generate the majority of our revenues including:

 ● Base minimum rents and cart and kiosk rentals,

 ● Overage and percentage rents based on tenants’ sales volume, and

 ● Recoveries of substantially all of our recoverable expenditures, which consist of property operating, real estate 
tax, repairs and maintenance, and advertising and promotional expenditures. 

 We also generate revenues due to our size and tenant relationships from:

 ● Simon Brand Ventures (“Simon Brand”) pursues mall marketing initiatives, including the sale of gift certificates 
and gift cards. We launched our Simon Visa Gift Card test at four malls in the fall of 2001 and extended the 
program to 43 additional malls in August 2002. We plan to complete the roll-out to other regional malls in 
2003. The gift card program will eventually replace our existing paper certificates.

 ● Simon Brand also forms consumer focused strategic corporate alliances 
 ● Simon Business Network (“Simon Business”) offers property operating services to our tenants and others 

resulting from its relationships with vendors.

 A REIT is a company that owns and, in most cases, operates income-producing real estate such as regional malls, community 
shopping centers, offices, apartments, and hotels. To qualify as a REIT, a company must distribute at least 90 percent of its taxable 
income to its shareholders annually. Taxes are paid by shareholders on the dividends received and any capital gains. Most states also 
follow this federal treatment and do not require REITs to pay state income tax.

M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  

a n d  r e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s
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 M.S. Management Associates, Inc. (the “Management Company”) provides leasing, management, and development services 
to most of the Properties. In addition, insurance subsidiaries of the Management Company reinsure the self-insured retention 
portion of our general liability and workers’ compensation programs. Third party providers provide coverage above the insurance 
subsidiaries’ limits. Through the Operating Partnership, as of December 31, 2002, we owned voting and non-voting common stock 
and three classes of participating preferred stock of the Management Company; however, 95% of the voting common stock was 
owned by three Simon family members. Our ownership interest and our note receivable from the Management Company entitled us 
to approximately 98% of the after-tax economic benefits of the Management Company’s operations. As of December 31, 2002, we 
accounted for our investment in the Management Company using the equity method of accounting. As explained below, effective 
January 1, 2003, the Operating Partnership acquired the remaining equity interests in the Management Company.

Structural Simplification

 During 2002, we continued to simplify our organizational structure by merging SPG Realty Consultants, Inc. (“SPG 
Realty”) into Simon Property, ending the “paired share” REIT structure resulting from our combination with Corporate Property 
Investors, Inc. All of the outstanding stock of SPG Realty was previously held in trust for the benefit of the holders of common 
stock of Simon Property. As a result of the merger, our stockholders who were previously the beneficial owners of the SPG Realty 
stock are now, by virtue of their ownership of our common stock, the owners of the assets and operations formerly owned or 
conducted by SPG Realty. The balance sheet data contained in this analysis represents the merged balance sheet of Simon Property 
as of December 31, 2002 and the combined consolidated balance sheets of Simon Property and SPG Realty as of December 31, 
2001. In addition, the results of operations and cash flow disclosures contained in this analysis represent the combined results of 
Simon Property and SPG Realty for all periods presented.

 As noted above, on January 1, 2003, the Operating Partnership acquired all of the remaining equity interests of the 
Management Company from three Simon family members for a total purchase price of $425,000, which was equal to the appraised 
value of the interests as determined by an independent third party. The acquisition was unanimously approved by our independent 
directors. As a result, the Management Company is now a wholly owned consolidated taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) of the 
Operating Partnership.

Operational Overview

 Our core regional mall business continued to perform well in 2002 and grew as a result of strong operating fundamentals, the 
lower interest rate environment, and the Rodamco acquisition. We increased our regional mall occupancy 80 basis points to 92.7% 
as of December 31, 2002 from 91.9% as of December 31, 2001. Our regional mall average base rents increased 4.8% to $30.70 
per square foot (“psf”) from $29.28 psf. In addition, we maintained strong regional mall leasing spreads of $7.77 psf in 2002 
that increased from $5.78 psf in 2001. The regional mall leasing spread for 2002 includes new store leases signed at an average of 
$40.35 psf initial base rents as compared to $32.58 psf for store leases terminating or expiring in the same period. Regional mall 
comparable sales psf increased 2.0% to $391 psf in 2002 from $383 psf in 2001 despite the weak overall economy.
 
 We grew our business by expanding our Portfolio with the Rodamco acquisition of nine new Properties and the purchase 
of the remaining ownership interest in Copley Place. We acquired our initial ownership interest in Copley Place as part of the 
Rodamco acquisition. These acquisitions added $99.4 million to our 2002 consolidated total revenues, $37.1 million to our 2002 
consolidated operating income, and $8.9 million to our income from unconsolidated entities.

 The positive impact of our acquisitions was partially offset by the impact of the sale of our joint venture interests in Orlando 
Premium Outlets and the five Mills Properties. These sales generated net proceeds of $221.5 million and total gains of $170.7 
million, which include proceeds and gains realized by the Management Company. We also disposed of seven of our nine assets held 
for sale as of December 31, 2001 and two other non-core Properties that were no longer consistent with our ownership strategy.

M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  

a n d  r e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s
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 We issued 9,000,000 shares of common stock in a public offering on July 1, 2002 that generated net proceeds of $322.2 
million. We issued the shares partially to meet the needs of index funds after our addition to the S&P 500 Index, as well as to 
permanently finance a portion of the Rodamco acquisition.

 Finally, we took advantage of favorable long-term interest rates to issue $500.0 million of unsecured notes at a weighted 
average interest rate of 6.06% with terms of 6 and 10 years. We used a portion of these proceeds in August 2002 to permanently 
finance the remaining portion of the Rodamco acquisition. In addition, we issued $394.0 million of mortgage debt collateralized 
by ten Properties at 6.20% with a term of ten years to pay-off existing mortgage loans. Combined with our other financing 
activities, our overall weighted average interest rate as of December 31, 2002 decreased 27 basis points from December 31, 2001.

 We expect our overall Portfolio performance will be stable in 2003 as we expect to maintain similar leasing spreads, maintain 
or increase occupancy, and increase average base rents psf.

Portfolio Data

 The Portfolio data as discussed in the operations overview above includes some of the key operating statistics for our regional 
malls that we believe are necessary to understand our business. These statistics include the impact of the Rodamco acquisition. The 
Portfolio data includes occupancy, average base rents psf, leasing spreads, and comparable sales psf. Operating statistics give effect 
to newly acquired Properties beginning in the year of acquisition and do not include those Properties located outside of the United 
States. The following table summarizes some of the key operating statistics:

                                                              2002 (1) % Change 2001 % Change 2000 % Change

 Occupancy
 Regional Malls                                          92.7%  91.9%  91.8%
 Community Shopping Centers                 86.9%  89.3%  91.5%
 Average Base Rent per Square Foot
 Regional Malls                                          $30.70 4.8% $29.28 3.4% $28.31 3.6%
 Community Shopping Centers                 $10.12 2.5% $9.87 5.4% $9.36 12.0%
 Comparable Sales per Square Foot
 Regional Malls                                           $391 2.0% $383 (0.2%) $384 1.8%
 Community Shopping Centers                  $199 (1.1%) $201 6.7% $189 1.1% 
 (1) — Includes the impact of the Rodamco acquisition in May 2002.

 Occupancy Levels and Average Base Rents. Occupancy and average base rent is based on mall and freestanding GLA owned 
by us (“Owned GLA”) at mall and freestanding stores in the regional malls and all tenants at community shopping centers. We 
believe the continued growth in regional mall occupancy is primarily the result of a significant increase in the overall quality of our 
Portfolio. The result of the increase in occupancy is a direct or indirect increase in nearly every category of revenue. Our portfolio 
has increased occupancy and increased average base rents even in the difficult current economic climate.

 Comparable Sales per Square Foot. Sales volume includes total reported retail sales at Owned GLA in the regional malls and 
all reporting tenants at community shopping centers. Retail sales at Owned GLA affect revenue and profitability levels because they 
determine the amount of minimum rent that can be charged, the percentage rent realized, and the recoverable expenses (common 
area maintenance, real estate taxes, etc.) that tenants can afford to pay. 
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Significant Accounting Policies

 Our significant accounting policies are described in detail in Note 3 of the Notes to Financial Statements. The following 
briefly describes those accounting policies that we believe are most critical to understanding our business:

 ● Minimum rent revenues are accrued on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. We receive 
reimbursements from tenants for our recoverable expenditures, which consist of property operating, real estate 
tax, repairs and maintenance, and advertising and promotional expenditures. Reimbursements from tenants for 
recoverable portions of these expenditures are accrued as revenue in the period the applicable expenditures are 
incurred. We recognize any differences between the estimated and actual amounts in the subsequent year. 

 ● In order to maintain our status as a REIT, we are required to distribute 90% of our taxable income in any given 
year and meet certain asset and income tests in addition to other requirements. We monitor our business and 
transactions that may potentially impact our REIT status. If we fail to maintain our REIT status, then we would 
be required to pay federal income taxes at regular corporate income tax rates for a period of four years before we 
could reapply for REIT status.

 ● We review investment properties for impairment on a Property-by-Property basis whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of investment properties may not be recoverable. These 
circumstance include, but are not limited to, declines in cash flows, occupancy and comparable sales per square 
foot at the Property. We recognize an impairment of investment property when the estimated undiscounted 
operating income before depreciation and amortization is less than the carrying value of the Property. To the 
extent an impairment has occurred, we charge to income the excess of the carrying value of the Property over its 
estimated fair value. We may decide to sell Properties that are held for use. The sales prices of these Properties 
may differ from their carrying values.

 ● Income from unconsolidated entities is recognized under the equity method of accounting based upon our 
economic ownership in the unconsolidated entities after considering partner preferences.

 ● Allocation of income to the limited partners is based upon the limited partners’ direct interest in the Operating 
Partnership for the period.

Results of Operations

 The following acquisitions, dispositions, and openings affected our consolidated results of operations for the periods ended 
December 31, 2002 versus December 31, 2001:

 ● On May 3, 2002, we completed the Rodamco acquisition which added five newly consolidated Properties. 

 ● On July 19, 2002, we acquired the remaining ownership interest in Copley Place that resulted in our 
consolidation of this Property. Our initial joint venture partnership interest was acquired as part of the Rodamco 
acquisition.

 ● During 2002, we sold seven of the nine assets that were held for sale as of December 31, 2001. We also sold two 
other non-core assets in the fourth quarter of 2002.

 ● In 2001, we completed the construction of Bowie Towne Center that opened in October 2001 and we sold 
Century Consumer Mall, Golden Ring Mall and Rockaway office building in the first quarter 2001.
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 The following acquisitions, dispositions, and openings affected our income from unconsolidated entities in the comparative 
periods:

 ● The May 2002 Rodamco acquisition, which added six new joint venture partnership interests during the period, 
including our initial interest in Copley Place.

 ● The October 2001 acquisition of a 50% ownership interest in Fashion Valley Mall.

 ● The April 2002 sale of our interest in Orlando Premium Outlets 

 ● The May 2002 sale of our interests in five Mills Properties.

 For the purposes of the following comparison between the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, the above 
transactions are referred to as the Property Transactions. Consolidated Property transactions are referred to in our discussion of the 
components of operating income. Unconsolidated entity Property Transactions are referred to in the income from unconsolidated 
entities discussion. In the following discussion of our results of operations, “comparable” refers to Properties open and operating 
throughout both 2002 and 2001.

 Year Ended December 31, 2002 vs. Year Ended December 31, 2001

 Total minimum rents, excluding rents from Simon Brand and Simon Business initiatives, increased $64.6 million. The net 
effect of the Property Transactions increased these rents $49.0 million. Comparable rents increased $15.6 million during the period 
including a $21.7 million increase in base rents due to increased occupancy, leasing space at higher rents, and renting unoccupied 
in-line space and kiosks to temporary tenants. The change in comparable rents also is net of a decrease in straight-line rent income 
of $6.1 million. Total other income, excluding Simon Brand and Simon Business initiatives, increased $10.7 million. This increase 
includes the net $1.9 million increase in other income from the Property Transactions and a $21.9 million increase in outlot land 
parcel sales at comparable Properties. In addition, the increase includes the impact of our hedges of the Rodamco acquisition, which 
positively impacted operating income by $7.1 million during the period ($7.8 million is included in other income and $0.7 million 
of expense is included in other expenses). These increases were offset by $5.7 million in fee income recorded in 2001 associated 
with services provided to the Management Company in connection with the right to designate persons or entities to whom the 
Montgomery Ward LLC real estate assets were to be sold (the “Kimsward transaction”). Also offsetting these increases was a $4.4 
million decrease in lease settlements and a $3.8 million decrease in interest income due to the lower interest rate environment. 

 Consolidated revenues from Simon Brand and Simon Business initiatives increased $9.8 million to $84.6 million from 
$74.8 million. This increase includes the net $4.1 million increase from the Property Transactions primarily from parking services 
acquired. The increase also includes the $8.6 million of revenue, net, resulting from the settlement with Enron Corporation 
which was partially offset by a $5.6 million contract cash termination payment recognized in 2001. The contract cash termination 
payment was received to terminate a provision within the overall Enron contract that eliminated our right to invest in and 
participate in savings from the contractor’s installation of energy efficient capital equipment. The increase in our recovery revenues 
of $52.4 million resulted from the Property Transactions and increased recoverable expenditures including increased insurance 
costs and utility expenditures. The increased insurance costs are due to increased premiums for terrorism and general liability 
insurance. Utility expenses increased primarily due to the loss of our energy contract with Enron. Future increases, if any, in 
these expenses are expected to be recoverable from tenants. These expense increases were partially offset by decreased repairs and 
maintenance and advertising and promotional expenditures.

 Depreciation and amortization expense increased $26.5 million primarily from the increase in depreciation expense from 
the Property Transactions. In 2001, we recorded an impairment charge of $47.0 million to adjust the nine assets held for sale to 
their estimated fair value. Other expenses were relatively flat year over year. These expenses include $4.0 million of expense in 2002 
related to litigation settlements and $2.7 million from the write-off of our last remaining technology investment. In 2001, we wrote 
down an investment by $3.0 million and we wrote off $2.7 million of miscellaneous technology investments.
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 Interest expense during 2002 decreased $4.7 million compared to the same period in 2001. This decrease resulted from lower 
variable interest rate levels offset by $29.0 million of interest expense on borrowings used to fund the Rodamco acquisition and 
the purchase of the remaining ownership interest in Copley Place and the assumption of consolidated property level debt resulting 
from these acquisitions.

 Income from unconsolidated entities increased $10.2 million in 2002, resulting from an $11.4 million increase in income 
from unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, and a $1.2 million decrease in income from the Management Company 
before losses from MerchantWired LLC. The increase in joint venture income resulted from the Rodamco acquisition, lower 
variable interest rate levels, and our acquisition of Fashion Valley Mall in October 2001. These increases in income from joint 
ventures were offset by the loss of income due to the sale of our interests in the Mills Properties and Orlando Premium Outlets.

 The decrease in income from the Management Company before losses from MerchantWired LLC includes our $8.4 million 
share of the gain, net of tax, associated with the sale of land partnership interests to the Mills Corporation in 2002. This was offset 
by our $12.0 million share of income, before tax, recorded in 2001 from the Kimsward transaction, net of fees charged by the 
Operating Partnership. In addition, in 2001, we recorded our net $13.9 million share from the write-off of technology investments, 
primarily clixnmortar. The Management Company also had increased income tax expense, increased dividend expenses due to the 
issuance of two new series of preferred stock to us, and decreased income from land sale gains totaling $11.1 million. Finally, the 
Management Company’s core fee businesses were flat in 2002 versus 2001. 

 Losses from MerchantWired LLC increased $14.6 million, net. This includes our share of a $4.2 million net impairment 
charge in 2002 on certain technology assets and the $22.5 million net write-off of our investment in MerchantWired, LLC recorded 
in 2002. The write-off and the impairment charge have been added back as part of our funds from operations reconciliation. The 
total technology write-off related to MerchantWired LLC was $38.8 million before tax. Offsetting these charges are reduced 
operating losses from MerchantWired LLC due to its ceasing operations in 2002.

 We sold several Properties and partnership interests in 2002. We sold our interest in Orlando Premium Outlets during 2002 
to our partner in the joint venture. We sold our interests in five Mills Properties to our partner, the Mills Corporation, and sold two 
of the acquired Rodamco partnership interests and one existing partnership interest to Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association 
of America (“Teachers”) to fund a portion of the Rodamco acquisition. In addition, as part of our disposition strategy we disposed 
of seven of the nine assets held for sale as of December 31, 2001 and two other non-core Properties. Finally, we made the decision 
to no longer pursue certain development projects and we wrote-off the carrying amount of our predevelopment costs and land 
acquisition costs associated with these projects. The following table summarizes our net gain on sales of assets and other for 2002 
(in millions):
 
 Asset Type (number of properties) Net Proceeds Gain (Loss) (c) 

 Orlando Premium Outlets Specialty retail center (1) $ 46.7 $ 39.0

 Mills Properties (a) Value-oriented super-regional malls (5)  150.7  123.3

 Assets held for sale Community centers (3) and regional malls (2)  28.1  (7.0 )

 Teachers transaction Regional malls (3)  198.0  25.7

 Other transactions Community center (1), regional mall (2), other (b)  9.2  (1.9 )

 Other Pre-development and land acquisition costs  n/a  (17.1 )

   $ 432.7 $ 162.0

 (a) Amounts exclude sales of land partnership interests by the Management Company to the Mills Corporation. These sales resulted in net proceeds of $24.1 
million, resulting in our share of a gain of $8.4 million, net of tax.

 (b) Includes the ownership of two jointly held assets acquired in the Rodamco acquisition.

 (c) The net gain of $162.0 million from the sale of assets and other for 2002 and our $8.4 million, net of tax, share of the gain recorded by the Management 
Company have been deducted as part of our funds from operations reconciliation.
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 In 2001, we recognized a net gain of $2.6 million on the sale of one regional mall, one community center, and one office 
building from net proceeds of approximately $19.6 million.

 During 2002, we recognized $16.1 million in gains on the forgiveness of debt related to the disposition of two regional 
malls. Net cash proceeds from these disposals were $3.6 million. In addition, we incurred $1.8 million of expense included in 
extraordinary items during 2002 from the early extinguishment of debt that consisted of prepayment penalties and the write-off 
of unamortized mortgage costs. In 2001, we recorded a $1.7 million expense as a cumulative effect of an accounting change, 
which includes our $1.5 million share from unconsolidated entities, due to the adoption of SFAS 133 “Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended.

         Year Ended December 31, 2001 vs. Year Ended December 31, 2000

 The following acquisitions, dispositions, and openings affected our consolidated results of operations in the comparative 
periods December 31, 2001 vs. December 31, 2000:

 ● The October 2001 opening of Bowie Towne Center. 

 ● The first quarter 2001 sale of Century Consumer Mall, Golden Ring Mall and Rockaway office building.

 ● The 2000 sales of two regional mall, four community centers, and one mixed-use property.

 The following acquisitions, dispositions, and openings affected our income from unconsolidated entities in the comparative 
periods:

 ● The October 2001 acquisition of a 50% ownership interest in Fashion Valley Mall. 
 ● The May 2000 opening of Orlando Premium Outlets. 
 ● The November 2000 opening of Arundel Mills.

 ● The January 2000 and October 2000 sale of two partnership interests.

 For the purposes of the following comparison between the years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, the 
above transactions are referred to as the Property Transactions.
 
 Our operating income was impacted by positive trends in 2001 including a $38.1 million increase in minimum rents, 
excluding rents from Simon Brand and Simon Business initiatives. The increase in minimum rent primarily results of steady 
occupancy levels and the replacement of expiring tenant leases with renewal leases at higher minimum base rents. Revenues from 
Simon Brand and Simon Business initiatives increased $9.6 million including a $5.6 million contract cash termination payment 
recognized in 2001. The contract cash termination payment was received to terminate a provision within the overall Enron 
contract that eliminated our right to invest in and participate in savings from the contractor’s installation of energy efficient 
capital equipment. Revenues from temporary tenant rentals increased $5.8 million reflecting our continual effort to maximize the 
profitability of our mall space. Miscellaneous income increased $1.5 million. This increase includes $5.7 million in fees associated 
with the Kimsward transaction charged to the Management Company, offset by a decrease in various miscellaneous income items 
in the prior year. The change in operating income includes the net positive impact of the Property Transactions of $6.6 million.
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 These positive trends realized in operating income were offset by an impairment charge of $47.0 million we recorded in 
2001 to adjust the nine assets held for sale to their estimated fair value. In 2000, we recorded a $10.6 million impairment charge 
on two Properties as the contract prices for the sales of these Properties as of December 31, 2000 were less than our carrying 
amounts. We closed the sale of these Properties in 2001. We recognized a non-recurring $3.0 million write-down of an investment 
in 2001 and we wrote-off $2.7 million of miscellaneous technology investments in 2001, both included in other expenses. In 
addition, we wrote-off $3.0 million of miscellaneous technology investments in 2000 included in other expenses. Depreciation 
and amortization increased $36.6 million primarily due to an increase in depreciable real estate resulting from renovation and 
expansion activities, as well as increased tenant cost amortization. Tenant reimbursement revenues, net of reimbursable expenses, 
decreased $19.4 million. This decrease is primarily the result of true-up billings and decreases in recovery ratios. Overage rents 
decreased $7.8 million resulting from flat sales levels. The sale of outlot land parcels declined in 2001 resulting in a $12.2 million 
decrease in revenues. Interest income decreased $4.2 million during 2001 due to the lower interest rate environment.

 Interest expense during 2001 decreased $28.1 million, or 4.4% compared to the same period in 2000. This decrease is 
primarily due to lower interest rates during 2001 and reduced balances in the corporate credit facilities, offset by the issuance of 
$500.0 million of unsecured notes on January 11, 2001 and $750.0 million in unsecured notes on October 26, 2001.

 Income from unconsolidated entities decreased $19.3 million in 2001, resulting from a $10.2 million increase in income 
from unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, and a $29.5 million decrease in income from the Management Company. 
The increase in joint venture income related to: lower interest rates; a reduction in real estate taxes due to a real estate tax settlement 
at one Property; the acquisition of Fashion Valley Mall in 2001; and the full year impact of two Properties that opened in 2000. 
Included in the Management Company decrease is our net $13.9 million share of the write-off of technology investments, 
primarily clixnmortar. In addition, the Management Company realized a $3.7 million decrease in various fee revenues, a $3.2 
million decrease in land sales, and a $4.3 million increase in overhead expenses. These amounts are partially offset by $12.0 million 
of income from the Kimsward transaction, net of the $5.7 million fee charged by the Operating Partnership. In addition, our share 
of the increased losses associated with MerchantWired LLC was $14.0 million. 

 During 2001, we recorded a $1.7 million expense as a cumulative effect of an accounting change, which includes our $1.5 
million share from unconsolidated entities, due to the adoption of SFAS 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities,” as amended. During 2000, we recorded a $12.3 million expense as a cumulative effect of an accounting change, which 
includes our $1.8 million share from unconsolidated entities, due to the adoption of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 
101”). SAB 101 addressed certain revenue recognition policies, including the accounting for overage rent by a landlord. 

 The $2.6 million net gain on the sales of assets in 2001 resulted from the sale of our interests in one regional mall, one 
community center, and one office building for an aggregate sales price of approximately $20.3 million. In 2000, we recognized a 
net gain of $19.7 million on the sale of two regional malls, four community centers, and one office building for an aggregate sales 
price of approximately $142.6 million.

  Preferred dividends of subsidiary prior to July 1, 2001 represented distributions on preferred stock of SPG Properties, Inc., 
a former subsidiary of Simon Property that was merged into Simon Property on that date. 

M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  

a n d  r e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s



3 0   S I M O N  P RO P E RT Y  G RO U P,  I N C . 2 0 0 2  A N N U A L  R E P O RT   3 1  

Lease Expirations

 Our ability to maintain and increase consolidated revenues, operating cash flows and distributions from joint ventures is 
dependent upon our ability to re-lease space as leases expire with positive leasing spreads that result in increased average base rents. 
The following table lists the details of our lease expirations for our Properties over the next three years and thereafter. We expect to 
maintain positive leasing spreads in 2003. 

  Number  Average Number  Average
  of  Base of Anchor Base
 Regional Malls Leases GLA Rents Leases GLA Rents

  2003 1,870 4,209,343 $31.55 11 1,351,995 $2.74

  2004 2,004 4,964,187 30.96 25 2,479,462 3.43

  2005 1,915 5,442,681 30.95 24 2,958,1812.25

  2006 and Thereafter 11,614 37,797,299 31.41 184 21,109,701 4.46

  Total 17,403 52,413,510 $31.33 244 27,899,339 $4.05

 Community Centers

  2003 116 389,064 $12.54 7 149,082 $9.43

  2004 174 529,021 13.74 8 280,709 $6.00

  2005 216 673,015 14.73 11 343,053 $8.66

  2006 and Thereafter 426 2,210,598 12.89 134 5,436,325 $8.24

  Total 932 3,801,698 $13.30 160 6,209,169 $8.19

Liquidity and Capital Resources

 Our balance of cash and cash equivalents increased $137.4 million during 2002 to $397.1 million as of December 31, 
2002, including a balance of $171.2 million related to our gift certificate program, which we do not consider available for general 
working capital purposes. Our liquidity is derived primarily from our leases that generate positive net cash flow from operations 
and distributions from unconsolidated entities.

 Another source of our liquidity is our $1.25 billion unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) which provides 
flexibility as our cash needs vary from time to time. On April 16, 2002, we refinanced the Credit Facility. On December 31, 2002, 
the Credit Facility had available borrowing capacity of $918.3 million, net of outstanding letters of credit of $23.7 million. The 
Credit Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus 65 basis points with an additional 15 basis point facility fee on the entire $1.25 billion 
facility and provides for variable grid pricing based upon our corporate credit rating. The Credit Facility has an initial maturity 
of April 2005, with an additional one-year extension available at our option. Finally, we and the Operating Partnership also have 
access to public equity and long term unsecured debt markets. Our current corporate ratings are Baa2 by Moody’s Investors 
Service and BBB+ by Standard & Poor’s. Moody’s Investors Service lowered our senior unsecured debt rating from Baa1 to Baa2 
in November of 2002 as a result of our announcement of the bid to acquire Taubman Centers, Inc. and Moody’s own cautious 
outlook on the macro-economic environment. Moody’s stated that “the Baa2 senior unsecured debt rating continues to reflect 
Simon’s leading position as an owner and operator of the largest and most diverse portfolio of retail malls in the USA, as well as 
its strong tenant relationships and excellent franchise value.” We believe this downgrade has not had and will not have a negative 
impact on our access to capital or our aggregate borrowing costs.
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 Our net cash flow from operating activities and distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities totaled $1.1 billion, of 
which $78.8 million was obtained from excess proceeds distributed from unconsolidated entities as a result of debt refinancings. 
We used this cash flow to:

 ● pay our shareholder and unitholder distributions totaling $530.8 million, 

 ● fund our preferred stock and preferred unit distributions totaling $76.4 million,

 ● fund consolidated capital expenditures of $214.0 million. These capital expenditures include development 
costs of $10.9 million, renovation and expansion costs of $94.9 million and tenant costs and other 
operational capital expenditures of $108.2 million, and

 ● fund investments in unconsolidated entities of $90.1 million of which $58.4 million was used to fund 
new developments, redevelopments, and other capital expenditures and $17.1 million was used to reduce 
outstanding debt obligations.

 We met our maturing debt obligations in 2002 primarily through refinancings and borrowings on our Credit Facility. We 
also received $15.7 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options. We received $87.7 million primarily from the sale of our 
partnership interest in Orlando Premium Outlets, and from the disposition of our seven assets held for sale and two other non-core 
Properties.

 The cash portion of the Rodamco acquisition and the acquisition of the remaining interest in Copley Place totaled $1.1 
billion, including acquisition costs and normal closing prorations. We initially funded the Rodamco acquisition with borrowings 
from a $600.0 million acquisition facility, $200.0 million from our Credit Facility, and net proceeds of $198.0 million from the 
sale of partnership interests to Teachers. The acquisition of Copley Place was funded by borrowings on our Credit Facility. The 
acquisition facility was paid down with net proceeds of $150.7 million from the sale of our Mills Properties. On July 1, 2002, we 
issued 9,000,000 shares in a public offering and used the net proceeds of $322.2 million to reduce the outstanding balance of the 
$600.0 million acquisition credit facility. Finally, the remaining proceeds necessary to permanently finance these acquisitions came 
from a portion of the issuance of $500.0 million of senior unsecured notes on August 21, 2002.

 In general, we anticipate that cash generated from operations will be sufficient in 2003 as well as on a long-term basis, to meet 
operating expenses, monthly debt service, recurring capital expenditures, and distributions to shareholders in accordance with REIT 
requirements. In addition, sources of capital for nonrecurring capital expenditures, such as acquisitions, major building renovations 
and expansions, as well as for scheduled principal maturities on outstanding indebtedness, are expected to be obtained from: 

 ● excess cash generated from operating performance and working capital reserves,
 ● borrowings on our Credit Facility,
 ● additional secured or unsecured debt financing, or
 ● additional equity raised in the public or private markets
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Financing and Debt

 Unsecured Financing. We demonstrated our ability to regularly access the unsecured debt market in 2002. On August 21, 
2002, we took advantage of favorable long-term interest rates by issuing two tranches of senior unsecured notes to institutional 
investors pursuant to Rule 144A, totaling $500.0 million at a weighted average fixed interest rate of 6.06%. The first tranche is 
$150.0 million at a fixed interest rate of 5.38% due August 28, 2008 and the second tranche is $350.0 million at a fixed interest 
rate of 6.35% due August 28, 2012. We used the net proceeds of $495.4 million to pay off the remaining balance on our $600.0 
million acquisition credit facility and to reduce borrowings on our Credit Facility.

 Secured Financing. We own long term assets and believe that they should be primarily financed with long term, fixed rate 
debt. During 2002, we refinanced approximately $453.6 million of mortgage indebtedness on 17 Properties. Our share of the 
refinanced debt is approximately $449.8 million. The weighted average maturity of the new indebtedness is 9.1 years and the 
weighted average interest rate decreased from approximately 6.02% to 5.73%. 

 Credit Facility. During 2002, the maximum amount outstanding under the Credit Facility was $743.0 million and the 
weighted average amount outstanding was $411.3 million. The weighted average interest rate was 2.47% for 2002. 

 Summary of Financing. Our overall financing activity in 2002 resulted in a decrease in our weighted average interest rates. 
Our consolidated debt adjusted to reflect outstanding derivative instruments consisted of the following:

   Effective  Effective
  Adjusted Balance Weighted Adjusted Balance Weighted
  as of December 31, Average as of December 31, Average
 Debt Subject to 2002 Interest Rate 2001 Interest Rate

 Fixed Rate $ 7,941,122 6.81% $ 7,249,144 7.19%

 Variable Rate  1,604,959 3.58%  1,592,234 3.59%

  $ 9,546,081 6.27% $ 8,841,378 6.54%
 

 As of December 31, 2002, we had interest rate cap protection agreements on $296.9 million of consolidated variable rate debt. 
We had interest rate protection agreements effectively converting variable rate debt to fixed rate debt on $162.3 million of consolidated 
variable rate debt. In addition, we hold $400.0 million of notional amount fixed rate swap agreements that have a weighted average 
pay rate of 1.55% and a weighted average receive rate of 1.43% at December 31, 2002 which mature in June and December 2003. 
We also hold $675.0 million of notional amount variable rate swap agreements that have a weighted average pay rate of 1.43% and a 
weighted average receive rate of 3.33% at December 31, 2002 which mature in June 2003 and February 2004. As of December 31, 
2002, the net effect of these agreements effectively converted $112.7 million of fixed rate debt to variable rate debt. As of December 
31, 2001, the net effect of these agreements effectively converted $136.8 million of fixed rate debt to variable rate debt.
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 The following table summarizes the material aspects of our future obligations:

                                                                                      2003                     2004-2005                2006-2008                 After 2008                        Total

 Long Term Debt         

  Consolidated (1) $ 939,882  $ 2,512,394  $ 3,103,311          $ 2,964,721          $ 9,520,308

 Pro-rata share of:

  Consolidated (2) $ 939,452  $ 2,437,097  $ 3,056,674          $ 2,937,420          $ 9,370,643

  Joint Ventures (2)  162,401   582,685   814,457           715,845           2,275,388

 Total Pro Rata Share of

  Long Term Debt   1,101,853   3,019,782   3,871,131           3,653,265           11,646,031

 Ground Lease commitments  8,023   15,156   23,133           498,329           544,641

 Total $ 1,109,876  $ 3,034,938  $ 3,894,264          $ 4,151,594          $ 12,190,672
          
            (1) Represents principal maturities only and therefore, excludes net premiums and discounts and fair value swaps.

            (2) Represents our pro rata share of principal maturities and excludes net premiums and discounts.

 We expect to meet our 2003 maturities through refinancings, the issuance of new debt securities or borrowings on the Credit 
Facility. We expect to meet all future long term obligations, however, specific financing decisions will be made based upon market 
rates, property values, and our desired capital structure at the maturity date of each transaction. Joint venture debt is the liability of 
the joint venture, is typically secured by the joint venture Property, and is non-recourse to us. As of December 31, 2002, we have 
guaranteed or have provided letters of credit to support $60.1 million of our total $2.3 billion share of joint venture mortgage and 
other indebtedness. In January 2003, we were released from obligation under one of the guarantees for $15.7 million. 

Acquisitions and Dispositions

 Acquisitions. Acquisition activity is a component of our growth strategy. We may selectively acquire individual properties or 
portfolios of properties, focusing on quality retail real estate. We review and evaluate a limited number of acquisition opportunities 
as part of this strategy. Subsequent to December 31, 2002, our limited partner in The Forum Shops at Caesars in Las Vegas, NV 
initiated the buy/sell provision of the partnership agreement. We have elected to purchase this interest for $174.0 million and to 
assume our partner’s share of $175.0 million in debt. We expect this transaction to provide increased net income and cash flow in 
2003 and future periods. 

 Buy/sell provisions are common in real estate partnership agreements. Most of our partners are institutional investors who 
have a history of direct investment in regional mall properties. Our partners in our joint ventures may initiate these provisions at 
any time and if we determine it is in our shareholders’ best interests for us to purchase the joint venture interest, we believe we have 
adequate liquidity to execute the purchases of the interests without hindering our cash flows or liquidity. Should we decide to sell 
any of our joint venture interests, we would expect to use the net proceeds from sale to reduce outstanding indebtedness.

 On December 5, 2002, Simon Property Acquisitions, Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary, commenced a tender offer to 
acquire all of the outstanding shares of Taubman Centers, Inc. at a price of $18.00 per share in cash. On January 15, 2003, 
Westfield America, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary of Westfield America Trust, joined our tender offer and we jointly increased the tender 
offer to $20.00 per share net to the seller in cash. As of February 14, 2003, a total of 44,135,107 of the 52,207,756 common shares 
outstanding of Taubman Centers, Inc., were tendered into our offer. The expiration date of the tender offer has been extended to 
March 28, 2003. We have adequate liquidity to complete this acquisition. We have deferred approximately $4.0 million, net, in 
acquisition costs related to this acquisition. If we are unsuccessful in our efforts, then these costs will be expensed.
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 Dispositions. As part of our strategic plan to own quality retail real estate, we continue to pursue the sale, under the right 
circumstances, of Properties that no longer meet our strategic criteria, including four Properties which were sold at a gain in 
January 2003. If we sell the Properties that are held for use, the sale prices of these Properties may differ from their carrying value. 
We do not believe the sale of these assets will have a material impact on our future results of operations or cash flows and their 
removal from service and sale will not materially affect our ongoing operations.

Development Activity 

 We pursue new development as well as strategic expansion and renovation activity when we believe the investment of our 
capital meets our risk-reward criteria.

 New Developments. Development activities are an ongoing part of our business and we seek to selectively develop new 
properties in major metropolitan areas that exhibit strong population and economic growth. The following describes our current 
new development projects and the estimated total cost, our share of the estimated total cost and the construction in progress 
balance at December 31, 2002:

   Gross  Our Share of Our Share of Estimated  
   Leasable Estimated Estimated Construction Opening
    Property Location Area Total Cost Total Cost in Progress  Date
 
 Chicago Premium Outlets Chicago, IL 438,000 $79.0 $40.0 $ 8.1 2nd Quarter 2004

 Las Vegas Premium Outlets Las Vegas, NV 435,000 88.0 44.0 21.9 August 2003

 Rockaway Town Court Rockaway, NJ 89,000 17.0 17.0 3.8 September 2003

 Lakeline Village Austin, TX 42,000 5.0 5.0 2.0 October 2003

 We expect to fund these non-recurring capital projects with either available cash flow from operations or borrowings on our 
Credit Facility. We invested approximately $35.3 million in these four development projects during 2002. In total, our share of 
new developments in 2002 was approximately $41.5 million. We expect 2003 new development costs to be approximately $64.5 
million. 

 Strategic Expansions and Renovations. We also seek to increase the profitability and market share of the Properties through 
strategic renovations and expansions. We invested approximately $152.3 million on redevelopment projects during 2002. We 
have renovation and/or expansion projects currently under construction, or in preconstruction development and expect to invest 
approximately $144.3 million on redevelopment projects in 2003.

 Capital Expenditures on Consolidated Properties

 The following table summarizes total capital expenditures on consolidated Properties on an accrual basis:

  2002 2001 2000

 New Developments $ 7 $ 75 $ 58

 Renovations and Expansions  116  90  194

 Tenant Allowances  61  53  65

 Operational Capital Expenditures  61  41  49

 Total $ 245 $ 259 $ 366
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  International. The Operating Partnership has a 33.0% ownership interest in European Retail Enterprises, B.V. (“ERE”), 
that is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. ERE also operates through a wholly-owned subsidiary Groupe BEG, 
S.A. (“BEG”). ERE and BEG are fully integrated European retail real estate developers, lessors and managers. Our total current 
investment in ERE and BEG, including subordinated debt, is approximately $75.2 million. The agreements with BEG and ERE 
are structured to allow us to acquire an additional 28.3% ownership interest over time. The future commitments to purchase shares 
from three of the existing shareholders of ERE are based upon a multiple of adjusted results of operations in the year prior to the 
purchase of the shares. Therefore, the actual amount of these additional commitments may vary. The current estimated additional 
commitment is approximately $50 million to purchase shares of stock of ERE, assuming that the three existing shareholders 
exercise their rights under put options. We expect these purchases to be made from 2004-2008. As of December 31, 2002, ERE 
and BEG had five Properties open in Poland and two in France. One additional property opened in France in February 2003.

 Distributions

  On May 8, 2002, our Board of Directors approved an increase in the annual distribution rate to $2.20 per share and we 
declared a cash dividend of $0.55 per share in the fourth quarter of 2002. On February 5, 2003, our Board of Directors approved 
another increase in the annual distribution rate to $2.40 per share. Dividends during 2002 aggregated $2.175 per share and 
dividends during 2001 aggregated $2.08 per share. We are required to make distributions to maintain our status as a REIT. Our 
distributions typically exceed our net income generated in any given year primarily because of depreciation, which is a “non-cash” 
expense. Future distributions will be determined by the Board of Directors based on actual results of operations, cash available for 
distribution, and what may be required to maintain our status as a REIT. 

Funds from Operations (“FFO”)

  FFO is an important and widely used financial measure of the operating performance of REITs, which is not specifically 
defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). However, FFO provides a relevant basis for 
comparison among REITs. We also use FFO internally to measure the operating performance of our Portfolio. FFO, as defined by 
NAREIT, means consolidated net income: 

 ● without giving effect to real estate related depreciation and amortization, 
 ● without giving effect to gains or losses from extraordinary items, and

  ● without giving effect to gains or losses on sales of real estate, 
 ● plus the allocable portion of funds from operations of unconsolidated joint ventures based on economic 

ownership interest, and

 ● all determined on a consistent basis in accordance with GAAP.

 Effective January 1, 2000, we adopted NAREIT’s clarification of the definition of FFO, which requires the inclusion of 
the effects of nonrecurring items not classified as extraordinary, cumulative effect of accounting change or resulting from the sales 
of depreciable real estate. However, we also exclude from FFO our write-off of certain technology investments, impairment of 
investment properties, and the effect of the adjustment to market value for acquired in-place leases. In addition, FFO:

 ● does not represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP

 ● should not be considered as an alternative to net income as a measure of operating performance, and

 ● is not an alternative to cash flows as a measure of liquidity. 

M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  

a n d  r e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s
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 The following summarizes FFO and that of Simon Property and reconciles our combined income before extraordinary items 
and cumulative effect of accounting change to our FFO for the periods presented:

   For the Year Ended December 31,

  2002 2001 2000

   (in thousands)

 Funds from Operations $ 943,760  $ 850,117  $ 793,158

 Increase in FFO from prior period  11.0%   7.2%   10.9%

 Reconciliation:

  Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect

   of accounting change $ 547,348  $ 282,297  $ 347,419

  Plus:

   Depreciation and amortization from combined
    consolidated properties  478,379   452,428   418,670
   Our share of depreciation and amortization and
    other items from unconsolidated affiliates  150,217   138,814   119,562
   Gain on sale of real estate  (162,011 )  (2,610 )  `(19,704 )
   Our share of impairment charge and write-off from 
    MerchantWired, LLC, net of tax  26,695   —   —
   Write-off of technology investments  —   16,645   —
   Impairment of investment properties  —   47,000   10,572
  Less:
   Our share of adjustment to market value for 
    acquired in-place leases  (4,984 )  —   —
   Management Company gain on sale of real estate, net  (8,400 )  —   —
   Minority interest portion of depreciation and amortiza-
    tion and extraordinary items  (7,943 )  (7,012 )  (3,951 )
   Preferred distributions (Including those of subsidiaries)  (75,541 )  (77,445 )  (77,410 )
  Funds From Operations $ 943,760  $ 850,117  $ 793,158

  FFO allocable to Simon Property $ 696,457  $ 618,020  $ 575,655

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”)

 EBITDA is a second important and widely used financial measure of assessing the performance of real estate operations. 
Like FFO, EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. EBITDA is calculated by adding operating income and depreciation and 
amortization expense and operating margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by total revenues. We use EBITDA to evaluate 
the performance of our Portfolio and believe that EBITDA is an effective measure of shopping center operating performance 
because: 

 ● it is industry practice to evaluate real estate properties based on operating income before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization, which is generally equivalent to EBITDA, and 

 ● EBITDA is unaffected by the debt and equity structure of the property owner. 

 However, you should understand that EBITDA: 

 ● does not represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP

 ● should not be considered as an alternative to net income as a measure of operating performance

 ● is not indicative of cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, and

 ● is not an alternative to cash flows as a measure of liquidity.
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 We believe that there are several important factors that contribute to our ability to increase rent and improve the profitability 
of our shopping centers, including aggregate tenant sales volume, sales per square foot, occupancy levels and tenant occupancy 
costs. Each of these factors has a significant effect on EBITDA. The following summarizes total EBITDA and the operating profit 
margin of our Portfolio.
   For the Year Ended December 31,

  2002 2001 2000

   (in thousands)

  EBITDA of consolidated Properties $ 1,418,750  $1,286,975   $1,310,061

  EBITDA of unconsolidated Properties  811,908   702,450   661,635

 Total $ 2,230,658  $ 1,989,425  $ 1,971,696

  Total Revenues of consolidated and
   unconsolidated Properties $ 3,489,022  $ 3,159,830  $ 3,078,100

 Operating Profit Margin  63.9%   63.0%   64.1%

  Adjustments to EBITDA:

  EBITDA from discontinued unconsolidated Properties $ 64,689  $ 151,065  $ 126,622   
  Write-off of technology investments  2,730   2,770   8,526
  Impairment on investment properties  —   47,000   10,572
 EBITDA of the Portfolio Properties $ 2,298,077  $ 2,190,260  $ 2,117,416
  
 Increase in EBITDA from prior period  4.9%   3.4%   14.9%
  
  Total revenues from discontinued unconsolidated Properties $ 95,010  $ 213,494  $ 178,501   
  Total revenue of the Portfolio Properties $ 3,584,032  $ 3,373,324  $ 3,256,601

 Operating Profit Margin  64.1%   64.9%   65.0%

  Less: Joint venture partner’s share of EBITDA $ 530,282  $ 532,520  $ 489,246

 EBITDA allocable to Simon Property $ 1,767,795  $ 1,657,740  $ 1,628,170

  Increase in EBITDA allocable to Simon Property 

   from prior period  6.6%   1.8%   11.9%

 

 The compound annual growth rate of our EBITDA from 2000 to 2002 was 4.2%. This growth was primarily the result of 
increased rental rates, sustained tenant sales, improved occupancy levels, effective control of operating costs and the addition of 
GLA to the Portfolio through acquisitions and strategic expansions and renovations. Offsetting the slowing trends in EBITDA was 
the $4.7 million decrease in interest expense in 2002 from 2001 primarily as a result of the lower interest rate environment. The 
leverage inherent in the mall business acts as a natural hedge in a weakening economy, when it is more difficult to sustain operating 
profits. A lower interest rate environment should cushion the impact of soft core business fundamentals. 

Market Risk

 Our exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates primarily relates to our long-term debt obligations. We manage 
our exposure to interest rate risk by a combination of interest rate protection agreements to effectively fix or cap a portion of 
our variable rate debt, or in the case of a fair value hedge, effectively convert fixed rate debt to variable rate debt. In addition, we 
manage this exposure by refinancing fixed rate debt at times when rates and terms are appropriate. We are also exposed to foreign 
currency risk on financings of certain foreign operations. We have also entered into a foreign currency forward contract as part of 
our risk management strategy to manage foreign currency exchange risk. Our intent is to offset gains and losses that occur on the 
underlying exposures, with gains and losses on the derivative contracts hedging these exposures. We do not enter into either interest 
rate protection or foreign currency rate protection agreements for speculative purposes. 

M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  

a n d  r e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s
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 Our combined future earnings, cash flows and fair values relating to financial instruments are dependent upon prevalent 
market rates of interest, primarily LIBOR. Based upon consolidated indebtedness and interest rates at December 31, 2002, a 
0.50% increase in the market rates of interest would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately $8.0 million, and 
would decrease the fair value of debt by approximately $195.2 million. A 0.50% decrease in the market rates of interest would 
increase future earnings and cash flows by approximately $8.0 million, and would increase the fair value of debt by approximately 
$202.6 million.

Retail Climate and Tenant Bankruptcies

 Bankruptcy filings by retailers are normal in the course of our operations. We are continually releasing vacant spaces lost 
due to tenant terminations. Pressures which affect consumer confidence, job growth, energy costs and income gains can affect 
retail sales growth and a continuing soft economic cycle may impact our ability to retenant property vacancies resulting from store 
closings or bankruptcies. This year was generally slow for retailers as their sales were essentially flat as compared to 2001. However, 
contrary to 2001 when we lost 1.2 million square feet of mall shop tenants to bankruptcies, we only lost 0.4 million of square feet 
of mall shop tenants in 2002. We expect 2003 to be slightly higher than 2002 in terms of square feet lost to bankruptcies, however, 
we cannot assure you that this will occur.

 The geographical diversity of our Portfolio mitigates some of the risk of an economic downturn. In addition, the diversity 
of our tenant mix also is important because no single retailer represents either more than 2.4% of total GLA or more than 5.3% 
of our annualized base minimum rent. Bankruptcies and store closings may, in some circumstances, create opportunities for us to 
release spaces at higher rents to tenants with enhanced sales performance. We have demonstrated an ability to successfully retenant 
anchor and in line store locations during soft economic cycles. While these factors reflect some of the inherent strengths of our 
portfolio in a difficult retail environment, we cannot assure you that we will successfully execute our releasing strategy.

Insurance

 We maintain commercial general liability, fire, flood, extended coverage and rental loss insurance on our Properties. 
Rosewood Indemnity, Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Management Company, has agreed to indemnify our general liability 
carrier for a specific layer of losses. The carrier has, in turn, agreed to provide evidence of coverage for this layer of losses under 
the terms and conditions of the carrier’s policy. A similar policy written through Rosewood Indemnity, Ltd. also provides initial 
coverage for property insurance and certain windstorm risks at the Properties located in Florida.

 The events of September 11, 2001 affected our insurance programs. Although insurance rates remain high, we have two 
separate terrorism insurance programs, one for Mall of America and a second covering all other Properties. Each program covers 
both domestic and foreign acts of terrorism and has a separate $300 million policy aggregate limit in total. The policies also provide 
for a guaranteed aggregate reinstatement provision in case of a second loss from a covered terrorist act. These programs are in place 
through the remainder of 2003.

Inflation

 Inflation has remained relatively low in recent years and has had minimal impact on the operating performance of the 
Properties. Nonetheless, substantially all of the tenants’ leases contain provisions designed to lessen the impact of inflation. These 
provisions include clauses enabling us to receive percentage rentals based on tenants’ gross sales, which generally increase as prices 
rise, and/or escalation clauses, which generally increase rental rates during the terms of the leases. In addition, many of the leases 
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are for terms of less than ten years, which may enable us to replace existing leases with new leases at higher base and/or percentage 
rentals if rents of the existing leases are below the then-existing market rate. Substantially all of the leases, other than those for 
anchors, require the tenants to pay a proportionate share of operating expenses, including common area maintenance, real estate 
taxes and insurance, thereby reducing our exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.

 However, inflation may have a negative impact on some of our other operating items. Interest and general and administrative 
expenses may be adversely affected by inflation as these specified costs could increase at a rate higher than rents. Also, for tenant 
leases with stated rent increases, inflation may have a negative effect as the stated rent increases in these leases could be lower than 
the increase in inflation at any given time.

Seasonality

 The shopping center industry is seasonal in nature, particularly in the fourth quarter during the holiday season, when tenant 
occupancy and retail sales are typically at their highest levels. In addition, shopping malls achieve most of their temporary tenant 
rents during the holiday season. As a result, our earnings are generally highest in the fourth quarter of each year.

 In addition, given the number of Properties in warm summer climates our utility expenses are typically higher in the months 
of June through September due to higher electricity costs to supply air conditioning to our Properties. As a result some seasonality 
results in increased property operating expenses during these months; however, the majority of these costs are recoverable from 
tenants.

Environmental Matters

 Nearly all of the Properties have been subjected to Phase I or similar environmental audits. Such audits have not revealed nor 
is management aware of any environmental liability that we believe would have a material adverse impact on our financial position 
or results of operations. We are unaware of any instances in which we would incur significant environmental costs if any or all 
Properties were sold, disposed of or abandoned.

M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  

a n d  r e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s
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To the Board of Directors of
Simon Property Group, Inc.:

 We have audited the accompanying combined balance sheet of Simon Property Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (including the 
assets and liabilities of its former paired-share affiliate, SPG Realty Consultants, Inc., which merged into Simon Property Group, 
Inc. on December 31, 2002 (see Note 2)), as of December 31, 2002, and the related combined statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of Simon Property Group, Inc.’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. The combined financial statements of Simon Property Group, Inc. and subsidiaries and SPG 
Realty Consultants, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Companies”) as of December 31, 2001 and for the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2001, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations and whose report dated March 28, 2002, expressed 
an unqualified opinion on those statements and included an explanatory paragraph that disclosed the adoption of SFAS No. 133 
as discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

 We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 In our opinion, the 2002 combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the combined 
financial position of Simon Property Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States.

 As discussed above, the combined financial statements of the Companies as of December 31, 2001, and for each of the 
two years in the period then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note 3, certain 
reclassification adjustments have been made in the 2001 and 2000 statements of cash flows to conform to the 2002 presentation. 
These reclassification adjustments have no impact on the net income previously reported. We audited the reclassification 
adjustments that were applied to the 2001 and 2000 statements of cash flows. Our procedures included (a) obtaining analyses 
prepared by management of total distributions received from joint venture properties and total distributions paid to minority 
investors in consolidated properties, (b) comparing said amounts to the sections of the statements of cash flows, as previously 
reported, without exception, and (c) testing that the portion of the distributions received from joint venture properties, which 
represented a return on investment, and distributions paid to minority investors in consolidated properties were appropriately 
reclassified as cash generated by operating activities, consistent with their presentation in the 2002 statement of cash flows. In 
our opinion, such reclassification adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. However, we were not engaged to 
audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 or 2000 financial statements of the Companies other than with respect to such 
reclassification adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 or 2000 
financial statements taken as a whole.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 6, 2003

R e p o r t  o f  I n d e p e n d e n t  A u d i t o r s
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To the Board of Directors of
Simon Property Group, Inc. and SPG Realty Consultants, Inc.:

 We have audited the accompanying combined balance sheets of Simon Property Group, Inc. and subsidiaries and its paired 
share affiliate, SPG Realty Consultants, Inc. and subsidiaries (see Note 2), as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related 
combined statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2001. We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Simon Property Group, 
Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. 
We have also audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SPG Realty Consultants, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Companies’ management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the combined financial 
position of Simon Property Group, Inc. and subsidiaries and its paired share affiliate, SPG Realty Consultants, Inc. and subsidiaries, 
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2001, the consolidated financial position of Simon Property Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 
2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2001, and the consolidated financial position of SPG Realty Consultants, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 
2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

 As explained in Note 13 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2001, the Companies adopted SFAS 133 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended in June of 2000 by SFAS 138, “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 133, as amended, establishes accounting and reporting standards for 
derivative instruments. As explained in Note 13 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2000, the Companies adopted 
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, which addressed certain revenue recognition policies, including the accounting for overage rent 
by a landlord.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
March 28, 2002.

THIS REPORT IS A COPY OF THE PREVIOUSLY ISSUED ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP (ANDERSEN) AUDITOR’S 
REPORT. THIS REPORT HAS NOT BEEN REISSUED BY ANDERSEN.

R e p o r t  o f  I n d e p e n d e n t  P u b l i c  A c c o u n t a n t s
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December 31, 2002 2001

 (Note 2) (Note 2)

Assets:
    Investment properties, at cost                                                                                              $14,249,615              $13,194,396
    Less — accumulated depreciation                                                                                           2,222,242                   1,877,175
                                                                                                                                                  12,027,373                 11,317,221
    Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                          397,129                      259,760
    Tenant receivables and accrued revenue, net                                                                               311,361                      316,842
    Notes and advances receivable from Management Company and affiliates                                   75,105                        79,738
    Investment in unconsolidated entities, at equity                                                                      1,665,654                   1,451,137
    Goodwill, net                                                                                                                               37,212                        37,212
    Deferred costs, other assets, and minority interest, net                                                               390,668                      349,044
            Total assets                                                                                                                  $14,904,502              $13,810,954

Liabilities:
    Mortgages and other indebtedness                                                                                      $  9,546,081              $  8,841,378
    Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and deferred revenues                                                        624,505                      544,431
    Cash distributions and losses in partnerships and joint ventures, at equity                                   13,898                        26,084
    Other liabilities, minority interest and accrued dividends                                                           228,508                      213,279
           Total liabilities                                                                                                               10,412,992                   9,625,172

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)

Limited Partners’ Interest in the Operating Partnerships                                   872,925                      820,239

Limited Partners’ Preferred Interest in the SPG Operating Partnership         150,852                      150,852

Shareholders’ Equity: 
Capital Stock (750,000,000 total shares authorized, $.0001 par value, 237,996,000 shares 
 of excess common stock (Note 10)):

    All series of preferred stock, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 16,830,057 and 16,879,896 
     issued and outstanding, respectively. Liquidation values $858,006 and $907,845,
     respectively.                                                                                                                              814,254                      877,468

    Common stock, $.0001 par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized, 184,438,095 
     and 172,700,861 issued, respectively                                                                                                 18                               17

    Class B common stock, $.0001 par value, 12,000,000 shares authorized, 3,200,000 
     issued and outstanding                                                                                                                        1                                 1

    Class C common stock, $.0001 par value, 4,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding                  —                               —

    Capital in excess of par value                                                                                                   3,686,161                   3,347,567
    Accumulated deficit                                                                                                                 (961,338)                   (927,654)
    Accumulated other comprehensive income                                                                                  (8,109)                       (9,893)
    Unamortized restricted stock award                                                                                            (10,736)                     (20,297)
    Common stock held in treasury at cost, 2,098,555 shares                                                          (52,518)                     (52,518)
           Total shareholders’ equity                                                                                                3,467,733                   3,214,691
                                                                                                                                                $14,904,502              $13,810,954
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

C o m b i n e d  B a l a n c e  S h e e t s
Dollars in thousands, except share amounts
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For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                            2002                            2001                            2000

 (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2)
Revenue:
 Minimum rent $ 1,337,928  $ 1,271,142  $ 1,227,782
 Overage rent  47,977   48,534   56,438
 Tenant reimbursements  658,894   606,516   602,829
 Other income  141,003   122,643   133,702
  Total revenue  2,185,802   2,048,835   2,020,751

Expenses:
 Property operating  364,848   329,030   320,548
 Depreciation and amortization  480,012   453,557   420,065
 Real estate taxes  217,579   198,190   191,190
 Repairs and maintenance  77,472   77,940   73,918
 Advertising and promotion  61,327   64,941   65,797
 Provision for credit losses  8,972   8,415   9,644
 Other  (Note 11)  36,854   36,344   39,021
 Impairment on investment properties  —   47,000   10,572
  Total operating expenses  1,247,064   1,215,417   1,130,755

Operating Income  938,738   833,418   889,996

Interest expense  602,972   607,625   635,678
Income before minority interest  335,766   225,793   254,318

Minority interest  (10,498 )  (10,593 )  (10,370 )
Gain on sales of assets and other, net (Note 4)  162,011   2,610   19,704
Income before unconsolidated entities  487,279   217,810   263,652

Loss from MerchantWired, LLC, net (Note 7)  (32,742 )  (18,104 )  (4,100 )
Income from unconsolidated entities  92,811   82,591   87,867
Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of accounting change  547,348   282,297   347,419

Extraordinary items—Debt related transactions (Note 4)  14,307   163   (649 )
Cumulative effect of accounting change (Note 3)  —   (1,700 )  (12,342 )
Income before allocation to limited partners  561,655   280,760   334,428

Less:
 Limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships  127,727   55,526   70,490
 Preferred distributions of the SPG Operating Partnership  11,340   11,417   11,267
 Preferred dividends of subsidiary  —   14,668   29,335

Net Income  422,588   199,149   223,336

Preferred dividends  (64,201 )  (51,360 )  (36,808 )
Net Income Available to Common Shareholders $ 358,387  $ 147,789  $ 186,528

Basic Earnings Per Common Share:
  Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of 
   accounting change $ 1.93  $ 0.87  $ 1.13
  Net Income $ 1.99  $ 0.86  $ 1.08

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share:
  Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of 
   accounting change $ 1.93  $ 0.86  $ 1.13
  Net Income $ 1.99  $ 0.85  $ 1.08

 Net Income $ 422,588  $ 199,149  $ 223,336
 Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   (1,995 )  —
 Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate hedge agreements  4,431   (12,041 )  —
 Net losses on derivative instruments reclassified from accumulated other
  comprehensive income into interest expense  (982 )  4,071   —
 Other   (1,665 )  72   5,852
 Comprehensive Income $ 424,372  $ 189,256  $ 229,188

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

C o m b i n e d  S t a t e m e n t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s  a n d  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  I n c o m e
Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts
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For the Twelve Months Ended December 31,                                                                                          2002                            2001                            2000

 (Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 2)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
 Net income $ 422,588  $ 199,149  $ 223,336
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 
    operating activities—
   Depreciation and amortization  491,306   464,892   430,472
   Impairment on investment properties  —   47,000   10,572
   Extraordinary items  (14,307 )  (163 )  649
   Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   1,700   12,342
   Gain on sales of assets and other, net  (162,011 )  (2,610 )  (19,704 )
   Limited partners’ interest in Operating Partnerships  127,727   55,526   70,490
   Preferred dividends of Subsidiary  —   14,668   29,335
   Preferred distributions of the SPG Operating Partnership  11,340   11,417   11,267
   Straight-line rent  (6,785 )  (11,014 )  (15,590 )
   Minority interest  10,498   10,593   10,370
   Minority interest distributions (Note 3)  (13,214 )  (16,629 )  (16,293 )
   Equity in income of unconsolidated entities  (60,069 )  (64,487 )  (83,767 )
   Distributions of income from unconsolidated entities (Note 3)  80,141   71,878   58,296
   Other  —   —   3,000
  Changes in assets and liabilities—
   Tenant receivables and accrued revenue  14,237   2,335   (8,482 )
   Deferred costs and other assets  (15,778 )  (37,932 )  (10,086 )
   Accounts payable, accrued expenses, deferred revenues 
    and other liabilities  (2,683 )  112,739   37,312
    Net cash provided by operating activities  882,990   859,062   743,519

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
  Acquisitions  (1,129,139 )  (164,295 )  (1,325 )
  Capital expenditures, net  (213,990 )  (282,545 )  (419,382 )
  Cash from acquisitions  8,516   8,004   —
  Net proceeds from sale of assets and partnership interests  436,350   19,550   164,574
  Investments in unconsolidated entities  (90,113 )  (147,933 )  (161,580 )
  Distributions of capital from unconsolidated entities (Note 3)  191,314   217,082   303,795
  Notes and advances to Management Company and affiliate  11,332   (1,173 )  (20,319 )
    Net cash used in investing activities  (785,730 )  (351,310 )  (134,237 )

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
  Proceeds from sales of common and preferred stock, net  341,445   8,085   1,208
  Purchase of treasury stock and limited partner units  —   —   (50,972 )
  Minority interest contributions  779   2,647   69
  Preferred dividends of Subsidiary  —   (14,668 )  (29,335 )
  Preferred distributions of the SPG Operating Partnership  (11,340 )  (11,417 )  (11,267 )
  Preferred dividends and distributions to shareholders  (457,085 )  (428,968 )  (369,979 )
  Distributions to limited partners  (138,789 )  (134,711 )  (131,923 )
  Mortgage and other note proceeds, net of transaction costs  2,408,685   2,454,994   1,474,527
  Mortgage and other note principal payments  (2,103,586 )  (2,347,065 )  (1,426,131 )
    Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  40,109   (471,103 )  (543,803 )

Increase In Cash and Cash Equivalents  137,369   36,649   65,479

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period  259,760   223,111   157,632

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period $ 397,129  $ 259,760  $ 223,111

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

C o m b i n e d  S t a t e m e n t s  o f  C a s h  F l o w s
Dollars in thousands
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated                                                                                  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              Other                               Capital in                                                                            Unamortized                         Common                                    Total
                                                                                                                                                                                              Preferred                             Common                                                             Comprehensive                         Excess of                               Accumulated                            Restricted                          Stock Held                            Shareholders’
                                                                                                                                                                                                Stock                                    Stock                                                                       Income                               Par Value                                   Deficit                               Stock Award                        in Treasury                                 Equity

Balance at December 31, 1999                                                                                                     $ 542,838                     $      18                                                   $ (5,852 )                   $3,298,025                     $ (551,251)                    $(22,139)                   $  (7,981)                    $3,253,658
Series A Preferred stock conversion (84,046 Common Shares)                                                            (2,827)                                                                                                                             2,827                                                                                                                                                —
Series B Preferred stock conversion (36,913 Common Shares)                                                            (1,327)                                                                                                                             1,327                                                                                                                                                —
Common stock issued as dividend (1,242 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                             31                                                                                                                                                31
Stock options exercised (27,910 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                       1,036                                                                                                                                           1,036
Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                85                                                                                                                                                85
Stock incentive program (417,994 Common Shares, net)                                                                                                                                                                                                            9,613                                                               (9,613)                                                                     —
Amortization of stock incentive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          11,770                                                               11,770
Shares purchased by subsidiary (191,500 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    (4,539)                           (4,539)
Treasury shares purchased (1,596,100 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       (39,998)                         (39,998)
Transfer out of limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships                                                                                                                                                                                           613                                                                                                                                              613
Distributions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               (387,373)                                                                                              (387,373)
Other comprehensive income                                                                                                                                                                                                                5,852                                                                                                                                                                                 5,852
Net income                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   223,336                                                                                                 223,336
Balance at December 31, 2000                                                                                                     $ 538,684                     $      18                                                   $       —                    $3,313,557                     $ (715,288)                    $(19,982)                   $(52,518)                    $3,064,471

Series A Preferred stock conversion (46,355 Common Shares)                                                            (1,558)                                                                                                                             1,558                                                                                                                                                —
Common stock issued as dividend (442 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                12                                                                                                                                                12
Conversion of preferred stock of subsidiary (Note 10)                                                                     340,000                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              340,000
Conversion of Limited Partner Units (958,997 Common Shares, Note 10)                                                                                                                                                                               10,880                                                                                                                                         10,880
Stock options exercised (400,026 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                     8,831                                                                                                                                           8,831
Series E and Series G Preferred Stock accretion                                                                                       342                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     342
Stock incentive program (454,726 Common Shares, net)                                                                                                                                                                                                          11,827                                                             (11,827)                                                                     —
Amortization of stock incentive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          11,512                                                               11,512
Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            (259)                                                                                                                                           (259)
Transfer out of limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships                                                                                                                                                                                        1,262                                                                                                                                           1,262
Distributions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                (101)                      (411,515)                                                                                              (411,616)
Other comprehensive income (Note 5)                                                                                                                                                                                                 (9,893 )                                                                                                                                                                              (9,893)
Net income                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   199,149                                                                                                 199,149
Balance at December 31, 2001                                                                                                     $ 877,468                     $      18                                                   $ (9,893 )                   $3,347,567                     $ (927,654)                    $(20,297)                   $(52,518)                    $3,214,691

Series A Preferred stock conversion (1,893,651 Common Shares)                                                     (63,688)                                                                                                                        63,688                                                                                                                                             —
Common stock issued as dividend (19,375 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                         653                                                                                                                                           653
Conversion of Limited Partner Units (173,442 Common Shares, Note 10)                                                                                                                                                                                 5,709                                                                                                                                        5,709
Common stock issued (9,000,000 Common Shares)                                                                                                                    1                                                                                       322,199                                                                                                                                    322,200
Stock options exercised (671,836 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                  15,740                                                                                                                                      15,740
Series E and Series G Preferred Stock accretion                                                                                       474                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                474
Stock incentive program (-21,070 Forfeited Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                      (604)                                                                 604                                                                     —
Amortization of stock incentive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            8,957                                                                8,957
Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              399                                                                                                                                              399
Transfer out of limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships                                                                                                                                                                                    (69,190)                                                                                                                                    (69,190)
Distributions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              (456,272)                                                                                             (456,272)
Other comprehensive income (Note 5)                                                                                                                                                                                                  1,784                                                                                                                                                                             1,784
Net income                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   422,588                                                                                               422,588
Balance at December 31, 2002                                                                                                     $814,254                     $      19                                                  $ (8,109 )                  $3,686,161                   $(961,338)                    $(10,736)                  $(52,518)                   $3,467,733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

C o m b i n e d  S t a t e m e n t s  o f  S h a r e h o l d e r s ’  E q u i t y
Dollars in thousands, Note 2
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        Accumulated                                                                                  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              Other                               Capital in                                                                            Unamortized                         Common                                    Total
                                                                                                                                                                                              Preferred                             Common                                                             Comprehensive                         Excess of                               Accumulated                            Restricted                          Stock Held                            Shareholders’
                                                                                                                                                                                                Stock                                    Stock                                                                       Income                               Par Value                                   Deficit                               Stock Award                        in Treasury                                 Equity

Balance at December 31, 1999                                                                                                     $ 542,838                     $      18                                                   $ (5,852 )                   $3,298,025                     $ (551,251)                    $(22,139)                   $  (7,981)                    $3,253,658
Series A Preferred stock conversion (84,046 Common Shares)                                                            (2,827)                                                                                                                             2,827                                                                                                                                                —
Series B Preferred stock conversion (36,913 Common Shares)                                                            (1,327)                                                                                                                             1,327                                                                                                                                                —
Common stock issued as dividend (1,242 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                             31                                                                                                                                                31
Stock options exercised (27,910 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                       1,036                                                                                                                                           1,036
Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                85                                                                                                                                                85
Stock incentive program (417,994 Common Shares, net)                                                                                                                                                                                                            9,613                                                               (9,613)                                                                     —
Amortization of stock incentive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          11,770                                                               11,770
Shares purchased by subsidiary (191,500 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    (4,539)                           (4,539)
Treasury shares purchased (1,596,100 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       (39,998)                         (39,998)
Transfer out of limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships                                                                                                                                                                                           613                                                                                                                                              613
Distributions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               (387,373)                                                                                              (387,373)
Other comprehensive income                                                                                                                                                                                                                5,852                                                                                                                                                                                 5,852
Net income                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   223,336                                                                                                 223,336
Balance at December 31, 2000                                                                                                     $ 538,684                     $      18                                                   $       —                    $3,313,557                     $ (715,288)                    $(19,982)                   $(52,518)                    $3,064,471

Series A Preferred stock conversion (46,355 Common Shares)                                                            (1,558)                                                                                                                             1,558                                                                                                                                                —
Common stock issued as dividend (442 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                12                                                                                                                                                12
Conversion of preferred stock of subsidiary (Note 10)                                                                     340,000                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              340,000
Conversion of Limited Partner Units (958,997 Common Shares, Note 10)                                                                                                                                                                               10,880                                                                                                                                         10,880
Stock options exercised (400,026 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                     8,831                                                                                                                                           8,831
Series E and Series G Preferred Stock accretion                                                                                       342                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     342
Stock incentive program (454,726 Common Shares, net)                                                                                                                                                                                                          11,827                                                             (11,827)                                                                     —
Amortization of stock incentive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          11,512                                                               11,512
Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            (259)                                                                                                                                           (259)
Transfer out of limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships                                                                                                                                                                                        1,262                                                                                                                                           1,262
Distributions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                (101)                      (411,515)                                                                                              (411,616)
Other comprehensive income (Note 5)                                                                                                                                                                                                 (9,893 )                                                                                                                                                                              (9,893)
Net income                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   199,149                                                                                                 199,149
Balance at December 31, 2001                                                                                                     $ 877,468                     $      18                                                   $ (9,893 )                   $3,347,567                     $ (927,654)                    $(20,297)                   $(52,518)                    $3,214,691

Series A Preferred stock conversion (1,893,651 Common Shares)                                                     (63,688)                                                                                                                        63,688                                                                                                                                             —
Common stock issued as dividend (19,375 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                         653                                                                                                                                           653
Conversion of Limited Partner Units (173,442 Common Shares, Note 10)                                                                                                                                                                                 5,709                                                                                                                                        5,709
Common stock issued (9,000,000 Common Shares)                                                                                                                    1                                                                                       322,199                                                                                                                                    322,200
Stock options exercised (671,836 Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                                  15,740                                                                                                                                      15,740
Series E and Series G Preferred Stock accretion                                                                                       474                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                474
Stock incentive program (-21,070 Forfeited Common Shares)                                                                                                                                                                                                      (604)                                                                 604                                                                     —
Amortization of stock incentive                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            8,957                                                                8,957
Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              399                                                                                                                                              399
Transfer out of limited partners’ interest in the Operating Partnerships                                                                                                                                                                                    (69,190)                                                                                                                                    (69,190)
Distributions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              (456,272)                                                                                             (456,272)
Other comprehensive income (Note 5)                                                                                                                                                                                                  1,784                                                                                                                                                                             1,784
Net income                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   422,588                                                                                               422,588
Balance at December 31, 2002                                                                                                     $814,254                     $      19                                                  $ (8,109 )                  $3,686,161                   $(961,338)                    $(10,736)                  $(52,518)                   $3,467,733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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1. Organization

  Simon Property Group, Inc. (“Simon Property”) is a Delaware corporation that operates as a self-administered and self-
managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”). Simon Property Group, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”) is a majority-owned 
partnership subsidiary of Simon Property that owns all but one of our real estate properties. In these notes, the terms “we”, “us” 
and “our” refer to Simon Property, the Operating Partnership, and their subsidiaries.

  We are engaged primarily in the ownership, operation, leasing, management, acquisition, expansion and development 
of real estate properties. Our real estate properties consist primarily of regional malls and community shopping centers. As of 
December 31, 2002, we owned or held an interest in 246 income-producing properties in the United States, which consisted 
of 173 regional malls, 68 community shopping centers, and five office and mixed-use properties in 36 states (collectively, the 
“Properties”, and individually, a “Property”). Mixed-use properties are properties that include a combination of retail space, office 
space, and/or hotel components. We also own interests in four parcels of land held for future development (together with the 
Properties, the “Portfolio”). In addition, we have ownership interests in other real estate assets and ownership interests in eight retail 
real estate properties operating in Europe and Canada. Leases from retail tenants generate the majority of our revenues including:

  ● Base minimum rents and cart and kiosk rentals,
  ● Overage and percentage rents based on tenants’ sales volume, and 
  ● Recoveries of our recoverable expenditures which consist of property operating, real estate tax, repairs and 

maintenance, and advertising and promotional expenditures.

  We also generate revenues due to our size and tenant relationships from:

  ● Pursuing mall marketing initiatives, including the sale of gift certificates and gift cards, 
  ● Forming consumer focused strategic corporate alliances, and 
  ● Offering property operating services to our tenants and others resulting from our relationships with vendors.

  M.S. Management Associates, Inc. (the “Management Company”) provides leasing, management, and development 
services to most of the Properties. In addition, insurance subsidiaries of the Management Company reinsure the self-insured 
retention portion of our general liability and workers’ compensation programs. Third party providers provide coverage above the 
insurance subsidiaries’ limits. 
  We are subject to risks incidental to the ownership and operation of commercial real estate. These risks include, among 
others, the risks normally associated with changes in the general economic climate, trends in the retail industry, creditworthiness 
of tenants, competition for tenants and customers, changes in tax laws, interest rate levels, the availability of financing, and 
potential liability under environmental and other laws. Our regional malls and community shopping centers rely heavily upon 
anchor tenants like most retail properties. Three retailers’ anchor stores occupied 336 of the approximately 933 anchor stores in 
the Properties as of December 31, 2002. An affiliate of one of these retailers is a limited partner in the Operating Partnership. 
 
  Structural Simplification 
  During 2002, we continued to simplify our organizational structure by merging SPG Realty Consultants, Inc. (“SPG 
Realty”) into Simon Property, ending our “paired share” REIT structure resulting from our combination with Corporate Property 
Investors, Inc. All of the outstanding stock of SPG Realty was previously held in trust for the benefit of the holders of common 
stock of Simon Property. As a result of the merger, our stockholders who were previously the beneficial owners of the SPG Realty 
stock are now, by virtue of their ownership of our common stock, the owners of the assets and operations formerly owned or 
conducted by SPG Realty.

  On January 1, 2003, the Operating Partnership acquired all of the remaining equity interests of the Management 
Company from three Simon family members for a total purchase price of $425, which was equal to the appraised value of the 
interests as determined by an independent third party. The acquisition was approved by our independent directors. As a result, the 
Management Company is now a wholly owned consolidated taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) of the Operating Partnership. See 
Note 7 for further discussion of the operations of the Management Company.
 

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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2. Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

  The accompanying financial statements of Simon Property include Simon Property and its subsidiaries. Simon Property 
and SPG Realty were entities under common control and, accordingly, we accounted for the merger of SPG Realty into Simon 
Property on December 31, 2002 similar to a pooling of interests. The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of SPG Realty 
have been combined with Simon Property at their historical amounts. The accompanying balance sheets and related disclosures 
in these notes to financial statements represent the merged balance sheet of Simon Property as of December 31, 2002 and the 
combined balance sheets of Simon Property and SPG Realty as of December 31, 2001. In addition, the statements of operations 
and comprehensive income, statements of cash flows, statements of shareholders equity and related disclosures in these notes to 
financial statements represent the combined results of Simon Property and SPG Realty for all periods presented. We eliminated all 
significant intercompany amounts.

  We consolidate Properties that are wholly owned or Properties that we own less than 100% but we control. Control of a 
Property is demonstrated by our ability to:

  ● manage day-to-day operations, 
  ● refinance debt and sell the Property without the consent of any other partner or owner, and 
  ● the inability of any other partner or owner to replace us. 

  The deficit minority interest balances in the accompanying balance sheets represent outside partners’ interests in the net 
equity of certain properties. We record deficit minority interests when a joint venture agreement provides for the settlement of 
deficit capital accounts before distributing the proceeds from the sale of joint venture assets, the joint venture partner is obligated 
to make additional contributions to the extent of any capital account deficits and the joint venture partner has the ability to fund 
such additional contributions.

  Investments in partnerships and joint ventures represent noncontrolling ownership interests in Properties and our 
investment in the Management Company. We account for these investments using the equity method of accounting. We initially 
record these investments at cost and we subsequently adjust for net equity in income or loss, which we allocate in accordance with 
the provisions of the applicable partnership or joint venture agreement, and cash contributions and distributions. The allocation 
provisions in the partnership or joint venture agreements are not always consistent with the legal ownership interests held by each 
general or limited partner or joint venturer primarily due to partner preferences. 
  As of December 31, 2002, of our 246 Properties we consolidated 164 wholly-owned Properties, consolidated 14 less than 
wholly owned Properties which we control, and accounted for 68 Properties using the equity method. We manage the day-to-day 
operations of 59 of the 68 equity method Properties.

  We allocate net operating results of the Operating Partnerships after preferred distributions (see Note 10) based on the 
general partners’, Simon Property’s (and formerly SPG Realty’s), and the limited partners’ respective ownership interests. Our 
weighted average direct and indirect ownership interest in the Operating Partnerships were as follows:

 For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                        2002                     2001                     2000

                                                                                                                                        73.6%            72.5%              72.4%

  Simon Property’s direct and indirect ownership interests in the Operating Partnerships at December 31, 2002 was 74.3% 
and at December 31, 2001 was 72.9%.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

      Investment Properties and Goodwill

      We record investment properties at cost or predecessor cost for Properties acquired from certain of the Operating 
Partnership’s unitholders. Investment properties include costs of acquisitions; development, predevelopment, and construction 
(including salaries and related benefits); tenant allowances and improvements; and interest and real estate taxes incurred 
related to construction. We capitalize improvements and replacements from repair and maintenance when the repairs and 
maintenance extend the useful life, increase capacity, or improve the efficiency of the asset. All other repair and maintenance 
items are expensed as incurred. We record depreciation on buildings and improvements utilizing the straight-line method over 
an estimated original useful life, which is generally 35 years. We review depreciable lives of investment properties periodically 
and we make adjustments when necessary to reflect a shorter economic life. We record depreciation on tenant allowances, 
tenant inducements and tenant improvements utilizing the straight-line method over the term of the related lease. We record 
depreciation on equipment and fixtures utilizing the straight-line method over seven to ten years. 

      We review investment properties for impairment on a Property-by-Property basis whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of investment Properties may not be recoverable. These circumstances include, 
but are not limited to, declines in cash flows, occupancy and comparable sales per square foot at the Property. We recognize an 
impairment of investment property when the estimated undiscounted operating income before depreciation and amortization 
is less than the carrying value of the Property. To the extent impairment has occurred, we charge to income the excess of 
carrying value of the Property over its estimated fair value. We may decide to sell Properties that are held for use. The sale prices 
of these Properties may differ from their carrying values.

      In 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” that supersedes 
SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of.” SFAS 
No. 144 supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations—
Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events 
and Transactions” for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS No. 144 provides a framework for the evaluation of 
impairment of long-lived assets, the treatment for assets held for sale or to be otherwise disposed of, and the reporting of 
discontinued operations. SFAS No. 144 requires us to reclassify any material operations related to consolidated properties sold 
during the period that were not classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2001 to discontinued operations. In 2002, there 
were no material effects upon our adoption of this pronouncement.

       Goodwill resulted from our merger with Corporate Property Investors, Inc. in 1998. We adopted SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill 
and Other Intangibles” on January 1, 2002 and as a result we ceased amortizing goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142 
which was approximately $1.2 million annually. The impact of adopting SFAS No. 142 resulted in no impairment of our 
goodwill. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we review goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis 
or more frequently if an event occurs that would change the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. If we 
determine the reporting unit is impaired, the loss would be recognized as an impairment loss in income. 

       Cash and Cash Equivalents
  We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less cash and cash equivalents. 

Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates market value. Cash equivalents generally consist of commercial paper, 
bankers acceptances, Eurodollars, repurchase agreements, and money markets. Our balance of unrestricted cash and cash 
equivalents includes a balance of $171.2 million related to our gift certificate program which we do not consider available for 
general working capital purposes. See Notes 4, 7, 10, and 12 for disclosures about non-cash investing and financing transactions.

       Use of Estimates
      We prepared the accompanying financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States (“GAAP”). GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and revenues and expenses during 
the reported period. Our actual results could differ from these estimates. 

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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       Capitalized Interest

      We capitalize interest on projects during periods of construction until the projects are ready for their intended purpose. The 
amount of interest capitalized during each year is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                        2002                     2001                     2000

                                                                                                                                     $ 4,249         $  9,807         $  19,831

  Segment Disclosure

  Our interests in our regional malls, community centers and other assets represent one segment because we base our resource 
allocation and other operating decisions on the evaluation of the entire Portfolio.

  Deferred Costs and Debt Premiums and Discounts

  Our deferred costs consist primarily of financing fees we incurred in order to obtain long-term financing and internal and 
external leasing commissions and related costs. We record amortization of deferred financing costs on a straight-line basis over 
the terms of the respective loans or agreements. Our deferred leasing costs consist primarily of capitalized salaries and related 
benefits in connection with lease originations. We record amortization of deferred leasing costs on a straight-line basis over the 
terms of the related leases. We amortize debt premiums and discounts over the remaining terms of the related debt instruments. 
These debt premiums or discounts arise either at the debt issuance or as part of the purchase price allocation of the fair value 
of debt assumed in acquisitions. Net deferred costs of $149,748 as of December 31, 2002 are net of accumulated amortization 
of $194,893 and net deferred costs of $142,983 as of December 31, 2001 are net of accumulated amortization of $180,153.

  The accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income includes amortization as follows: 

For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                       2002                     2001                     2000

             Amortization of deferred financing costs                                                          $17,079         $16,513         $  15,798
             Amortization of debt premiums net of discounts                                             $ (2,269)        $ (5,178)        $   (5,391)
             Amortization of deferred leasing costs                                                              $17,255         $15,167         $  11,736

  We record amortization of deferred financing costs, amortization of premiums, and accretion of discounts as part of interest 
expense. 

  Derivative Financial Instruments 
  On January 1, 2001 we adopted SFAS 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended 

by SFAS 138, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” On adoption, we recorded the difference 
between the fair value of the derivative instruments and the previous carrying amount of those derivatives on our balance 
sheets and in net income or other comprehensive income, as appropriate, as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle in accordance with APB 20 “Accounting Changes.” On adoption, we recorded $2.0 million of unrecognized losses 
in other comprehensive income as a cumulative effect of accounting change. We also recorded an expense of $1.7 million as a 
cumulative effect of accounting change in the statement of operations, which includes our $1.5 million share of joint venture 
cumulative effect of accounting change.

  We use a variety of derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business to manage or hedge the risks described 
in Note 8 and record all derivatives on our balance sheets at fair value. We require that hedging derivative instruments are 
effective in reducing the risk exposure that they are designated to hedge. We formally designate any instrument that meets these 
hedging criteria as a hedge at the inception of the derivative contract. 

  We adjust our balance sheets on an ongoing basis to reflect the current fair market value of our derivatives. We record changes 
in the fair value of these derivatives each period in earnings or comprehensive income, as appropriate. The ineffective portion 
of the hedge is immediately recognized in earnings to the extent that the change in value of a derivative does not perfectly offset 
the change in value of the instrument being hedged. The unrealized gains and losses held in accumulated other comprehensive 
income will be reclassified to earnings over time and occurs when the hedged items are also recognized in earnings. We have a 
policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon their credit ratings and other factors.
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  We use standard market conventions to determine the fair values of derivative instruments and techniques such as discounted 
cash flow analysis, option pricing models, and termination cost are used to determine fair value at each balance sheet date. All 
methods of assessing fair value result in a general approximation of value and such value may never actually be realized.

  Revenue Recognition

  We, as a lessor, retain substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the investment properties and account 
for our leases as operating leases. We accrue minimum rents on a straight-line basis over the terms of their respective leases. 
Substantially all of our retail tenants are also required to pay overage rents based on sales over a stated base amount during the 
lease year. Beginning January 1, 2000 in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB 101”), we recognize overage 
rents only when each tenant’s sales exceeds its sales threshold. Upon adoption of SAB 101, we recognized a cumulative effect of 
accounting change of $12.3 million. We previously recognized overage rents as revenues based on reported and estimated sales 
for each tenant through December 31, less the applicable base sales amount.

  We structure our leases to allow us to recover a significant portion of our property operating, real estate taxes, repairs and 
maintenance, and advertising and promotion expenses from our tenants. Property operating expenses typically include utility, 
insurance, security, janitorial, landscaping, food court and other administrative expenses. Our advertising and promotional 
costs are expensed as incurred. We accrue reimbursements from tenants for recoverable portions of all these expenses as 
revenue in the period the applicable expenditures are incurred. We also receive escrow payments for these reimbursements 
from substantially all our tenants throughout the year. We do this to reduce the risk of loss on uncollectible accounts once we 
perform the final year end billings for recoverable expenditures. We recognize differences between estimated recoveries and the 
final billed amounts in the subsequent year.

  Allowance for Credit Losses

  We record a provision for credit losses based on our judgment of a tenant’s creditworthiness, ability to pay and probability 
of collection. In addition, we also consider the retail sector in which the tenant operates and our historical collection experience 
in cases of bankruptcy, if applicable. Presented below is the activity in the allowance for credit losses during the following years 
ended:

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                           2002                            2001                            2000

       Balance at Beginning of Year                                                                  $ 24,682              $ 20,108              $ 14,467
       Provision for Credit Losses                                                                          8,972                   8,415                   9,644
       Accounts Written Off                                                                            (13,164)                 (3,841)                 (4,003)
       Balance at End of Year                                                                           $ 20,490              $ 24,682              $ 20,108

  Income Taxes

  Simon Property and a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership are taxed as REITs under Sections 856 through 860 of the 
Code and applicable Treasury regulations relating to REIT qualification. These regulations require us to distribute at least 90% 
of our taxable income to shareholders and meet certain other asset and income tests as well as other requirements. We intend 
to continue to adhere to these requirements and maintain the REIT status of Simon Property and the REIT subsidiary. As 
REITs, these entities will generally not be liable for federal corporate income taxes. Thus, we made no provision for federal 
income taxes for these entities in the accompanying financial statements. If any of these entities fails to qualify as a REIT in 
any taxable year, that entity will be subject to federal income taxes on its taxable income at regular corporate tax rates for a 
four year period following the year the entities fail to qualify as a REIT. That entity may reapply for REIT status at that point. 
State income, franchise or other taxes were not significant in any of the periods presented. We have also elected taxable REIT 
subsidiary (“TRS”) status for some of our subsidiaries. This enables us to receive income and provide services that would be 
otherwise impermissible for REITs.

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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  Per Share Data

  We base basic earnings per share on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. 
We base diluted earnings per share on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding combined with 
the incremental weighted average shares that would have been outstanding assuming all dilutive potential common shares were 
converted into shares at the earliest date possible. The following table sets forth the computation for our basic and diluted 
earnings per share. The income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of accounting change, extraordinary items, 
cumulative effect of accounting change, and income effect of dilutive securities amounts presented in the reconciliation below 
represent the common shareholders’ pro rata share of the respective line items in the statements of operations.

               For the Year Ended December 31, 2002                                  2001                                  2000

       Common Shareholders’ share of:
       Income before extraordinary items and cumulative
        effect of accounting change $ 347,852  $ 148,904  $ 195,932
       Extraordinary items  10,535   118   (470 )
       Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   (1,233 )  (8,934 )
       Net income available to Common Shareholders–Basic $ 358,387  $ 147,789  $ 186,528

       Effect of Dilutive Securities:
       Dilutive convertible preferred stock dividends $ 1,085  $ —  $ —
       Impact to General Partner’s interest in Operating 
        Partnership from all dilutive securities and options  834   —   —
       Net income available to Common Shareholders–Diluted $ 360,306  $ 147,789  $ 186,528

       Weighted Average Shares Outstanding–Basic 179,910,355   172,669,133  172,894,555
       Effect of stock options  671,972   358,414   99,538
       Effect of convertible preferred stock  918,615   —   —
       Weighted Average Shares Outstanding–Diluted 181,500,942   173,027,547  172,994,093

       Basic per share amounts:
       Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect
        of accounting change $ 1.93  $ 0.87  $ 1.13
       Extraordinary items  0.06   —   —
       Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   (0.01 )  (0.05 )
       Net income available to Common Shareholders–Basic $ 1.99  $ 0.86  $ 1.08

       Diluted per share amounts:
       Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect
        of accounting change $ 1.93  $ 0.86  $ 1.13
       Extraordinary items  0.06   —   —
       Cumulative effect of accounting change  —   (0.01 )  (0.05 )
       Net income available to Common Shareholders–Dilutive $ 1.99  $ 0.85  $ 1.08
       
  The Series A convertible preferred stock was dilutive in 2002. Our other potentially dilutive securities include the Series 

B convertible preferred stock, the limited partner preferred units of the Operating Partnership, and the Units held by limited 
partners in the Operating Partnership, all of which did not have a dilutive effect in any period presented. 
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  We accrue distributions when they are declared. The taxable nature of the dividends declared for each of the years ended as 
indicated is summarized as follows:

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                            2002                            2001                           2000

           Total dividends paid per share                                                                $   2.175              $     2.08              $     2.02

            Percent taxable as ordinary income                                                          58.0%                  71.0%                  36.0%
            Percent taxable as long-term capital gains                                                 36.6%                    3.1%                  11.0%
            Percent taxable as unrecaptured Section 1250 gains                                   5.4%                    0.9%                    4.0%
            Percent non-taxable as return of capital                                                      0.0%                  25.0%                  49.0%
                                                                                                                          100.0%                100.0%                100.0%

  Accounting for Stock Options

  As permitted by SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”, we changed our accounting policy with 
respect to stock options. We will expense the fair value of stock options awarded as compensation expense over the vesting 
period for options issued after January 1, 2002, both in accordance with the adoption provisions of SFAS 123. We issued 
24,000 options in 2002 and the impact of this change was not material.

  Reclassifications

  We made certain reclassifications of prior period amounts in the financial statements to conform to the 2002 presentation. 
We reclassified distributions from unconsolidated entities that represent return on investments in the statements of cash flows 
to “net cash provided by operating activities” from “net cash used in investing activities” for all periods presented. “Distributions 
of capital from unconsolidated entities” represent cash distributions from operations in excess of net income and financing 
activities. In addition, we reclassified distributions to minority interest owners of consolidated properties in the statements of 
cash flows to “net cash provided by operating activities” from “net cash provided by (used in) financing activities” for all periods 
presented. These reclassifications have no impact on the net income previously reported. 

4.   Other Real Estate Acquisitions, Disposals, and Impairment

           Acquisitions 
  On May 3, 2002, we purchased, jointly with Westfield America Trust and The Rouse Company, the partnership interests 

of Rodamco North America N.V. (“Rodamco”) and its affiliates through the acquisition of Rodamco stock. Our portion of the 
acquisition includes the purchase of the remaining partnership interests in four of our existing joint venture Properties, new 
partnership interests in nine additional Properties, and other partnership interests and assets. We acquired these partnership 
interests as part of our acquisition strategy to acquire and own quality retail real estate thereby enhancing our overall Portfolio. 
The results of operations for the partnership interests acquired have been included in our results of operations from May 3, 
2002 to December 31, 2002.

  The purchase price was €2.5 billion for the 45.1 million outstanding shares of Rodamco stock, or €55 per share, and the 
assumption of certain Rodamco obligations. Our share of the total purchase price was approximately $1.6 billion, including 
€795.0 million or $720.7 million to acquire Rodamco shares, the assumption of $579 million of debt and preferred units, 
and cash of $268.8 million to pay off our share of corporate level debt and unwind interest rate swap agreements. The values 
assigned to the assets or partnership interests acquired were determined using traditional real estate valuation methodologies. In 
addition, we assessed the market value of in-place leases based upon our best estimate of current market rents and will amortize 
the resulting market rent adjustment into revenues over the remaining average term of the acquired in-place leases.

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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  We, and the Management Company, hold the other Rodamco partnership interests and assets jointly with The Rouse 
Company and Westfield America Trust. We account for these assets under the equity method. These include an interest in a 
retail real estate partnership, two notes receivable, an interest in a hotel, and three other retail properties. Some of these assets 
were considered held for sale and amounted to approximately $8 million. We sold two of the other retail properties in 2002 
for no gain or loss for approximately $4.4 million. Our share of the carrying amount of the remaining asset held for sale is less 
than $4.0 million as of December 31, 2002. We, along with The Rouse Company and Westfield America Trust, are actively 
marketing the remaining asset and we expect it to be sold within one year.

  In connection with the Rodamco acquisition we entered into a series of hedging transactions to manage our €795 million 
exposure to fluctuations in the Euro currency, all of which were closed out at the completion of the acquisition. Our total net 
gains were $7.1 million on the hedging activities.

  We financed a portion of the Rodamco acquisition through the sale of two partnership interests acquired as part of the 
Rodamco acquisition and an existing partnership interest to Teacher’s Insurance and Annuity Association (“Teachers”). We sold 
these partnership interests for approximately $391.7 million, including approximately $198.0 million of cash and approximately 
$193.7 million of debt assumed. Our sale of the existing partnership interest resulted in a net gain of $25.7 million.

   As a result of the Rodamco acquisition and the Teachers transaction, we consolidated five new partnerships and account 
for six new partnerships as joint ventures.

  On July 19, 2002, we purchased the remaining two-thirds interest in Copley Place (we had acquired our initial interest in 
the Rodamco acquisition) for $241.4 million, including $118.3 million in cash and the assumption of $123.1 million of debt. 
We funded the acquisition with borrowings from our existing Credit Facility (Note 8). As a result of this transaction, we have 
consolidated the results of operations of Copley Place from July 19, 2002 to December 31, 2002.

  On October 1, 2001, we purchased a 50% interest in Fashion Valley Mall located in San Diego, California for a purchase 
price of $165.0 million which includes our share of a $200.0 million, seven year mortgage at a fixed rate of 6.5% issued 
concurrent with the acquisition by the partnership owning the property. We also assumed management responsibilities for this 
1.7 million square foot open-air, super-regional mall.

  On August 20, 2001, we acquired an additional 21.46% interest in the Fashion Centre at Pentagon City for a total of $77.5 
million. Concurrent with the acquisition the partnership owning the property issued $200.0 million of debt and we assumed 
our pro rata share of this debt. 

  Subsequent to December 31, 2002, our limited partner in The Forum Shops at Caesars in Las Vegas, NV initiated the 
buy/sell provision of the partnership agreement. We have elected to purchase this interest for $174.0 million and to assume our 
partner’s existing share of $175.0 million in debt. 

           Disposals 
  On April 1, 2002, we sold our interest in Orlando Premium Outlets, one of our joint venture Properties, for a gross sales 

price of $76.3 million, including cash of $46.6 million and the assumption of our 50% share of $59.1 million of joint venture 
debt, resulting in a net gain of $39.0 million. 

  In addition, on May 31, 2002, we sold our interests in the five joint venture value-oriented super-regional malls to the 
Mills Corporation, who was our partner in these Properties and who managed these joint ventures. We disposed of these joint 
venture interests in order to fund a portion of the Rodamco acquisition. We sold these joint venture interests for approximately 
$424.3 million including $150.9 million of cash and the assumption of approximately $273.4 million of joint venture debt. 
The transaction resulted in a gain of $123.3 million. We were also relieved of all guarantees of the indebtedness related to these 
five Properties. In connection with this transaction, the Management Company also sold its land partnership interests for $24.1 
million that resulted in our $8.4 million share of gains, net of tax, recorded in income from unconsolidated entities. Also during 
2002, we made the decision to no longer pursue certain development projects. As a result, we wrote-off the carrying amount 
of our predevelopment costs and land acquisition costs associated with these projects in the amount of $17.1 million, which is 
included in “gains on sales of assets and other, net” in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income.
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  During 2002, we disposed of seven of our nine assets held for sale as of December 31, 2001 as discussed below under 
impairment. The seven assets disposed included three community centers and four regional malls. The three community 
centers and two of the regional malls were sold for a net sales price of $28.1 million resulting in a net loss of $7.0 million. In 
addition, we negotiated with the lenders the sale of our interests in one regional mall to a third party resulting in net proceeds 
of $3.6 million and deeded one regional mall to the lender in satisfaction of the outstanding mortgage indebtedness. The two 
regional malls were encumbered with $52.2 million of indebtedness. The net impact of these two transactions resulted in a net 
gain on debt forgiveness of $16.1 million that is reflected in extraordinary items in the accompanying statements of operations 
and comprehensive income. The total carrying amount of the two remaining assets held for sale was $10.6 million at December 
31, 2002.

  We sold ownership interests in Properties during each of the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 presented in the 
accompanying financial statements. The disposals consisted of and resulted in the following:

(in millions) Type (number of properties)                                                        Net Proceeds Gain (Loss)

 2001 Community center (1), regional mall (1) and office building (1) $ 19.6  $ 2.6

 2000 Community center (4), regional mall (2) and office building (1) $ 114.6  $ 19.7  

 In January 2003, we sold four Properties with a carrying amount of $27.4 million for a gain. The Properties’ cash flows 
and results of operations were not material to our cash flows and results of operations and their removal from service will not 
materially affect our ongoing operations.

  Impairment 
  In 2001, in connection with our anticipated disposal of nine Properties identified as held for sale we recorded a $47.0 

million expense for the impairment. As discussed above, we disposed of seven of the nine assets held for sale in 2002. In general, 
the overall decline in the economy has caused tenants to vacate space at certain non-core Properties decreasing occupancy rates 
and leading to declines in the fair values of these assets due to decreased profitability. In addition, we committed to a plan to 
dispose of these assets. We estimated the impairment of these assets using a combination of cap rate analysis and discounted 
cash flows from the individual Properties’ operations as well as contract prices, if applicable. The nine properties’ cash flows 
and results of operations were not material to our cash flows and results of operations and their removal from service will not 
materially affect our ongoing operations. The total carrying amounts of these properties were $87.2 million at December 31, 
2001 and were included in investment properties. 

  We also recorded a $10.6 million expense for the impairment of two Properties for the year ended December 31, 2000 for 
the same reasons discussed above. We sold these two properties in 2001. 

  We wrote off miscellaneous technology and other investments of $2.7 million in 2002, $5.7 million in 2001, and $3.0 
million in 2000, all of which were included in other expense in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive 
income. In addition, in 2001 the Management Company decided to postpone further development of clixnmortar, a 
technology investment. As a result, the Management Company wrote off its investment in clixnmortar of which our share was 
a net $13.9 million. 

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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5.   Pro Forma and balance Sheet Data

           The following unaudited pro forma summary financial information combines the consolidated results of Simon Property 
as if the following transactions had occurred on January 1, 2001 and were carried forward through December 31, 2002: 

  ● the Rodamco acquisition and acquisition of the remaining two-thirds ownership interest in Copley Place
  ● the sale of partnership interests to Teachers 
  ● the sale of our interests in five value oriented super-regional malls to Mills Corporation
  ● the issuance of 9,000,000 shares of common stock, and 
  ● the remaining proceeds necessary to fund these acquisitions was permanently financed by a portion of the issuance of  

  $500.0 million of debt issued on August 21, 2002

  We prepared the unaudited pro forma summary information based upon assumptions we deemed appropriate. The pro 
forma summary information is not necessarily indicative of the results which actually would have occurred if the Rodamco 
acquisition had been consummated at January 1, 2001, nor does it purport to represent the results of operations for future 
periods.

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                                        2002(1)                        2001(2)

           Total revenue                                                                                                               $  2,250,516          $  2,202,238
            Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of
              accounting change                                                                                                    $     549,344          $     294,306
            Income before allocation to limited partners (1)                                                           $     563,650          $     292,769
            Net income available to common shareholders                                                             $     362,179          $     158,661
            Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of accounting
             change per share – basic                                                                                             $           1.91          $           0.88
            Income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of accounting
             change per share – diluted                                                                                          $           1.90          $           0.88
            Net income available to common shareholders per share – basic                                  $           1.96          $           0.87
            Net income available to common shareholders per share – diluted                               $           1.96          $           0.87

        (1) The pro forma results of operations for 2002 presented above include the impact of the gains on asset sales, net, which are described in Note 4.

        (2) The pro forma results of operations for 2001 presented above include the impact of the impairment on investment properties, which is described in Note 4.
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  The following summarized balance sheet represents the impact of the Rodamco acquisition and the acquisition of the 
remaining two-thirds interest in Copley Place:

                For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                                        2002                                 

 Investment properties, at cost                                                                                      $  1,110,120           
 Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                     9,272           
 Tenant receivables                                                                                                                 8,786           
 Investment in unconsolidated entities                                                                               518,390           
 Deferred costs, other assets, and minority interest                                                               25,537           
 Notes and advances from the Management Company and affiliates                                    26,433
  Total assets                                                                                                         $  1,698,538
 
 Mortgages and other indebtedness                                                                              $     458,897           
 Accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued environmental, severance
  and other expenses                                                                                                          108,356           
 Other liabilities                                                                                                                     8,326
  Total liabilities                                                                                                    $     575,579

6.   Investment Properties

       Investment properties consist of the following:

               December 31,                                                                                                                                                       2002                             2001

            Land                                                                                                                           $  2,028,285          $  1,987,364
            Buildings and improvements                                                                                        12,101,454            11,107,641
            Total land, buildings and improvements                                                                      14,129,739            13,095,005
            Furniture, fixtures and equipment                                                                                    119,876                   99,391
            Investment properties at cost                                                                                        14,129,615            13,194,396
            Less—accumulated depreciation                                                                                    2,222,242              1,877,175
            Investment properties at cost, net                                                                                $12,027,373          $11,317,221

            Construction in progress included in investment properties                                        $     137,785          $     111,218

7.   Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

       Joint ventures are common in the real estate industry. We use joint ventures to finance certain properties and to diversify our 
risk in a particular asset or trade area. We may also use joint ventures in the development of new properties. We held joint venture 
ownership interests in 68 Properties as of December 31, 2002 and in 70 Properties as of December 31, 2001. As discussed in 
Note 2, since we do not fully control these joint venture Properties, our accounting policy and accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States require that we account for these Properties on the equity method of accounting. Substantially all 
of our joint venture Properties are subject to rights of first refusal, buy-sell provisions, or other sale rights for all partners which 
are customary in real estate partnership agreements and the industry. Our partner in our joint ventures may initiate these provisions at 
any time, which will result in either the use of available cash or borrowings to acquire or dispose of the partnership interest.

       Summary financial information of the joint ventures and a summary of our investment in and share of income from such 
joint ventures follow. We condensed into separate line items, major captions of assets and liabilities as well as the statements 
of operations for joint venture interests sold or consolidated, when we have acquired an additional interest in a joint venture 
and have as a result, gained control of the Property. These line items include “Discontinued Joint Venture Interests” to present 
comparative balance sheets and results of operations for those joint venture interests held as of December 31, 2002.

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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       December 31,                                                                                                                                                               2002                             2001

      BALANCE SHEETS

     Assets:                                                                                                                                              
      Investment properties at cost                                                                                              $  8,160,065          $  6,958,470
      Less – accumulated depreciation                                                                                           1,327,751              1,070,594
                                                                                                                                                   6,832,314              5,887,876
      Net investment properties, at cost of Discounted Joint Venture Interests                                           —              1,002,274
      Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                        199,634                 167,173
     Tenant receivables                                                                                                                     199,675                 164,647
      Investment in unconsolidated entities                                                                                           6,966                          —
      Other assets                                                                                                                             190,561                 134,504
      Other assets of Discounted Joint Venture Interests                                                                            —                 101,868
                 Total assets                                                                                                             $  7,429,150          $  7,458,342                                                                                                                                                
     Liabilities and Partners’ Equity:                                                                                                           
      Mortgages and other notes payable                                                                                    $  5,306,465          $  4,721,711
      Mortgages of Discontinued Joint Venture Interests                                                                           —                 967,677
                                                                                                                                                   5,306,465              5,689,388
      Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and deferred revenue                                                       289,793                 191,440
      Other liabilities                                                                                                                          66,090                   85,137
      Other liabilities Discontinued Joint Venture Interests                                                                       —                   28,772
                 Total liabilities                                                                                                           5,662,348              5,994,737
      Preferred units                                                                                                                          125,000                          —
            Partners’ equity                                                                                                               1,641,802              1,463,605
                 Total liabilities and partners’ equity                                                                        $  7,429,150          $  7,458,342                                                                                                                                                
     Our Share of:                                                                                                                                       
     Total assets                                                                                                                         $  3,123,011          $  3,088,952
      Partners’ equity                                                                                                                  $     724,511          $     754,056
      Add: Excess Investment                                                                                                            831,728                 563,278
      Our net Investment in Joint Ventures                                                                                $  1,556,239          $  1,317,334
      Mortgages and other notes payable                                                                                    $  2,279,609          $  2,392,522
 
  “Excess Investment” represents the unamortized difference of our investment over our share of the equity in the underlying 

net asset of the joint ventures acquired. We amortize excess investment over the life of the related Properties, typically 35 years, 
and the amortization is included in income from unconsolidated entities. We periodically review our ability to recover the 
carrying values of our investments in the joint venture Properties. If we conclude that any portion of our investment, including 
the excess investment, is not recoverable, we record an adjustment to write off the unrecoverable amounts.
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  As of December 31, 2002, scheduled principal repayments on joint venture indebtedness were as follows:

                              2003                                                                                                              $   356,235
                              2004                                                                                                                   532,143
                              2005                                                                                                                   998,393
                              2006                                                                                                                   803,982
                              2007                                                                                                                   410,551
                              Thereafter                                                                                                        2,196,758
                              Total principal maturities                                                                                 5,298,062
                              Net unamortized debt premiums                                                                            8,403
                              Total mortgages and other notes payable                                                        $5,306,465

       This debt becomes due in installments over various terms extending through 2012 with interest rates ranging from 1.75% 
to 9.05% and a weighted average rate of 6.27% at December 31, 2002. 

       For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                 2002                           2001                           2000

      STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

     Revenue:                                                                                                                                           
            Minimum rent                                                                                     $  808,607          $   691,469         $   651,643
            Overage rent                                                                                              29,279                 25,640                 28,151
           Tenant reimbursements                                                                            409,925               349,134               333,887
            Other income                                                                                            55,409                 44,752                 43,668
                 Total revenue                                                                                  1,303,220            1,110,995            1,057,349
     Operating Expenses:                                                                                                                             
            Property operating                                                                                   210,800               182,489               173,075
            Depreciation and amortization                                                                234,775               203,910               193,755
            Real estate taxes                                                                                       126,660               112,309               116,629
            Repairs and maintenance                                                                           71,054                 51,689                 47,040
            Advertising and promotion                                                                        39,164                 36,405                 34,556
            Provision for credit losses                                                                             9,168                   5,070                   9,194
            Other                                                                                                         34,466                 20,583                 15,220
                 Total operating expenses                                                                     726,087               612,455               589,469
      Operating Income                                                                                          577,133               498,540               467,880
      Interest expense                                                                                              338,299               307,849               304,718
      Income Before Minority Interest and Unconsolidated Entities                      238,834               190,691               163,162
      Income from unconsolidated entities                                                                  3,062                        —                        —
      Minority interest                                                                                                  (751)                       —                        —
      Loss on Sale of Assets                                                                                              —                        —                  (6,990)
      Income From Continuing Operations                                                          241,145               190,691               156,172
      Income from Discontinued Joint Venture Interests                                          14,346                 32,562                 29,654
      Income Before Extraordinary Items and Cumulative Effect
      of Accounting Change (“IBEC”)                                                                 255,491               223,253               185,826
      Cumulative effect of Accounting Change                                                                —                  (3,011)                (3,948)
      Extraordinary Items – Debt Extinguishments                                                         —                     (295)                (1,842)
      Net Income                                                                                               $  255,491          $   219,947         $   180,036
     Third-Party Investors’ Share of IBEC                                                         $  150,161          $   134,748          $   107,833
      Simon Group’s Share of IBEC                                                                       105,330                 88,505                77,993
      Amortization of Excess Investment                                                                  26,635                 21,279                 20,972
      Income from Joint Ventures                                                                      $    78,695          $     67,226          $     57,021

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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            European Investment

  The Operating Partnership has a 33.0% ownership interest in European Retail Enterprises, B.V. (“ERE”), that is accounted 
for using the equity method of accounting. ERE also operates through a wholly-owned subsidiary Groupe BEG, S.A. (“BEG”). 
ERE and BEG are fully integrated European retail real estate developers, lessors and managers. Our total current investment 
in ERE and BEG, including subordinated debt, is approximately $75.2 million. The translation adjustment resulting from 
the conversion of BEG and ERE’s financial statements from Euros to U.S. dollars was not significant for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. The agreements with BEG and ERE are structured to allow us to acquire an additional 
28.3% ownership interest over time. The future commitments to purchase shares from three of the existing shareholders of 
ERE are based upon a multiple of adjusted results of operations in the year prior to the purchase of the shares. Therefore, the 
actual amount of these additional commitments may vary. The current estimated additional commitment is approximately $50 
million to purchase shares of stock of ERE, assuming that the three existing shareholders exercise their rights under put options. 
We expect these purchases to be made from 2004-2008. As of December 31, 2002, ERE and BEG had five Properties open in 
Poland and two in France. One additional property opened in France in February 2003. During the third quarter of 2001 the 
Management Company transferred its interest in ERE at its carrying value of $29.9 million, which approximated its fair value, 
to the Operating Partnership through the intercompany note to simplify the organizational structure. 

  The Management Company

  Through the Operating Partnership and as of December 31, 2002, we owned voting and non-voting common stock and 
three classes of participating preferred stock of the Management Company; however, 95% of the voting common stock was 
owned by three Simon family members. As of December 31, 2002 we accounted for our investment in the Management 
Company using the equity method of accounting, because we exercised significant influence but not control over the financial 
and operating policies of the Management Company. Our ownership interest and our note receivable from the Management 
Company entitled us to approximately 98% of the after-tax economic benefits of the Management Company’s operations. 

  The Management Company elected to become a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”) effective January 1, 2001. The 
Operating Partnership and the Management Company performed the following recapitalization transactions in order to 
implement our TRS strategy. The Operating Partnership contributed its ownership in clixnmortar, Inc. at its carrying value of 
$22.6 million, which approximated its fair value, and $0.4 million to the Management Company in exchange for 2,140 shares 
of 6% Cumulative Class B preferred stock of the Management Company on March 31, 2001. In addition, the Operating 
Partnership contributed $60.2 million of its note receivable from the Management Company in exchange for 5,600 shares 
of 6% Cumulative Class C preferred stock on December 31, 2001. The Operating Partnership’s economic ownership of the 
Management Company increased to approximately 98% from 90% as a result of these transactions. Finally, the Operating 
Partnership agreed to reduce the interest rate on the note receivable from the Management Company to 7% from 11% effective 
January 1, 2002 to more accurately reflect current interest rate conditions.  

  As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, amounts due from the Management Company for unpaid accrued interest and unpaid 
accrued preferred dividends were not material to the combined financial statements or to those of Simon Property. Included in 
other income, we recorded interest income and preferred dividends from the Management Company of the following: 

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                    2002                        2001                       2000

            Interest and preferred dividends                                                                   $ 13,620         $  13,638         $  13,140

       We incurred total costs on consolidated Properties related to services provided by the Management Company and its 
affiliates as follows: 

 For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                    2002                        2001                       2000

                                                                                                                                 $ 76,469         $  86,488         $  86,238
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  Common costs are allocated by the Management Company to us, based primarily on minimum and overage rent, using 
assumptions that we believe are reasonable. In addition, the Management Company also provides services to Melvin Simon & 
Associates, Inc. (“MSA”), and other non-owned properties for a fee. Fees for services provided by the Management Company 
and its affiliates to our unconsolidated joint ventures and MSA were as follows: 

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                    2002                        2001                       2000

            Fees charged to unconsolidated joint ventures                                              $ 67,092         $  55,717         $  61,332
            Fees charged to MSA                                                                                   $   3,225         $    4,249         $    4,246

  Summarized consolidated financial information of the Management Company and a summary of our investment in and 
share of income from the Management Company follows. The summary excludes the effects of the Management Company’s 
ownership of MerchantWired LLC.

               December 31,                                                                                                                                                                 2002                       2001

            BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
           Total assets $ 210,367  $ 232,024
            Notes payable to the Operating Partnership at 7%, due 2008, and advances  75,105   79,738
            Shareholders’ equity   54,562   75,948
                  
            Our share of total assets $ 208,347  $ 229,434
            Our net investment in the Management Company $ 95,517  $ 107,719

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                    2002                        2001                       2000

            OPERATING DATA:
           Total revenue                                                                                                $130,988         $108,302         $  87,442
            Operating (loss) income                                                                                  33,571              (5,526)            31,114
            Net income available for common shareholders excluding losses from
             MerchantWired LLC                                                                                  $ 30,552         $  14,474         $  35,890
            
            Our share of net income (loss) after intercompany profit elimination:
                Management Company income excluding losses from
                MerchantWired LLC                                                                              $ 14,116         $  15,365         $  30,846
                Losses from MerchantWired LLC                                                             (32,742)           (18,104)             (4,100)
           Total net income (loss)                                                                                  $ (18,626)        $   (2,739)        $  26,746

  The losses from MerchantWired LLC presented above and in the accompanying statements of operations and 
comprehensive income include our indirect share of the operating losses of MerchantWired LLC of $10.2 million, after a tax 
benefit of $6.2 million. The operating losses include our share of an impairment charge of $4.2 million, after tax. Finally, the 
losses from MerchantWired LLC include our indirect share of the write-off of the technology investment in MerchantWired 
LLC of $22.5 million, after a tax benefit of $9.4 million.

  The members of MerchantWired LLC, including the Management Company, agreed to sell their interests in MerchantWired 
LLC under the terms of a definitive agreement with Transaction Network Services, Inc (“TNSI”). The transaction was expected 
to close in the second quarter of 2002, but in June 2002, TNSI unexpectedly informed the members of MerchantWired LLC 
that it would not complete the transaction. As a result, MerchantWired LLC shut down its operations and transitioned its 
customers to alternate service providers, which was completed by September 3, 2002. Accordingly, the Management Company 
wrote-off its investment in and advances to MerchantWired LLC. This resulted in our $38.8 million share of a write-off before 
tax, $22.5 million net of tax, which includes a $7.0 million write-down in the carrying amount of the infrastructure, consisting 
of broadband cable and the related connections and routers (“Cable”). We have not made any, nor do we expect to make, 
additional cash contributions to MerchantWired LLC.

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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  We and the other members of MerchantWired LLC paid $49.5 million directly to a MerchantWired LLC vendor to 
purchase the Cable in satisfaction of a lease guarantee obligation, of which our share was $26.3 million. As a result, we now 
own and control the Cable in our properties. The amount of the Cable acquired totaled $19.3 million. The Cable was installed 
in both consolidated and joint venture Properties and is being amortized over four years. We are currently using the Cable for 
connectivity to our mall management offices and we are evaluating other opportunities to use the Cable, which may benefit 
our current and future operations, either directly or indirectly.

8.   Indebtedness and Derivative Financial Instruments

            Our mortgages and other notes payable consist of the following:

               December 31,                                                                                                                                                           2002                          2001

           Fixed-Rate Debt                                                                                                                           
            Mortgages and other notes, including net premiums of $29,683 and net discount of 
             $3,535 respectively. Weighted average interest and maturity of 7.3% and 7.0 years.       $2,602,640          $2,182,552

            Unsecured notes, including $17,770 and $17,167 net discounts, respectively.
             Weighted average interest and maturity of 6.9% and 5.0 years.                                      4,972,230            4,722,833

            63⁄4% Putable Asset Trust Securities, including $236 and $476 premiums,
             respectively, due November 2003.                                                                                       100,236               100,476

            7% Mandatory Par Put Remarketed Securities, including $5,011 and $5,083
             premiums, respectively, due June 2028 and subject to redemption June 2008.                   205,011               205,083

            Commercial mortgage pass-through certificates. Five classes bearing interest
             at weighted average rates and maturities of 7.3% and 2.0 years.                                         173,693               175,000

           Total fixed-rate debt                                                                                                          8,053,810            7,385,944
                  
           Variable-Rate Debt                                                                                                                           
            Mortgages and other notes, including $0 and $32 premiums, respectively.
             Weighted average interest and maturity of 3.1% and 2.0 years.                                      $   852,467          $   933,038

            Credit Facility (see below)                                                                                                    308,000               188,000

            Euro Facility (see below)                                                                                                        59,078                 50,202

            Commercial mortgage pass-through certificates, interest at 6.2%, due December 2004.        49,112                 50,000

            Unsecured term loans. Weighted average rates and maturities of 2.1% and 1.2 years.          215,000               237,929

           Total variable-rate debt                                                                                                      1,483,657            1,459,169

            Fair value interest rate swaps                                                                                                    8,614                  (3,735)

           Total mortgages and other notes payable, net                                                                   $9,546,081          $8,841,378

       General. We have pledged 73 Properties as collateral to secure related mortgage notes including 8 pools of cross-defaulted 
and cross-collateralized mortgages encumbering a total of 38 Properties. Under these cross-default provisions, a default under any 
mortgage included in the cross-defaulted package may constitute a default under all such mortgages and may lead to acceleration 
of the indebtedness due on each Property within the collateral package. Of our 73 encumbered Properties, indebtedness of 
44 of these encumbered Properties and our unsecured notes is subject to financial performance covenants relating to leverage 
ratios, annual real property appraisal requirements, debt service coverage ratios, minimum net worth ratios, debt-to-market 
capitalization, and/or minimum equity values. Our mortgages and notes payable may be prepaid but are generally subject to 
prepayment of a yield-maintenance premium.
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       Mortgages and Other Notes. The net book value of our 73 encumbered Properties was $4.1 billion at December 31, 2002. 
The fixed and variable mortgage notes are nonrecourse. The fixed-rate mortgages generally require monthly payments of 
principal and/or interest. Variable-rate mortgages are typically based on LIBOR.

 
       Some of the limited partner Unitholders guarantee a portion of our consolidated debt through foreclosure guarantees. In 

total, thirty-five limited partner Unitholders provide guarantees of foreclosure of $382.1 million of our consolidated debt at 17 
consolidated Properties. In each case, the loans were made by unrelated third party institutional lenders and the guarantees are 
for the benefit of each lender. In the event of foreclosure of the mortgaged property, the proceeds from the sale of the property 
are first applied against the amount of the guarantee and also reduce the amount payable under the guarantee. To the extent the 
sale proceeds from the disposal of the property do not cover the amount of the guarantee, then the Unitholder is liable to pay 
the difference between the sale proceeds and the amount of the guarantee so that the entire amount guaranteed to the lender 
is satisfied. The debt is non-recourse to us and our affiliates.

       On September 16, 2002, we issued $394.0 million of debt at a weighted average rate of 6.20% that is due on September 
16, 2012 and is secured by cross-collateralized mortgages encumbering 10 Properties. We used a portion of the $378.8 million 
of net proceeds from this issuance to pay off an existing 10 property mortgage pool of $225.5 million of debt that had staggered 
maturities from September 2002 to June 2003 with the majority of the debt due in March 2003. In addition, we used the 
remaining portion of the proceeds and available cash to pay off three individual Property mortgages totaling $169.9 million. 
As a result, five of the Properties from the existing 10 Property mortgage pool remain encumbered, five other Properties were 
unencumbered, the three previously individually mortgaged Properties remain encumbered, and two other Properties are now 
encumbered.

       On August 6, 2001, we issued $277.0 million of debt secured by four Properties at a fixed rate of 6.99% and issued $110.0 
million of debt encumbering one office complex at LIBOR plus 115 basis points. The proceeds from these transactions and 
excess cash flow were used to retire the third tranche totaling $435.0 million of the $1.4 billion credit facility (“CPI Facility”) 
that we used to finance our merger with Corporate Property Investors, Inc.

      
       Unsecured Notes. We have $835.0 million of unsecured notes that are structurally senior in right of payment to holders 

of other unsecured notes to the extent of the assets and related cash flows of certain Properties. These unsecured notes have 
a weighted average interest rate of 7.5% and weighted average maturities of 5.7 years. Certain of the unsecured notes are 
guaranteed by the Operating Partnership.

 
       On February 28, 2002, we refinanced a $150.0 million variable rate term loan, with essentially the same terms, and 

extending its maturity date to February 28, 2003 with our option to exercise a one-year extension of the maturity date.

       On March 15, 2002, we retired $250.0 million of 9% bonds with proceeds from our $1.25 billion unsecured corporate 
credit facility (the “Credit Facility”).

       On August 21, 2002, we issued $500.0 million of unsecured debt to institutional investors pursuant to Rule 144A in two 
tranches. Subsequent to December 31, 2002, our registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 related to an offer 
to exchange the notes of each series for registered notes with substantially identical economic terms was declared effective. 
The first tranche is $150.0 million bearing an interest rate of 5.375% due August 28, 2008 and the second tranche is $350.0 
million bearing an interest rate of 6.35% due August 28, 2012. The net proceeds of $495.4 million from the offering were used 
to pay off the $600.0 million acquisition credit facility and to reduce borrowings on the Credit Facility. 

       On January 11, 2001, we issued $500.0 million of unsecured debt to institutional investors pursuant to Rule 144A in two 
tranches. The first tranche is $300.0 million bearing an interest rate of 7 3⁄8% due January 20, 2006 and the second tranche is 
$200.0 million bearing an interest rate of 7 3⁄4% due January 20, 2011. The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay the 
remaining portion of the indebtedness under the CPI Facility.

       On October 26, 2001, we completed the sale of $750.0 million of 6.375% senior unsecured notes due November 15, 
2007. Net proceeds from the offering were initially used to reduce the outstanding balance of the Credit Facility. 

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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      Credit Facility. We refinanced the existing $1.25 billion unsecured revolving Credit Facility on April 16, 2002. As a 
result, the Credit Facility’s maturity date was extended to April 16, 2005 with a one-year extension of the maturity date 
available at our option. The Credit Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus 65 basis points and provides for different pricing 
based upon our corporate credit rating, with an additional 15 basis point facility fee on the entire $1.25 billion. We use the 
Credit Facility primarily for funding acquisition, renovation and expansion and predevelopment opportunities and general 
corporate purposes. The Credit Facility contains financial covenants relating to a capitalization value, minimum EBITDA and 
unencumbered EBITDA coverage ratio requirements and a minimum equity value.

               As of December 31,                                                                                                                                               2002                           2001

           Total Facility Amount                                                                                                  $1,250,000         $1,250,000
           Borrowings                                                                                                                     (308,000)            (188,000)
           Letters of credit                                                                                                                 (23,651)                (4,481)
           Remaining Availability                                                                                                 $  918,349         $1,057,519
           Effective Interest rate                                                                                                          2.03%                 2.53%
           Maximum borrowings during the period ended                                                           $  743,000         $   863,000
           Average borrowings during the period ended                                                               $  411,263         $   581,488

      Acquisition Facility. On May 1, 2002, in connection with the Rodamco acquisition described in Note 4, we secured a $600 
million 12-month acquisition credit facility that bore interest at LIBOR plus 65 basis points. The acquisition facility was paid 
off with proceeds of $174.8 million from the sale of our interests in five value oriented super-regional malls described in Note 
4, net proceeds of $322.2 million from the stock offering described in Note 10, $100.0 million from the $500.0 million senior 
note offering described above, and available cash.

      Euro Facility. On July 31, 2000, we entered into a Euro-denominated unsecured credit agreement to fund our European 
investment. This credit agreement consists of a €25 million term loan and a €35 million revolving credit facility. The interest 
rate for each loan is Euribor plus 60 basis points, with a facility fee of 15 basis points. The interest rate on 30 million Euros is 
swapped at 7.75%. The maturity date is July 31, 2003.

      Debt Maturity and Other
       Our scheduled principal repayments on indebtedness as of December 31, 2002, were as follows:

                                 2003                                                                                                      $   939,882
                                 2004                                                                                                        1,615,606
                                 2005                                                                                                           896,788
                                 2006                                                                                                        1,167,415
                                 2007                                                                                                        1,478,053
                                 Thereafter                                                                                                 3,422,564
                                 Total principal maturities                                                                          9,520,308
                                 Net unamortized debt discounts and other                                                    25,773
                                 Total mortgages and other notes payable                                                $9,546,081
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       Our cash paid for interest in each period, net of any amounts capitalized, was as follows:

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                    2002                        2001                       2000

                                                                                                                                 $591,328         $588,889         $646,200
  Derivative Financial Instruments 
  Our exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates primarily relates to our long-term debt obligations. We 

manage exposure to interest rate market risk through our risk management strategy by a combination of interest rate protection 
agreements to effectively fix or cap a portion of variable rate debt, or in the case of a fair value hedge, effectively convert fixed 
rate debt to variable rate debt. We are also exposed to foreign currency risk on financings of certain foreign operations. We 
have also entered into a foreign currency forward contract as part of our risk management strategy to manage foreign currency 
exchange risk. Our intent is to offset gains and losses that occur on the underlying exposures, with gains and losses on the 
derivative contracts hedging these exposures. We do not enter into either interest rate protection or foreign currency rate 
protection agreements for speculative purposes. 

  We may enter into treasury lock agreements as part of a anticipated debt issuance. If the anticipated transaction does not 
occur, the cost is charged into net income. Upon completion of the debt issuance, the cost of these instruments is recorded as 
part of accumulated other comprehensive income and is amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt agreement.

  As of December 31, 2002, we have reflected the fair value of outstanding consolidated derivatives in other assets for $11.0 
million, in other liabilities for $9.7 million, and in mortgages and other indebtedness of $8.6 million. In addition, we recorded 
the benefit from our treasury lock agreement in accumulated comprehensive income for $2.2 million. As of December 31, 
2002, our outstanding derivative contracts consist of:

 ● LIBOR based interest rate cap protection agreements with a notional amount of $296.9 million that mature from 
August 2003 to January 2005, 

 ● LIBOR and EURIBOR based fixed interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $562.3 million that mature 
from June 2003 to December 2004, and

 ● LIBOR based variable rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $675.0 million that mature in June 2003 and 
February 2004. 

  As of December 31, 2002, our joint ventures have derivative instruments consisting of interest rate cap agreements with a 
notional amount of $894.4 million that have an immaterial fair value and an interest rate lock agreement for a notional amount 
of $120.0 million and a fair value liability of $1.2 million. Within the next twelve months, we expect to reclassify to earnings 
approximately our $2.8 million share of expense of the current balance held in accumulated other comprehensive income.

  Fair Value of Financial Instruments
  The carrying value of our variable-rate mortgages and other loans approximates their fair values. We estimated the fair 

values of combined fixed-rate mortgages using cash flows discounted at current borrowing rates and other notes payable using 
cash flows discounted at current market rates. The fair values of financial instruments and our related discount rate assumptions 
used in the estimation of fair value for our consolidated fixed-rate mortgages and other notes payable are summarized as 
follows:

               December 31,                                                                                                                                                           2002                           2001

            Fair value of fixed-rate mortgages and other notes payable                                               $8,816,981          $7,909,049
            Discount rates assumed in calculation of fair value                                                                  4.41%                  6.86%

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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9.   Rentals under Operating Leases

       Future minimum rentals to be received under noncancelable tenant operating leases for each of the next five years and 
thereafter, excluding tenant reimbursements of operating expenses and percentage rent based on tenant sales volume, as of 
December 31, 2002, are as follows:

                                 2003                                                                                                      $1,103,205
                                 2004                                                                                                        1,009,176
                                 2005                                                                                                           909,294
                                 2006                                                                                                           804,410
                                 2007                                                                                                           683,426
                                 Thereafter                                                                                                 2,099,238
                                                                                                                                                $6,608,749

       Approximately 0.93% of future minimum rents to be received are attributable to leases with an affiliate of a limited partner 
in the Operating Partnership.

10. Capital Stock

       The Board of Directors is authorized to reclassify the excess common stock into one or more additional classes and series of 
capital stock to establish the number of shares in each class or series and to fix the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting 
powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, and qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption of such class or series, 
without any further vote or action by the shareholders. The issuance of additional classes or series of capital stock may have the 
effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Simon Property without further action of the shareholders. The 
ability of the Board of Directors to issue additional classes or series of capital stock, while providing flexibility in connection with 
possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, 
or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, a majority of the outstanding voting stock of Simon Property.

       The holders of common stock of Simon Property are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters 
submitted to a vote of shareholders, other than for the election of directors. The holders of Class B common stock are entitled 
to elect four of the thirteen members of the board. Shares of Class B common stock convert automatically into an equal 
number of shares of common stock upon the sale or transfer thereof to a person not affiliated with Melvin Simon, Herbert 
Simon or David Simon. The holder of the Class C common stock is entitled to elect two of the thirteen members of the board. 
Shares of Class C common stock convert automatically into an equal number of shares of common stock upon the sale or 
transfer thereof to a person not affiliated with the members of the DeBartolo family or entities controlled by them. The Class 
B and Class C shares can be converted into shares of common stock at the option of the holders. We have reserved 3,200,000 
and 4,000 shares of common stock for the possible conversion of the outstanding Class B and Class C shares, respectively.

      Common Stock Issuances

       On February 26, 2002, one holder of units in the Operating Partnership (“Units’) converted 100,000 Units into 100,000 
shares of common stock. On June 24, 2002, three holders of Units converted 73,442 Units into 73,442 shares of common 
stock. We issued 671,836 shares of common stock related to employee stock options exercised during 2002. We used the net 
proceeds from the option exercises of approximately $15.7 million for general working capital purposes. Also, see Series A 
preferred stock conversions discussed below.

       We issued 9,000,000 shares of common stock in a public offering on July 1, 2002. We used the net proceeds of $322.2 
million to pay down a portion of the $600.0 million Rodamco acquisition credit facility. 
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 Preferred Stock

 The following table summarizes each of the authorized series of preferred stock of Simon Property:
              As of December 31,                                                                                                                                                        2002                       2001

            Series A 6.5% Convertible Preferred Stock, 209,249 shares authorized,
             0 and 49,839 issued and outstanding, respectively                                                              $        —         $  63,688

            Series B 6.5% Convertible Preferred Stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized,
             4,830,057 issued and outstanding                                                                                        449,196            449,196

            Series C 7.00% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, 2,700,000 shares
             authorized, none issued or outstanding                                                                                         —                     —

            Series D 8.00% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 2,700,000 shares
             authorized, none issued or outstanding                                                                                         —                     —

            Series E 8.00% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 1,000,000 shares
             authorized, 1,000,000 issued and outstanding                                                                       24,656              24,449

            Series F 8.75% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 8,000,000 shares
             authorized, 8,000,000 issued and outstanding                                                                     192,989            192,989

            Series G 7.89% Cumulative Step-Up Premium Rate Preferred Stock,
             3,000,000 shares authorized, 3,000,000 issued and outstanding                                          147,413            147,146
                                                                                                                                                         $814,254         $ 877,468

       Dividends on all series of preferred stock are calculated based upon the preferred stock’s preferred return multiplied by the 
preferred stock’s corresponding liquidation value.

  Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. During 2002, the remaining 49,839 shares of Simon Property Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock were converted into 1,893,651 shares of common stock. In addition, another 19,375 shares of common stock 
were issued to the holders of the converted shares in lieu of the cash dividends allocable to those preferred shares. 

  Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Each share of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference 
of $100 and is convertible into 2.586 shares of common stock, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. Simon 
Property may redeem the Series B Preferred Stock on or after September 24, 2003 at a price beginning at 105% of the 
liquidation preference plus accrued dividends and declining to 100% of the liquidation preference plus accrued dividends any 
time on or after September 24, 2008.

.
  Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock and Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock. On August 27, 

1999, Simon Property authorized these two new series of preferred stock to be available for issuance upon conversion by the 
holders or redemption by the Operating Partnership of the 7.00% Preferred Units or the 8.00% Preferred Units, described 
below. Each of these new series of preferred stock has terms that are substantially identical to the respective series of Preferred 
Units. 

  Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock. As part of the consideration for the purchase of ownership in Mall of 
America, Simon Property issued the Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock for $24,242. The Series E Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Stock is redeemable beginning August 27, 2004 at the liquidation value of $25 per share. These preferred 
shares are being accreted to their liquidation value.

  Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock and Series G Cumulative Step-Up Premium Rate Preferred Stock. The 
Boards of Directors of Simon Property and SPG Properties, Inc. (“Properties, Inc.”), on May 8, 2001 approved an agreement 
for the merger of Properties, Inc. into Simon Property in order to simplify our organizational structure. The merger was 
completed and became effective on July 1, 2001. In connection with the merger, Simon Property authorized two new series of 

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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preferred stock, which were exchanged on a share-for-share basis to holders of Properties, Inc. preferred stock with substantially 
identical terms to the previous series of Properties, Inc. stock. Properties, Inc. Series B preferred stock was converted into 
shares of Simon Property 8.75% Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock. Properties, Inc. Series C preferred stock was 
converted into shares of Simon Property 7.89% Series G Cumulative Step-Up Premium Rate Preferred Stock. 

  The 8.75% Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock may be redeemed at any time on or after September 29, 2006 
at a liquidation value of $25.00 per share (payable solely out of the sale proceeds of other capital stock of Simon Property, 
which may include other series of preferred shares), plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The 7.89% Series G Cumulative Step-
Up Premium Rate SM Preferred Stock are being accreted to their liquidation value and may be redeemed at any time on or after 
September 30, 2007 at a liquidation value of $50.00 per share (payable solely out of the sale proceeds of other capital stock of 
Simon Property, which may include other series of preferred shares), plus accrued and unpaid dividends. Beginning October 
1, 2012, the rate on this series of preferred stock increases to 9.89% per annum. We intend to redeem the Series G Preferred 
Shares prior to October 1, 2012. Neither of these series of preferred stock has a stated maturity or is convertible into any other 
securities of Simon Property. Neither series is subject to any mandatory redemption provisions, except as needed to maintain 
or bring the direct or indirect ownership of the capital stock of Simon Property into conformity with REIT requirements. The 
Operating Partnership pays a preferred distribution to Simon Property equal to the dividends paid on the preferred stock.       

       “Preferred dividends of subsidiary” in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive income prior to July 
1, 2001 represented distributions on preferred stock of SPG Properties, Inc., a former subsidiary of Simon Property that was 
merged into Simon Property on that date. 

  Limited Partners’ Preferred Interests in the Operating Partnership

  In connection with the acquisition of New England Development Company, the Operating Partnership issued two new 
series of preferred units during 1999 as a component of the consideration for the Properties acquired. The SPG Operating 
Partnership authorized 2,700,000, and issued 2,600,895 7.00% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units (the “7.00% Preferred 
Units”) having a liquidation value of $28.00 per Unit. The 7.00% Preferred Units accrue cumulative dividends at a rate of 
$1.96 annually, which is payable quarterly in arrears. The 7.00% Preferred Units are convertible at the holders’ option on or 
after August 27, 2004, into either a like number of shares of 7.00% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Simon Property 
with terms substantially identical to the 7.00% Preferred Units or Units of the Operating Partnership at a ratio of 0.75676 to 
one provided that the closing stock price of Simon Property’s common stock exceeds $37.00 for any three consecutive trading 
days prior to the conversion date. The Operating Partnership may redeem the 7.00% Preferred Units at their liquidation value 
plus accrued and unpaid distributions on or after August 27, 2009, payable in Units. In the event of the death of a holder of 
the 7.00% Preferred Units, or the occurrence of certain tax triggering events applicable to a holder, the Operating Partnership 
may be required to redeem the 7.00% Preferred Units at liquidation value payable at the option of the Operating Partnership 
in either cash (the payment of which may be made in four equal annual installments) or shares of common stock.

  The Operating Partnership also authorized 2,700,000, and issued 2,600,895 8.00% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units 
(the “8.00% Preferred Units”) having a liquidation value of $30.00. The 8.00% Preferred Units accrue cumulative dividends at a 
rate of $2.40 annually, which is payable quarterly in arrears. The 8.00% Preferred Units are each paired with one 7.00% Preferred 
Unit or with the Units into which the 7.00% Preferred Units may be converted. The Operating Partnership may redeem the 
8.00% Preferred Units at their liquidation value plus accrued and unpaid distributions on or after August 27, 2009, payable 
in either new preferred units of the Operating Partnership having the same terms as the 8.00% Preferred Units, except that the 
distribution coupon rate would be reset to a then determined market rate, or in Units. The 8.00% Preferred Units are convertible 
at the holders’ option on or after August 27, 2004, into 8.00% Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock of Simon Property with 
terms substantially identical to the 8.00% Preferred Units. In the event of the death of a holder of the 8.00% Preferred Units, or 
the occurrence of certain tax triggering events applicable to a holder, the Operating Partnership may be required to redeem the 
8.00% Preferred Units owned by such holder at their liquidation value payable at the option of the Operating Partnership in either 
cash (the payment of which may be made in four equal annual installments) or shares of common stock.



7 0   S I M O N  P RO P E RT Y  G RO U P,  I N C . 2 0 0 2  A N N U A L  R E P O RT   7 1  

  Notes Receivable from Former CPI Shareholders

  Notes receivable of $18,297 from former Corporate Property Investors, Inc. (“CPI”) shareholders, which result from 
securities issued under CPI’s executive compensation program and were assumed in our merger with CPI, are reflected as a 
deduction from capital in excess of par value in the statements of shareholders’ equity in the accompanying financial statements. 
Certain of such notes totaling $648 bear interest at rates ranging from 6.00% to 7.50%. The remainder of the notes do not 
bear interest and become due at the time the underlying shares are sold.

  The Simon Property Group 1998 Stock Incentive Plan

  We have a stock incentive plan (the “1998 Plan”), which provides for the grant of equity-based awards during a ten-year 
period, in the form of options to purchase shares (“Options”), stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock grants and 
performance unit awards (collectively, “Awards”). Options may be granted which are qualified as “incentive stock options” 
within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code and Options which are not so qualified. Through 2001, the Company 
had reserved for issuance 6,300,000 shares under the 1998 Plan. In 2002, an additional 5,000,000 shares were reserved for 
issuance, increasing the total to 11,300,000. Additionally, the partnership agreements require us to sell shares to the Operating 
Partnerships, at fair value, sufficient to satisfy the exercising of stock options, and for us to purchase Units for cash in an 
amount equal to the fair market value of such shares.

  Administration. The 1998 Plan is administered by Simon Property’s Compensation Committee (the “Committee”). The 
Committee, in its sole discretion, determines which eligible individuals may participate and the type, extent and terms of 
the Awards to be granted to them. In addition, the Committee interprets the 1998 Plan and makes all other determinations 
deemed advisable for the administration of the 1998 Plan. Options granted to employees (“Employee Options”) become 
exercisable over the period determined by the Committee. The exercise price of an Employee Option may not be less than the 
fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. Employee Options generally vest over a three-year period and expire ten years 
from the date of grant.

  Director Options. The 1998 Plan provides for automatic grants of Options to directors (“Director Options”) of Simon 
Property who are not also employees of the Operating Partnership or its affiliates (“Eligible Directors”). Under the 1998 Plan, 
each Eligible Director is automatically granted Director Options to purchase 5,000 shares upon the director’s initial election to 
the Board of Directors, and upon each reelection, an additional 3,000 Director Options multiplied by the number of calendar 
years that have elapsed since such person’s last election to the Board of Directors. The exercise price of the options is equal to 
the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. Director Options become vested and exercisable on the first anniversary 
of the date of grant or at such earlier time as a “change in control” of Simon Property (as defined in the 1998 Plan). Director 
Options terminate 30 days after the optionee ceases to be a member of the Board of Directors.

  Restricted Stock. The 1998 Plan also provides for shares of restricted common stock of Simon Property to be granted to 
certain employees at no cost to those employees, subject to growth targets established by the Compensation Committee (the 
“Restricted Stock Program”). Restricted stock is issued on the grant date and vests annually in four installments of 25% each 
beginning on January 1 following the year in which the restricted stock is awarded. The cost of restricted stock grants, which 
is based upon the stock’s fair market value on the grant date and is charged to shareholders’ equity and subsequently amortized 
against our earnings over the vesting period. Through December 31, 2002 a total of 2,676,736 shares of restricted stock, net of 
forfeitures, have been awarded under the plan. No shares of restricted stock were issued under the plan in 2002. Information 
regarding restricted stock awards are summarized in the following table for each of the years presented:

               For the Year Ended December 31,                                                                                                      2002                       2001                       2000

            Restricted stock shares awarded, net of forfeitures                                          (21,070)           454,726            417,994
           Weighted average grant price                                                                              $0.00              $25.85              $23.25
            Amortization expense                                                                                       $8,957            $11,512            $11,770

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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  Prior to our change in accounting for stock options as mentioned in Note 3, we accounted for stock-based compensation 
programs using the intrinsic value method. This method measures compensation expense as the excess, if any, of the quoted 
market price of the stock at the grant date over the amount the employee must pay to acquire the stock. Options granted to 
Directors in 2002 vest over a twelve-month period. No employee options were granted in 2002. The impact on pro forma net 
income and earnings per share as a result of applying the fair value method, as prescribed by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation, which requires entities to measure compensation costs measured at the grant date based on the 
fair value of the award, was not material.

  The fair value of the options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following assumptions:

               December 31,                                                                                                               2002                         2001                                  2000

 Weighted Average Fair Value per Option                                           $2.78                        $1.82                        $1.57
 Expected Volatility                                                                           18.7%        20.45 – 20.58%        20.00 – 20.01%
 Risk-Free Interest Rate                                                                     4.85%            4.85 – 5.33%            6.08 – 6.47%
 Dividend Yield                                                                                   6.9%            7.36 – 7.83%            8.68 – 7.76%
 Expected Life                                                                                   6 Years                     10 Years                    10 years

       The weighted average remaining contract life for options outstanding as of December 31, 2002 was 6.25 years.

       Information relating to Director Options and Employee Options from December 31, 1999 through December 31, 2002 
is as follows:

                                                                                                                                           Director Options                                   Employee Options
                                                                                                                                                         Option Price                                            Option Price
                                                                                                                                 Options             per Share (1)                   Options              per Share (1)

 Shares under option at December 31, 1999                      132,080                $25.49         1,857,666                $24.95
 Granted                                                                               24,000                  26.03            726,750                  23.41
 Exercised                                                                              (1,360)                 24.63            (43,350)                 23.44
 Forfeited                                                                                     —                    N/A            (28,000)                 23.41
 Shares under option at December 31, 2000                      154,720                $25.67         2,513,066                $24.55
 Granted                                                                               26,000                  26.09         1,085,836                  25.40
 Exercised                                                                            (11,000)                 24.93          (372,226)                 22.99
 Forfeited                                                                                     —                    N/A            (48,925)                 23.94
 Shares under option at December 31, 2001                      169,720                  25.86         3,177,751                $25.03
 Granted                                                                              24,000                 33.68                    —                      —
 Exercised                                                                              (6,360)                22.29         (665,476)                23.44
 Forfeited                                                                              (9,000)                27.05             (7,225)                24.25
 Shares under option at December 31, 2002                     178,360                 26.97       2,505,050               $25.46
 Exercise price range                                                                           $22.25-$33.68                           $22.25-$30.38
 
 Options exercisable at December 31, 2000                        130,720                $25.61         1,705,900                $24.77
 Options exercisable at December 31, 2001                        143,720                $25.81         1,753,218                $25.11
 Options exercisable at December 31, 2002                      154,360               $25.93       1,695,750               $25.67

        (1) Represents the weighted average price when multiple prices exist.

  We also maintain a tax-qualified retirement 401(k) savings plan and offer no other postretirement or post employment 
benefits to our employees.
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  Exchange Rights

  Limited partners in the Operating Partnership have the right to exchange all or any portion of their Units for shares of 
common stock on a one-for-one basis or cash, as selected by the Board of Directors. The amount of cash to be paid if the 
exchange right is exercised and the cash option is selected will be based on the trading price of Simon Property’s common stock 
at that time. At December 31, 2002, we had reserved 63,746,013 shares for possible issuance upon the exchange of Units.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

  Litigation

  Triple Five of Minnesota, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, v. Melvin Simon, et. al. On or about November 9, 1999, Triple Five 
of Minnesota, Inc. commenced an action in the District Court for the State of Minnesota, Fourth Judicial District, against, 
among others, Mall of America, certain members of the Simon family and entities allegedly controlled by such individuals, and 
us. The action was later removed to federal court. Two transactions form the basis of the complaint: (i) the sale by Teachers 
Insurance and Annuity Association of America of one-half of its partnership interest in Mall of America Company and 
Minntertainment Company to the Operating Partnership and related entities; and (ii) a financing transaction involving a loan 
in the amount of $312.0 million obtained from The Chase Manhattan Bank that is secured by a mortgage placed on Mall of 
America’s assets. The complaint, which contains twelve counts, seeks remedies of unspecified damages, rescission, constructive 
trust, accounting, and specific performance. Although the complaint names all defendants in several counts, we are specifically 
identified as a defendant in connection with the sale to Teachers. Although the Complaint seeks unspecified damages, Triple 
Five has submitted a report of a purported expert witness that attempts to quantify its damages at between approximately $80 
million and $160 million. On August 12, 2002, the court granted in part and denied in part motions for partial summary 
judgment filed by the parties. The parties are currently filing pretrial motions and no trial date has been set. Given that the case 
is still in the pre-trial stage, it is not possible to provide an assurance of the ultimate outcome of the litigation or an estimate of 
the amount or range of potential loss, if any. We believe that the Triple Five litigation will not have a material adverse effect on 
our financial position or results of operations.

  Carlo Agostinelli et al. v. DeBartolo Realty Corp. et al. On October 16, 1996, a complaint was filed by 27 former employees 
of DeBartolo Realty Corporation and DeBartolo Properties Management, Inc. in the Court of Common Pleas of Mahoning 
County, Ohio, captioned Carlo Agostinelli et al. v. DeBartolo Realty Corp. et al., Case No. 96CV02607 for an alleged breach 
of contract related to DRC’s Stock Incentive Plan. Our liability with respect to this the litigation was discharged in exchange for 
our payment of $14 million less applicable withholding for taxes. The final settlement resulted in an additional $3.1 million of expense 
and has been included in other expense in the accompanying combined statement of operations and comprehensive income. 

  We are currently not subject to any other material litigation other than routine litigation, claims and administrative 
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We believe that such routine litigation, claims and administrative 
proceedings will not have a material adverse impact on our financial position or our results of operations.

     
      Lease Commitments

       As of December 31, 2002, a total of 34 of the consolidated Properties are subject to ground leases. The termination dates 
of these ground leases range from 2003 to 2090. These ground leases generally require us to make payments of a fixed annual 
rent, or a fixed annual rent plus a participating percentage over a base rate based upon the revenues or total sales of the property. 
Some of these leases also include escalation clauses and renewal options. We incurred ground lease expense included in other 
expense as follows:

                                          For the year ended December 31,                                    2002 2001                            2000

                                                                                                     $13,976 $13,786                $13,654

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts and where indicated as in millions or billions
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  Future minimum lease payments due under such ground leases for each of the next five years ending December 31 and 
thereafter are as follows:

                                                          2003                                                                                          $    8,023
                                                          2004                                                                                                 7,560
                                                          2005                                                                                                 7,596
                                                          2006                                                                                                 7,707
                                                          2007                                                                                                 7,761
                                                         Thereafter                                                                                     505,994
                                                                                                                                                            $ 544,641
   Insurance 
   Rosewood Indemnity, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Management Company, has agreed to indemnify our general 

liability carrier for a specific layer of losses. The carrier has, in turn, agreed to provide evidence of coverage for this layer of losses 
under the terms and conditions of the carrier’s policy. A similar policy written through Rosewood Indemnity, Ltd. also provides 
initial coverage for property insurance and certain windstorm risks at the Properties located in Florida. 

   The events of September 11, 2001 affected our insurance programs. We have purchased two separate terrorism insurance 
programs, one for Mall of America and a second covering all other Properties. Each program covers both domestic and foreign 
acts of terrorism and has a separate $300 million policy aggregate limit in total. The policies also provide for a guaranteed 
aggregate reinstatement provision in case of a second loss from a covered terrorist act. These programs are in place through the 
remainder of 2003. We believe we are in compliance with all insurance provisions of our debt agreements regarding insurance 
coverage.

 
   Guarantees of Indebtedness

   Joint venture debt is the liability of the joint venture, is typically secured by the joint venture Property, and is non-recourse 
to us. As of December 31, 2002, we have guaranteed or have provided letters of credit to support $60.1 million of our total 
$2.3 billion share of joint venture mortgage and other indebtedness. In January 2003, we were released from obligation under 
one of the guarantees for $15.7 million.

   Environmental Matters

   Nearly all of the Properties have been subjected to Phase I or similar environmental audits. Such audits have not revealed 
nor is management aware of any environmental liability that we believe would have a material adverse impact on our financial 
position or results of operations. We are unaware of any instances in which we would incur significant environmental costs if 
we disposed of or abandoned any or all Properties.

   Energy Management Services

   On September 30, 1999, the Operating Partnership entered into multi-year agreements with affiliates of Enron Corporation, 
for Enron Corporation to supply or manage all of the energy commodity requirements for the wholly-owned Properties and 
to provide certain services in connection with our tenant electricity redistribution program. Subsequently, many of our joint 
venture Properties entered into similar agreements. The agreements included electricity, natural gas and maintenance of energy 
conversion assets and electrical systems including lighting. As a result of Enron Corporation’s December 2001 bankruptcy 
filing and ensuing failure to perform under the agreements, we assumed control over the management of our energy assets 
throughout the Portfolio. This includes the purchase and payment of utilities, tenant billings for utilities and maintenance and 
repair of energy assets. There has been no service interruption to our Properties or tenants. We recover the majority of these 
costs and expenses from our tenants. On August 29, 2002, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of 
New York entered an order approving the terms of a negotiated settlement of all claims existing between our wholly owned and 
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joint venture Properties, and Enron Corporation. As a result, all parties have been legally relieved of performance under the 
agreements. In addition, as part of this settlement, we received cash of $6.8 million as collections on receivables, $3.5 million as 
a cash settlement payment, and we reimbursed Enron Corporation $6.5 million for energy efficient capital equipment installed 
at our Properties. Finally, after reaching the negotiated settlement for both our and Enron Corporation’s pre and post petition 
claims, and recognizing the unamortized portion of deferred revenue from a rate restructure agreement in 2001, we recorded 
$8.6 million of revenue, net, that is included in other income in the accompanying statement of operations and comprehensive 
income.

  Taubman Centers, Inc Tender Offer

  On December 5, 2002, Simon Property Acquisitions, Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary, commenced a tender offer to 
acquire all of the outstanding shares of Taubman Centers, Inc. at a price of $18.00 per share in cash. On January 15, 2003, 
Westfield America, Inc., the U.S. subsidiary of Westfield America Trust, joined our tender offer and we jointly increased the 
tender offer to $20.00 per share net to the seller in cash. As of February 14, 2003, a total of 44,135,107 of the 52,207,756 
common shares outstanding of Taubman Centers, Inc., were tendered into our offer. The expiration date of the tender offer 
has been extended to March 28, 2003. We have deferred approximately $4.0 million, net, in acquisition costs related to this 
acquisition. If we are unsuccessful in our efforts, then these costs will be expensed.

12. Related Party Transactions

  On April 1, 2001, the Operating Partnership became the managing general partner of SPG Administrative Services 
Partnership L.P. (“ASP”). In addition, the Operating Partnership acquired an additional 24% partnership interest in ASP from 
the Management Company. Prior to acquiring the additional interest, ASP was recapitalized with $29.1 million from the 
Management Company, which was funded by the Operating Partnership through the note receivable from the Management 
Company, and $0.2 million from the Operating Partnership which was funded through a reduction of ASP’s note payable with 
the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership controls ASP as a result of the transactions and ASP is consolidated in 
our results since April 1, 2001. ASP was previously consolidated as part of the Management Company. The change in control 
and consolidation of ASP will not have a material impact on our results of operations and the other aspects of the transaction 
were not material. ASP employs the majority of our employees and was organized to provide services for the Management 
Company and its affiliates as well as multiple entities controlled by the Operating Partnership.

  On December 28, 2000, Montgomery Ward LLC and certain of its related entities (“Ward”) filed a voluntary petition for 
relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. On March 1, 2001, Kimco Realty Corporation led the formation of a limited 
liability company, Kimsward LLC (“Kimsward”). Kimsward acquired the right from the Bankruptcy Court to designate 
persons or entities to whom the Ward real estate assets were to be sold. The Management Company’s interest in Kimsward was 
18.5%. During 2001 the Management Company recorded $18.3 million of equity in income from Kimsward. In addition, 
the Operating Partnership charged the Management Company a $5.7 million fee for services rendered to the Management 
Company in connection with the Kimsward transactions, which is included in other income in the accompanying combined 
statements of operations. The Management Company recorded $1.4 million of equity in income, before tax for the year ended 
December 31, 2002. The remaining investment in Kimsward at December 31, 2002 is not material

13. New Accounting Pronouncements

       In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS 
No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” Among other items, SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting of Gains and Losses 
from Extinguishment of Debt” and “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements.” As a result, gains 
and losses from extinguishment of debt should be classified as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of APB Opinion 

N o t e s  t o  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
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No. 30. Debt extinguishments as part of a company’s risk management strategy would not meet the criteria for classification as 
extraordinary items. The effects of this pronouncement will result in future gains and losses related to debt transactions to be 
classified in income from continuing operations. In addition, we are required to reclassify all of the extraordinary items related 
to debt transactions recorded in prior periods, including those recorded in the current period, to income from continuing 
operations. SFAS No. 145 is effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002 and early application is encouraged.

 

14. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

       Summarized quarterly 2002 and 2001 data is as follows:

                                                                                                                     First                           Second                          Third                         Fourth
       2002                                                                                                   Quarter                        Quarter                        Quarter                       Quarter

     Total revenue                                                           $    494,947         $     517,480         $     550,746        $    622,629
      Operating income                                                           201,441                221,445                229,776              286,076
      Income before extraordinary items and
       cumulative effect of accounting change                           60,425                240,221(1)               98,757              147,945
      Net income available to common shareholders                  30,006                173,170                  58,903                96,308
      Income before extraordinary items and
       cumulative effect of accounting change
       per share – Basic                                                    $          0.17         $           0.92         $           0.33        $          0.52
      Net income per share – Basic                                   $          0.17         $           0.99         $           0.32        $          0.52
      Income before extraordinary items and
       cumulative effect of accounting change
       per share – Diluted                                                $          0.17         $           0.91         $           0.33        $          0.52
      Net income per share – Diluted                               $          0.17         $           0.97         $           0.32        $          0.52
     Weighted average shares outstanding                        173,946,083         174,434,562         185,532,407(2)     185,539,192
      Diluted weighted average shares outstanding           174,528,801         189,457,086         186,261,860        186,193,567
                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                     First                            Second                           Third                          Fourth
       2001                                                                                                   Quarter                         Quarter                        Quarter                       Quarter

     Total revenue                                                           $     490,676         $     488,270         $     500,647       $    569,242
      Operating income                                                           209,373                209,180                214,459              200,406(3)

      Income before extraordinary items and
       cumulative effect of accounting change                           63,775                  69,970                  69,585                78,967
      Net income available to common shareholders                  30,939                  36,746                  36,251                43,853
      Income before extraordinary items and
       cumulative effect of accounting change
       per share – Basic and Diluted                                 $           0.19         $           0.21         $           0.21       $          0.25
      Net income per share – Basic and Diluted               $           0.18         $           0.21         $           0.21       $          0.25
     Weighted average shares outstanding                        172,000,973         172,485,020          172,746,242        173,426,964
      Diluted weighted average shares outstanding           172,177,927         172,804,636         173,031,400       173,707,033
                                                                                                                                          
       (1) – Includes net gains on sales of assets of $170.3 million.

       (2) – Includes the issuance of 9,000,000 shares of stock on July 1, 2002.

       (3) – The fourth quarter of 2001 includes an impairment charge of $47.0 million.



7 6   S I M O N  P RO P E RT Y  G RO U P,  I N C . 2 0 0 2  A N N U A L  R E P O RT   7 7  

G l o s s a r y  o f  T e r m s

Capitalization Rate

The capitalization rate (“cap rate”) is 
the rate at which net operating income 
is discounted to determine the value 
of a property. It is one method that 
is utilized to estimate property value. 
Generally, higher cap rates indicate 
higher expected returns and higher 
perceived risk.

Common Equity Market 

Capitalization

The market value of a company’s 
common stock. Obtained by multiplying 
the number of common shares outstand-
ing by the market value of the shares.

Dividend Yield

The annual current dividend rate for 
a security expressed as a percent of its 
market price.

EBITDA

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, 
Depreciation and Amortization.

Equity REIT

A REIT that primarily owns, or has an 
equity interest in, income-producing 
commercial real estate.

Funds From Operations (FFO)

FFO is the most commonly accepted 
and reported measure of a REIT’s 
operating performance. It is equal to a 
REIT’s net income, excluding gains or 
losses from sales of property, or debt re-
structuring, and adding back real estate 
depreciation.

Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (GAAP)

Rules for reporting financial transactions 
and performance and overseen by the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB).

Gross Leasable Area (GLA)

Measure of the total amount of leasable 
space in a commercial property.

Implied Equity Market 

Capitalization

The market value of a company’s 
common stock plus the common 
Operating Partnership units of the 
UPREIT in which the Company is the 
general partner. Obtained by multiply-
ing the number of common shares of 
the Company plus common Operat-
ing Partnership units of the UPREIT 
outstanding by the market value of the 
common shares.

Operating Partnership Unit

(OP Unit)

Equity interests in an UPREIT.

Payout Ratio

The ratio of a REIT’s current annual 
dividend rate per share divided by its 
annual FFO per share.

Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT)

A REIT is a corporation or business 
trust that combines the capital of many 
investors to acquire or provide financing 
for all forms of income-producing real 
estate. A REIT generally is not required 
to pay corporate income tax if it dis-
tributes at least  percent of its taxable 
income to shareholders each year.

Straight-lining

Real estate companies “straight-line” 
rents because generally accepted ac-
counting principles require it. Straight 
lining averages the tenant’s rent pay-
ments over the life of the lease.

Taxable REIT Subsidiary (TRS)

Created by the REIT Modernization 
Act of . A TRS is a subsidiary of 
a REIT that may provide services to 
the REIT’s tenants and others and is 
required to pay Federal income tax 
without disqualifying the Company’s 
REIT status.

Total Market Capitalization

The total value of a company’s capital, 
including the market value of equity 
and all debt.

Total Return

In reference to investment performance, 
a stock’s dividend income plus stock 
price appreciation over a specified period 
as a percent of the stock price at the 
beginning of the period, before taxes and 
commissions.

Umbrella Partnership REIT 

(UPREIT)

In the typical UPREIT, the partners 
of one of more existing partnerships 
and a newly formed REIT become 
partners in a new partnership termed 
the Operating Partnership. For their 
respective interests in the Operating 
Partnership (“OP Units”), the partners 
contribute the properties from existing 
partnerships and the REIT contributes 
the cash proceeds from its public offer-
ing. The REIT typically is the general 
partner and the majority owner of the 
Operating Partnership.

Partners may enjoy the same liquidity 
of the REIT shareholders by tendering 
their OP Units, typically convertible 
on a one-for-one basis into shares of 
common stock of the REIT for either 
cash or REIT common shares (at the 
option of the REIT). This conversion 
may result in the partners incurring the 
tax liability deferred at the UPREIT’s 
formation. The partners may tender 
their OP Units over a period of time, 
thereby spreading out such tax. In ad-
dition, when a partner holds the OP 
Units until death, the estate tax rules 
operate in such a way as to provide that 
the beneficiaries may tender the OP 
Units for cash or REIT shares without 
paying income taxes.
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Other Members of Senior 

Management

Stewart A. Stockdale
Chief Marketing Officer; 
President – Simon Brand Ventures

Carl Dieterle
Executive Vice President – 
Development

Thomas J. Schneider

Executive Vice President – 
Development

Arthur W. Spellmeyer
Executive Vice President – 
Development

Randolph L. Foxworthy
Executive Vice President – 
Corporate Development

Michael E. McCarty
President – Community Shopping 
Center Division

Michael P. McCarty
Senior Vice President – Research and 
Corporate Communications

David Schacht
Chief Information Officer

C o r p o r a t e  O f f i c e r s

Executive Officers

Melvin Simon
Co-Chairman

Herbert Simon
Co-Chairman

David Simon
Director and Chief Executive Officer

Richard S. Sokolov

Director, President and 
Chief Operating Officer

Hans C. Mautner
Director and Chairman of Simon 
Global Limited

Stephen E. Sterrett
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

John Rulli
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Administrative Officer

Gary Lewis
Executive Vice President – Leasing

J. Scott Mumphrey
Executive Vice President – 
Property Management; President –
Simon Business Network

James M. Barkley
General Counsel

Andy Juster
Senior Vice President and Treasurer

John Dahl
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Accounting Officer
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David Simon. Chief Executive Officer of Simon Property Group, Inc. since 1995. Mr. Simon is also a 
Director of First Health Corporation. Mr. Simon was a President of the Company from 1993 to 1995; 
Executive Vice President of Melvin Simon & Associates, Inc. from 1990 to 1993; and Vice President of 
Wasserstein Perella & Company from 1988 to 1990. Director since 1993. Age 41

Hans C. Mautner. Vice Chairman of Simon Property Group and Chairman and Director of Simon Global Lim-
ited. Mr. Mautner is also a director of ERE, a Luxembourg based entity of which Groupe BEG (SPG acquired an 
interest in this European development company in 1998) is a wholly-owned subsidiary. Mr. Mautner was Chair-
man of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Corporate Property Investors, Inc. (“CPI”) from 
1989 to 1998, having joined that company in 1972. Director since 1998. Age 65

M. Denise DeBartolo York. Chairman of The DeBartolo Corporation, owner of the San Francisco 49ers. 
Ms. York was Chairman of The Edward J. DeBartolo Corporation (renamed The DeBartolo Corporation 
February 2001) from 1994 to 2001, also serving in other executive capacities. Director since 1996. Age 52

Birch Bayh. Partner in the Washington, D.C. law firm of Venable, Baetjer, Howard & Civiletti, LLP since 
2001. Mr. Bayh was a partner of Oppenheimer Wolff & Donnelly LLP from 1998 to 2001; and served as 
a United States Senator from Indiana from 1963 to 1981. Director since 1993. Age 75

Melvyn E. Bergstein. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of DiamondCluster International, Inc. since 
2000. Mr. Bergstein co-founded Diamond Technology Partners (predecessor of DiamondCluster). Prior 
to founding Diamond, Mr. Bergstein served in several capacities throughout a 21-year career with Arthur 
Andersen LLP’s consulting division. Director since 2001. Age 61

G. William Miller. Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of G. William Miller & Co., Inc., 
since 1983. Mr. Miller is also a Director of Repligen Corporation, a bio-technology research and produc-
tion company. Mr. Miller was Chairman and CEO of Federated Stores, Inc. from 1990 to 1992 and served 
as Secretary of the U.S. Treasury from 1979 to 1981 and Chairman of the Federal Reserve Board from 1978 
to 1979. Director since 1996. Age 78

Fredrick W. Petri. Partner of Petrone, Petri & Company since 1993 and an officer of Housing Capital 
Company since its formation in 1994. Mr. Petri was an Executive Vice President of Wells Fargo Bank, 
where for over 18 years he held various real estate positions. Director since 1996. Age 56

b o a r d  o f  d i r e c t o r s
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Melvin Simon. Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Simon Property Group, Inc. since 1995. Mr. 
Simon was Chairman of the Board from 1993 to 1995. Co-Chairman of the Board of Melvin Simon & 
Associates, Inc., a company Mr. Simon founded in 1960 with his brother, Herbert Simon. Director since 
1993. Age 76

Richard S. Sokolov. President and Chief Operating Officer of Simon Property Group since 1996.
Mr. Sokolov was President and Chief Executive Officer of DeBartolo Realty Corporation from 1994 to 
1996. Prior to that, Mr. Sokolov served as Senior Vice President, Development of The Edward J. DeBartolo 
Corporation since 1986 and as Vice President and General Counsel since 1982. Director since 1996. Age 53

Herbert Simon. Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Simon Property Group, Inc. since 1995. Mr. 
Simon was Chief Executive Officer from 1993 to 1995. Co-Chairman of the Board of Melvin Simon & 
Associates, Inc., a company Mr. Simon founded in 1960 with his brother, Melvin Simon. Director since 
1993. Age 68

J. Albert Smith, Jr.. President of Bank One Central Indiana since 2001. Mr. Smith was Managing Director 
of Bank One Corporation from 1998 to 2001; President of Bank One, Indiana, NA from 1994 to 1998; 
and President of Banc One Mortgage Corporation from 1974 to 1994. Director since 1993. Age 62

Pieter S. van den Berg. Adviser to the Board of Managing Directors of PGGM, the pension fund of 
the healthcare and social work sector in The Netherlands, since 1999. Mr. van den Berg was Director of 
Controlling of PGGM from 1991 to 1999. Director since 1998. Age 57

Philip J. Ward. Consultant to Chief Investment Officer of CIGNA Investment Management since 2003. 
Mr. Ward was Senior Managing Director, Head of Real Estate Investments, CIGNA Investments, Inc. from 
1996 to 2003. Director since 1996. Age 54

committee

assignments

Audit Committee: J. Albert Smith, Jr., Chairman, G. William Miller, Fredrick W. Petri, Pieter S. van den Berg

Compensation Committee: Philip J. Ward, Chairman, Birch Bayh, Melvyn E. Bergstein, Fredrick W. Petri 

Executive Committee: Melvin Simon, Chairman, Herbert Simon, David Simon, Richard S. Sokolov, Hans C. Mautner

Governance Committee: G. William Miller, Chairman, Birch Bayh, Melvyn E. Bergstein

Nominating Committee: Birch Bayh, Chairman, G. William Miller, Melvin Simon, Herbert Simon, Marie Denise DeBartolo York 
The members of the Nominating Committee who are independent directors have the right to nominate persons to be elected as 
independent directors of the Board.

2 0 0 2  A N N U A L  R E P O RT   7 9
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Transfer Agent and Registrar

Our transfer agent can assist you with a 

variety of shareholder services including:

● Change of address

● Transfer of stock to another person

● Replacement of lost, stolen or 

destroyed certificate

● Questions about dividend checks

● Simon Property Group’s Dividend 

Reinvestment Plan

I n v e s t o r  I n f o r m a t i o n

Mellon Investor Services LLC

P.O. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ 07606

or 85 Challenger Road

Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660

(888) 213-0965

www.melloninvestor.com

TDD for Hearing Impaired:                  

(800) 231-5469

Foreign Shareholders:                             

(201) 329-8660

TDD for Foreign Shareholders:             

(201) 329-8354

Corporate Headquarters

Simon Property Group, Inc.

115 W. Washington Street

Indianapolis, IN 46204

(317) 636-1600

Website

Information such as financial results, 

corporate announcements, dividend 

news and other information is available 

on Simon’s website: www.simon.com 

(Corporate Info tab)

Dividend reinvestment plan

Simon Property Group offers an 

automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

for common shareholders. Any brokers’ 

commissions or service charges for stock 

purchases under the Plan are paid by 

Simon Property Group. Shareholders 

of record can enroll in this Plan by 

contacting our transfer agent, Mellon 

Investor Services.

Shareholder Inquiries

Shelly J. Doran 

Vice President of Investor Relations

Simon Property Group, Inc.

P.O. Box 7033

Indianapolis, IN 46207

(317) 685-7330

(800) 461-3439

sdoran@simon.com

Counsel 

Willkie Farr & Gallagher, New York, NY

Baker & Daniels, Indianapolis, IN

Independent accountants 

Ernst & Young LLP, Indianapolis, IN 

Annual Report on Form 10-K

A copy of the Simon Property Group, 

Inc. annual report on Form 10-K to the 

United States Securities and Exchange 

Commission can be obtained free of 

charge by:

● Contacting the Company’s Investor 

Relations Department via written 

request or telephone, or

● Accessing the Financial Reports page 

of the Company’s Investor Relations 

website at www.simon.com

 (Corporate Info tab, Investor 

Relations section)

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders 

of Simon Property Group, Inc. will 

be held on Wednesday, May 7, 2003 

at the National City Center, 115 W. 

Washington St., Indianapolis, IN at

10:00 a.m., local time. 

http://www.melloninvestor.com
http://about.simon.com/corpinfo/index.html
mailto:sdoran@simon.com
http://www.corporate-ir.net/ireye/ir_site.zhtml?ticker=SPG&script=700
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Company Securities 

Simon Property Group, Inc. common stock and three issues of preferred stock are 

traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the following symbols: 

Common Stock                                                                                          SPG

6.5% Series B Convertible Preferred                                                           SPGPrB

8.75% Series F Cumulative Preferred                                                          SPGPrF

7.89% Series G Cumulative Preferred                                                         SPGPrG

The quarterly price range on the NYSE for the common stock and the distributions 

declared per share for each quarter in the last two fiscal years are shown below:

                                                                                                                                                  Declared
                                                               High                     Low                     Close              Distribution

First Quarter 2002 $ 33.07         $ 28.80         $ 32.63         $ 0.525

Second Quarter 2002  36.95             32.52             36.84          0.550

Third Quarter 2002  36.84             29.40             35.73          0.550

Fourth Quarter 2002  35.81             31.00             34.07          0.550

First Quarter 2001 $ 26.48          $  23.75         $  25.60         $ 0.505

Second Quarter 2001  29.97              25.09              29.97          0.525

Third Quarter 2001  30.97              25.08              26.91          0.525

Fourth Quarter 2001  29.97              26.40              29.33          0.525

Member of National 
Association of Real 
Estate Investment Trusts

Member of 
International Council 
of Shopping Centers

http://www.annualreportsinc.com


s i m o n
115 West Washington Street
indianapolis, indiana 46204

317-636-1600
www.simon.com
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